NLRP3 inflammasome activation by photooxidative damage provides a novel link between hallmark pathogenic features of age-dependent macular degeneration

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.) der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Faktultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

> vorgelegt von Carolina Brandstetter aus Siegburg

> > Bonn, 2016

Angefertigt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

- 1. Gutachter: PD Dr. med. Tim Ulrich Krohne
- 2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Sven Burgdorf

Tag der Promotion: 24.11.2016 Erscheinungsjahr: 2016

Contents

Contents

I.	Summary	1
II.	List of Publications	4
III.	General Introduction	7
3	.1 Age-related macular degeneration	8
3	.2 Retinal pigment epithelium cells as primary disease target in AMD	10
3	.3 Oxidative stress in AMD	11
	3.3.1 Lipid peroxidation	12
	3.3.2 Lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative stress	13
	3.3.3 Lysosomal membrane permeabilization	15
3	.4. Complement system in AMD	16
3	.5. The Inflammasome	18
	3.5.1 Inflammasomes activate caspase-1 resulting in IL-1 β and IL-18 processing	19
	3.5.2 Inflammasome activation	20
	3.5.3 Pyroptosis versus Apoptosis	22
3	.5 Aims of the study	25
IV.	Light induces NLRP3 inflammasome activation in retinal pigment epithelial c via lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage	ells 26
4	.1 Abstract	27
4	.2 Introduction	27
4	.3 Material and methods	28
	4.3.1 Cell culture and treatments	28
	4.3.2 Induction of lipotuscin accumulation	29
	4.3.3 Blue light irradiation	29
	4.3.4 Cell death detection assays	30
	4.3.5 Analysis of lysosomal membrane permeabilization	30
	4.3.6 Analysis of inflammasome activation	30
	4.3.7 NLRP3 siRNA knockdown	
	4.3.8 Statistical analysis	31
4		31
	.4 Results	31 31 31
	.4 Results 4.4.1 Blue light irradiation of lipofuscin-loaded RPE cells induces photooxidative damage	31 31 31

	4.4.3 Lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage results in lysosomal membrane permeabilization with cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes	33
	4.4.4 Lysosomal membrane permeabilization by lipofuscin phototoxicity induces inflammasome activation with activation of caspase-1 and secretion of IL-1 β and IL-	-18
		35
	4.4.5 Inflammasome activation by lipofuscin phototoxicity is dependent on prior prin activity of caspase-1, cathepsin B and cathepsin L, and expression of NLRP3	ning, 36
4	1.5 Discussion	37
V.	Effects of Inflammasome Activation on Secretion of Inflammatory Cytokines a Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor by Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells	and 43
Ę	5.1 Abstract	44
Ę	5.2 Introduction	44
Ę	5.3 Material and Methods	46
	5.3.1 Cell Culture	46
	5.3.2 Inflammasome Activation by L-leucyl-L-leucine methyl ester	46
	5.3.3 Cytokine ELISA Analysis	47
	5.3.4 Cytokine Dot Blot Analysis	47
	5.3.5 Analysis of Polarization of Cytokine Secretion	47
	5.3.6 Microglia Chemotaxis Assay	48
	5.3.7 Vascular Endothelial Cell Proliferation and Migration	48
	5.3.8 Paracrine Cytokine Effects on VEGF Secretion	49
	5.3.9 Statistical Analysis	49
Ę	5.4 Results	49
	5.4.1 Leu-Leu-OMe Induces LMP and Inflammasome	49
	5.4.2 Profile of Secreted Cytokines	50
	5.4.3 Polarization of Cytokine Secretion by RPE Cells and Chemotactic Effects on Microglia Cells	51
	5.4.4 Effects of Inflammasome Activation on VEGF Secretion by RPE Cells and	
	Secondary Effects on Vascular Endothelial Cells	53
Ę	5.5 Discussion	55
VI.	Complement component C5a primes retinal pigment epithelial cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage	60
6	6.1 Abstract	61
6	5.2 Introduction	61
6	3.3 Experimental Procedures	63
	6.3.1 Cell culture and treatments.	63
	6.3.2 Immunocytochemistry and western blot analysis	63

6.3.3 RI-PCR and quantitative real-time PCR	64
6.3.4 Inflammasome priming	64
6.3.5 Inflammasome activation	64
6.3.6 Priming by conditioned media.	65
6.3.7 Statistical Analysis	65
6.4 Results	66
6.4.1 Anaphylatoxin receptors C3aR, C5aR, and C5L2 are constitutively exprese human RPE cells.	ssed by 66
6.4.2 C5aR, but not C3aR, is upregulated following incubation with activated complement.	66
6.4.3 NHS primes RPE cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediate photooxidative damage	d 68
6.4.4 Complement component C5a is the active priming agent in NHS	69
6.4.5 Inflammasome priming in RPE cells is enhanced by a paracrine amplifica	tion loop. 71
6.5 Discussion	73
lipofuscin phototoxicity by changing the cell death mechanism from apor pyroptosis	otosis to
7.1 Abstract	
7.3.1 Cell culture	
7.3.2 Induction of photooxidative damage	
7.3.3 L-Leucyl-leucine-methyl Ester (Leu-Leu-Ome) Treatment	08
7.3.4 Initial initiasoffice printing	
7.3.6 Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase mediated dl ITP nick end labeling	211
	80 (TEINEE)
	80 (TUNEL) 80
7.3.7 Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide (PI) labeling	80 (TUNEL) 80 81
 7.3.7 Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide (PI) labeling 7.3.8 ELISA detection of IL-1β 	80 (TUNEL) 80 81
 7.3.7 Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide (PI) labeling 7.3.8 ELISA detection of IL-1β 7.3.9 Priming with conditioned media	80 (TUNEL) 80 81 81 81
 7.3.7 Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide (PI) labeling 7.3.8 ELISA detection of IL-1β 7.3.9 Priming with conditioned media	80 (TUNEL) 80 81 81 81 81
 7.3.7 Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide (PI) labeling 7.3.8 ELISA detection of IL-1β 7.3.9 Priming with conditioned media 7.3.10 Inflammasome inhibition	(TUNEL) (TUNEL) 80 81 81 81 81
 7.3.7 Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide (PI) labeling 7.3.8 ELISA detection of IL-1β 7.3.9 Priming with conditioned media	(TUNEL) (TUNEL) 80 81 81 81 81 81 81
 7.3.7 Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide (PI) labeling 7.3.8 ELISA detection of IL-1β 7.3.9 Priming with conditioned media	(TUNEL) (TUNEL) 80 81 81 81 81 81 82 82

7.4.3 Interleukin-1 β release secondary to LMP is closely associated with pyrop lysis	totic cell 85
7.4.4 Priming by conditioned media of inflammasome-activated RPE cells increded the death by lipofuscin phototoxicity	ases cell 86
7.4.5 Inhibition of Inflammasome activation reduces cell death by lipofuscin pho	ototoxicity 87
7.5 Discussion	
VIII. General Discussion	91
8.1 Cell culture model of lipofuscin induced photooxidative stress to study LMP	92
8.2 Inflammasome activation by blue light induced photooxidative damage	93
8.3 Inflammasome priming by activated complement component C5a	94
8.4 Consequences of NLRP3 inflammasome activation	95
8.5 Therapeutic prospects	97
8.6 Future prospects	
8.7 Conclusion	101

IX. Appendix	
References	
List of Figures and Table	
List of Abbreviations	
Curriculum Vitae	
Danksagung	

I. Summary

Summary

In the developed world, age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is the most common cause for severe visual loss and legal blindness in the elderly. In this progressive disease, degeneration of the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) results in the death of photoreceptors and secondary loss of central vision. Two late manifestations of AMD can be distinguished, neovascular AMD and atrophic AMD. Neovascular AMD is characterized by rapid visual loss secondary to VEGF-mediated ingrowth of choroidal neovascularizations (CNV). In contrast, atrophic AMD causes slowly progressive central visual decline by RPE cell degeneration known as geographic atrophy. Anti-VEGF treatment has proven highly effective in neovascular AMD and is now widely used clinically. In contrast, there is still no treatment available for atrophic AMD. Several lines of evidence indicate that oxidative and lipofuscinmediated photooxidative damage play an important role in AMD pathology. Further characteristics of the disease include the formation of extracellular deposits called drusen, and chronic low-grade immune processes including complement activation in the sub-RPE space. Inflammation is recognized as a major driving force in atrophic AMD. However, the mechanisms triggering and maintaining the retinal inflammation remain incompletely understood. Recent studies have shown that the NLRP3 inflammasome, a key mediator of the innate immune system, is activated in the RPE of patients with atrophic and neovascular AMD. The NLRP3 inflammasome is a multiprotein complex, which induces caspase-1 activation resulting in secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokines Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and Interleukin-18 (IL-18). An initial priming signal in combination with a subsequent activation signal, such as reactive oxygen species or lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP), leads to assembly of the NLRP3 inflammasome. Studies demonstrated that phototoxic damage mediated by intralysosomal accumulation of photoreactive lipofuscin leads to LMP in RPE cells. The present thesis investigated whether lipofuscin-mediated phototoxicity activates the NLRP3 inflammasome in RPE cells in vitro and aimed to identify a novel mechanism of inflammasome activation by light damage that may provide new treatment targets for blinding diseases such as AMD. For this purpose, lipofuscin-loaded primary human RPE cells and human RPE cell line ARPE-19 cells were irradiated with blue light (dominant wavelength 448 nm, irradiance 0.8 mW/cm², duration 6 h) to induce photooxidative stress. The obtained results, presented in chapter IV demonstrate that accumulation of lipofuscin rendered RPE cells in vitro susceptible to phototoxic destabilization of lysosomes and cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes. This resulted in NLRP3 inflammasome activation as evidenced by caspase-1 activation, processing and release of IL-1β and IL-18. Investigating the secretion profile of inflammatory cytokines after

Summary

inflammasome activation revealed predominantly apical secretion of inflammatory cytokines, that corresponds to the neuoretinal side in vivo. In addition, secreted cytokines exerted a chemotactic effects on microglia cells as well as reduced constitutive secretion of VEGF (chapter V). In contrast to inflammasome activation, the mechanism of inflammasome priming in AMD has been little investigated so far. A recent study in patients with early or intermediate AMD demonstrated the complement factor H risk genotype to be associated with significantly increased plasma levels of the inflammasome-regulated cytokine IL-18, suggesting a role for activated complement components in inflammasome activation in AMD. Inflammasome priming by complement activation products has also been proposed in the context of other diseases such as atherosclerosis and gout. The thesis further reveales the capacity of activated complement components to prime human RPE cells for inflammasome activation. Obtained results, presented in chapter VI demonstrate that incubation of ARPE-19 cells with complement-competent normal human serum (NHS) induced expression of pro-IL-1β and enabled secretion of IL-1β in response to lipofuscin phototoxicity, indicating inflammasome priming by NHS. For further delineation of the relevant priming competent component in NHS, complement factors were heat inactivated or blocked by complement inhibitors which enabled the identification of complement activation product C5a as the priming signal for RPE cells. Likewise, conditioned media of inflammasome-activated RPE cells provided a priming effect that was mediated by the IL-1 receptor, thus suggesting a paracrine amplification loop of inflammasome activation. Further investigation demonstrated that cell priming by IL-1 α or C5a increased susceptibility of RPE cells to oxidative/photooxidative damage-mediated cell death (chapter VII). Morphological observations and investigation of the underlying cell death mechanism revealed a change in cell death mode from apoptosis to pyroptosis. Moreover, conditioned media of pyroptotic ARPE-19 cells increased cell death by photooxidative damage in other cells in an interleukin-1 receptor (IL-1R) dependent fashion. These results make it conceivable that in situations of localized RPE cell death such as in atrophic AMD, this mechanism could result in increased susceptibility of immediate bystander RPE cells to inflammasome-mediated cell death, thus contributing to the centrifugal progression pattern of RPE cell loss in AMD. In summary, this study identified a novel mechanism of inflammasome activation by light damage and provides a functional link between key factors of AMD pathogenesis including lipofuscin accumulation, photooxidative damage, complement activation, and RPE degeneration. Thereby, this study provide new potential treatment targets for blinding diseases such as AMD.

3

II. List of Publications

The data presented in this thesis were published previously in the following publications:

I.

Brandstetter, C., Mohr, L. K. M., Latz, E., Holz, F. G. & Krohne, T. U. Light induces NLRP3 inflammasome activation in retinal pigment epithelial cells via lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage. J. Mol. Med. 93, 905–916 (2015).

Key findings: In this study, blue light photooxidative stress to human RPE cells, intensified by accumulated lipofuscin, causes lysosomal membrane permeabilization and subsequent activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by leaking lysosomal enzymes, resulting in secretion of inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18. These results identify blue light damage as a new mechanism of inflammasome activation and thus contribute to our understanding of light damage to the RPE.

Documentation of authorship: The author participated in the study design, performed all experiments and analyzed the results. The author participated in writing the manuscript.

II.

Mohr, L. K. M., Hoffmann, A. V., **Brandstetter, C.,** Holz, F. G. & Krohne, T. U. Effects of Inflammasome Activation on Secretion of Inflammatory Cytokines and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor by Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 56, 6404–6413 (2015).

Key findings: Lysosomal membrane permeabilization–induced activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in RPE cells results in apical secretion of inflammatory cytokines with chemotactic effects on microglia cells and reduced constitutive secretion of VEGF. Via these mechanisms, lipofuscin phototoxicity may contribute to local immune processes in the outer retina as observed in AMD.

Documentation of authorship: Author designed, performed and analyzed the microglia chemotaxis assay. Furthermore, Carolina Brandstetter was significantly involved in the supervision of the project as well as planning and execution of the experiments.

5

III.

Brandstetter, C., Holz, F. G. & Krohne, T. U. Complement component C5a primes retinal pigment epithelial cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 31189–31198 (2015).

Key findings: By investigating the capacity of activated complement components to prime human RPE cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative, complement activation product C5a was identified as a priming signal for RPE cells that allows for subsequent inflammasome activation by stimuli such as lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage.

Documentation of authorship: The author participated in the study design, performed all experiments and analyzed the results. The author participated in writing the manuscript.

IV.

Brandstetter, C., Patt, J., Holz, F. G. & Krohne, T. U. Inflammasome priming increases retinal pigment epithelial cell susceptibility to lipofuscin phototoxicity by changing the cell death mechanism from apoptosis to pyroptosis. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B, Biol. 161, 177–183 (2016).

Key findings: Examination of the mechanisms of photooxidative damage-induced cell death in cultured human RPE cells demonstrated that inflammasome priming with IL-1 α or C5a not only changes the cell death mechanism from apoptosis to pyroptosis but also increases the susceptibility of the cells to photooxidative damage-mediated cytotoxicity. These results provide new insights into the complex interplay of complement system, inflammasome activation, oxidative damage, and RPE cell pathology in diseases such as AMD and suggest inhibition of inflammasome priming or activation as potential treatment strategies for atrophic AMD.

Documentation of authorship: The author designed, performed and analyzed all experiments, with the exception of the experiment to determine IL-1 β release association with pyroptotic cell lysis. The author participated in writing the manuscript.

The original articles are reproduced with the permission of the respective copyright holders.

III. General Introduction

3.1 Age-related macular degeneration

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is the leading cause blindness in all industrialized countries, affecting primarily persons aged 50 years and above. The disease affects roughly four and a half million people in Germany and vaguely 30 million in the rest of the world.¹ A further significant increase in incidence and prevalence of the disease is predicted as a result of demographic development.² AMD is a progressive and degenerative condition that affects cells and structures of the outer retina resulting in damage to the macula lutea.³ The macula lutea, further referred as "macula" is described as a small oval area that is characterized by the rich and close packing with cone photoreceptors. The macula accounts for fine spatial resolution and spatially differentiated perception, - the vision that is critical for activities such as reading, driving, and facial recognition.⁴ Characteristic for the commonly asymptomatic initial stage of AMD is the occurrence of drusen, deposits of extracellular debris and inflammatory material at the interface of the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and Bruch's membrane that comprise lipid- and protein-rich debris.⁵ Drusen deposition is also part of a normal phenomena during natural aging,⁶ and usually do not affect visual function. But due to lipoidal character, drusen may act as a diffusion barrier that affects the transport of fluids and nutrients from the choroid to the retina. By this, the presence of drusen may contribute to an age-related degeneration of the RPE.⁷ Presumably, degenerative dysfunctions of the RPE and oxidative stress play a crucial role in drusen formation.⁸ However, an increase in number, size, and confluence of drusen, that is accompanied by retinal hyperpigmentation, is a significant risk factor for the sight-threatening advanced forms of AMD. A representative funduscopic image with drusen is presented in figure III.1a. Their presence may be accompanied by RPE cell death,⁹ but the connection between these AMD related events is not fully understood yet.

Due to their clinical manifestation, AMD is characterized by two types, the slowly developing atrophic AMD and the fast developing neovascular AMD. The atrophic form is an advanced form of AMD that culminates in geographic atrophy (GA). GA is characterized by the loss of the RPE and the formation of atrophic patches within the macula. Adjacent photoreceptors also degenerate due to their metabolic dependence on RPE cell function. This causes a slow but continuous progressive loss of central vision.^{10,11} As atrophic patches increase in size and may become confluent, they eventually progress into central scotomas and areas of central vision loss with relative sparing of the surrounding peripheral retina.¹² Despite extensive efforts, there are currently no available treatment options for atrophic AMD, although randomized clinical trials have reported that oral supplementation of various

antioxidants (i.e., vitamins C and E, beta carotene, zinc, lutein and zeaxanthin) may reduce the odds of disease progression from early to late stage AMD.^{3,13} A representative eye with GA is shown in figure III.1b. The neovascular form is an advanced form of AMD that culminates in the formation of choroidal neovascularizations (CNV) and fibrovascular scarring primarily affecting the macula.¹² CNV is characterized by newly formed vessels that penetrate the Bruch's membrane and sprout into the sub-retinal space.¹⁴ Unlike physiological blood vessels, neovascular vessels are leaky and blood components drain into the sub-retinal space. Therefore, this form of AMD may include lipid deposition, hemorrhage, sub-retinal fluid accumulation, RPE detachment and fibrotic scarring, as presented in figure III.1c. The neovascularizations are initiated by an increased secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF).¹⁵ If left untreated, they can lead to severe blindness with scarring within several months. Progression of neovascular AMD may be halted by VEGF inhibiting drugs, which represent an important CNV treatment option.¹⁶ However, these advanced stages of AMD should not be seen as stationary, since neovascular lesions may be present in the periphery of eyes with geographic atrophy and vice versa.¹⁷



Figure III.1. Funduscopic images from AMD patients demonstrating hallmarks of disease. (A) Fundus photography in intermediate AMD showing drusen. (B) Fundus autofluorescence in atrophic AMD showing geographic atrophy. (C) Fluorescein angiography in neovascular AMD showing choroidal neovascularisation.

While aging represents its primary determinant, environmental factors such as cigarette smoking,^{18,19} dietary habits,^{20–22} and light exposure,^{23–25} together with genetic predispositions^{26–32} contribute to the risk of AMD occurrence. In addition, oxidative stress, by releasing reactive oxygen species, represents another trigger in AMD pathogenesis.^{3,33} Numerous findings suggest RPE dysfunction and degeneration as a critical event in AMD pathogenesis.³⁴

3.2 Retinal pigment epithelium cells as primary disease target in AMD

The RPE and the neuroretina constitute the retina, the neural portion of the eye. The neuroretina comprises five types of layered neurons: (1) photoreceptor cells, (2) bipolar cells, and (3) ganglion cells, which together provide the most direct route of transmitting visual information to the brain via the optic nerve, as well as (4) horizontal cells and (5) amacrine cells. Other cells present in the retina are glia cells: astrocytes, Müller cells, and microglia (figure III.2). The latter are located in the inner retina but transmigrate into and out of the subretinal space in diseases such as AMD.³⁵ The RPE is built of a single layer of melaninpigmented cells of cuboidal form located on the Bruch's membrane between the neural retina and the choriocapillaries. The RPE together with the Bruch's membrane form the outer blood-retinal barrier (BRB) which is highly indispensable for sustaining vision. Tight junctions are strengthening the RPE laterally. Therefore, the BRB prevents the migration of immune cells and macromolecules from the underlying choroid into the photoreceptor layer.³⁶ The RPE features a variety of metabolic functions that are of crucial importance for the healthy retina, such as exchange of nutrients, metabolites and fluids between the neuroretina and choriocapillaris,³⁷ synthesis of vitamin-A metabolites (retinoid recycling) and protection against oxidative stress. Another function is the phagocytosis of shed photoreceptor outer



Figure III.2: Structure of the human eye and organization of the retina. a) Profile of the human eye. b) Normal retinal architecture is comprised of the neuroretina that consists of photoreceptor cells, neuronal cells and glia cells (Müller cells, astrocytes, and microglia); the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), the Bruch's membrane and a choroidal vascular network. Microglia transmigrate into and out of the subretinal space (as shown by the dashed arrow). c) Geographic atrophy and d) Neovascular AMD demonstrate the advanced forms of AMD. Further information will be given in the text. Images modified from Ambati et al., 2013.³⁸

segments (POS). These POS are digested and thereby essential substances such as the aldehyde all-trans-retinal get regenerated. After transformation into the photoactivated isomer 11-cis-retinal the POS is returned to the photoreceptors to rebuild light-sensitive POS from the basic constituents of the photoreceptors.³⁹⁻⁴² Therefore, as a consequence of its strategic location and vital roles, the RPE is the primary site associated with AMD pathology.^{7,43,44} RPE degeneration results in loss of sensory retina, leading to vision loss in advanced AMD. The lysosomal compartment of the RPE is responsible for breaking down POS into their basic components for recycling. However, as aging is characterized by a gradual functional decline of all organ systems,⁴⁵ likewise lysosomes are affected by agedependent decline in degradative capacity, resulting in incompletely degraded material.⁴⁶ In addition, oxidative stress has been shown to be implicated in decreased lysosomal function, again promoting the accumulation of incompletely degraded material.⁴⁷ Incomplete degradation of oxidized material has been proposed to be the beginning bud for aggregate formation that further cross-link to ultimately emerge in lipofuscin, one of the main hallmark features in AMD pathology. The accumulation of lipofuscin has been demonstrated to precede RPE dysfunction and degeneration with concurrent severe functional loss.⁴⁸ This RPE degeneration is thought to be mediated, at least in part, by photoreactive properties of lipofuscin that accumulate in RPE over a lifetime. Therefore, as a consequence of its strategic location and vital roles, the RPE is the primary site associated with AMD pathology.7,43,44

3.3 Oxidative stress in AMD

As mentioned above, oxidative processes are a powerful feature in formation of lipofuscin.^{8,49} Oxidative stress is related to a number of age-dependent diseases such as atherosclerosis,⁵⁰ and Alzheimer's disease,⁵¹ as well as several ocular diseases, such as diabetic retinopathy,^{52,53} cataract,⁵⁴ and age-dependent macular degeneration.⁵⁵ Oxidative stress is characterized as an imbalance in reactive oxygen species (ROS) and antioxidants.^{56,57} ROS can arise endogenously by the activity of NADPH oxidases in inflammatory process,⁵⁸ in small amounts by normal mitochondrial activity⁵⁹ or due to ionizing radiation, ultraviolet rays, tobacco smoke or photosensitizers.^{60,61} Antioxidant systems have evolved to protect biological systems against the deleterious effects of a wide array of ROS. Antioxidant enzymes such as peroxidase, catalase, and superoxide dismutase,⁶² as well as the antioxidant protection mechanisms of the vitamins E, C and glutathione reduce the harmful effects of ROS.⁶³ In addition, the RPE contains various pigments that are specified for different wavelengths^{64,64} such as the carotenoids lutein and zeaxanthin that possess antioxidant properties by filtering short-wavelength light.⁶⁵ The outer retina is particularly vulnerable to photooxidative damage due to the age-dependent decline in RPE antioxidant defense^{66,67} as well as their high oxygen concentration, the intense light exposure combined with the presence of photosensitizers and the high content of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) such as docosahexaenoic acid,^{64,68,69} permitting oxidative stress to ultimately overwhelm RPE cell defenses, leading to oxidative damage and retinal aging.^{64,70–72} Oxidative stress is an important mediator of damage to cell structures (termed oxidative damage), including single- and double desoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)-strand breaks, DNA– protein and protein–protein cross-linking, protein fragmentation and oxidation of lipids, reffered to as lipid peroxidation.^{73–75}

3.3.1 Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation is the oxidative degradation of lipids and proceeds by a complex free radical chain reaction by utilizing the interaction of ROS with PUFAs. PUFA are particularly prone to oxidation due to their multiple double bonds, that are more vulnerable to oxidation than saturated ones. Membrane and organelle surroundings are constituted by phospholipid layers that are rich in PUFAs, making them a vulnerable target for lipid peroxidation. Therefore, this process is particularly detrimental to cellular functions as it disturbs membrane fluidity, integrity and function.⁶⁸ Free radicals exhibit an unstable and reactive status, due to an unpaired electron in the outer orbital shell.⁷⁶ Therefore, free radicals aim to achieve a stable state. This can be achieved by abstracting an electron from other molecules. By this, unsaturated fatty acids are susceptible to free radical attack, due to their unsaturated carbon double bonds. Carbon double bonds constitute electrons bonds, in which one of those (allylic) bonds has loosely held electrons. Initially, lipid peroxidation occurs when ROS is generated in close proximity to a PUFA containing structure, such as the lysosomal membrane or phagocytosed POS. The radical immediately abstracts the allylic hydrogen forming water and a peroxyl radical. This lipid radical itself abstracts a hydrogen from another lipid molecule, generating a new lipid hydroperoxide. This leads to an autocatalytic chain reaction of oxidants. The peroxyl radical turns into a lipid hydroperoxidase, while simultaneously a new peroxyl radical is generated.⁷⁷ As a part of these reactions, the valuable unsaturated fatty acids are cleaved in cytotoxic effective lipid peroxidation products. Termination of the chain reaction can only occur when either an antioxidant scavenger (e.g. vitamin E) donates a hydrogen atom to a radical, or if two radicals react with each other to produce a non-radical species. The vitamin E radical reacts with another forming non-radical products.⁷⁸ If not terminated fast enough, these reactions lead to cleavage of unsaturated fatty acids in cytotoxic effective lipid peroxidation products and irreparable damage to membranes under attack, with ensuing leakage of enclosed components (e.g. ions, proteins and lysosomal enzymes). The POS membranes are highly enriched by PUFAs. Docosahexaenoic acid, a precursor of α-linolenic acid with six double bonds, dominates among the fatty acids of the phospholipids.⁷⁹ Therefore, the POS membranes are a sensitive site for oxidative damage. Phagocytosis of spent POS by RPE cells would be expected to introduce pre-formed lipid peroxidation products-modified POS proteins, and PUFAs prone to subsequent peroxidation into the RPE lysosomal compartment.

Two prevalent lipid peroxidation products are malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE). MDA predominantly arises from oxidation of the polyunsaturated fatty acids docosahexaenoic acid and arachidonic acid.⁶⁸ HNE usually emerge by oxidation of arachidonic acid and linoleic acid.⁶⁸ MDA and HNE attach covalently to proteins by forming adducts with lysine, histidine or cyteine residues. In this way, MDA and HNE stabilize POS proteins against degradation, resulting in accumulation of undigested POS within the lysosomes.⁸⁰ Cross-linkage of oxidized proteins by HNE or MDA as well as decreased proteolysis of modified proteins leads to the formation of aggregates that may be the underlying mechanisms of lipofuscinogenesis. In addition, detection of HNE- and MDA-modified proteins in a proteomic analysis of human RPE lipofuscin confirmed the intralysosomal occurrence of these aldehydes and brought attention to the pivotal role of lipid peroxidation products in the induction of lysosomal dysfunction and lipofuscinogenesis in RPE.^{47,81}

3.3.2 Lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative stress

Lipofuscin accumulates in non-dividing metabolically active cells like neurons, cardiomyocytes and RPE cells^{82,83} and is associated with a variety of pathological conditions such as ceroid-lipofuscinosis, cirrosis of the liver, cardiac hypertrophy, as well as with ocular diseases such as AMD, Stargardt disease and Best's disease.^{84–86} Unlike most cell types cells, in which lipofuscin is produced through the lysosomal degradation of intracellular organelles,³⁹ the major substrate for RPE lipofuscin is the undegradable end product resulting from POS phagocytosis.⁸⁷ Due to several fluorophores, RPE lipofuscin has a characteristic broad-band fluorescence.⁸⁸ RPE lipofuscin autofluorescence facilitates the

detection of lipofuscin accumulation and distribution in the living eye^{89,90} by means of fundus spectrophotometry, a noninvasive measurement of intrinsic fluorescence and reflectance of the ocular fundus.⁹¹ The signal for lipofuscin accumulation in the RPE is augmented in the macula, maximally in the parafoveal ring where rods are densest.^{92–95} Additionally, autofluorescence increases linearly with age in the healthy retina,⁹⁵ demonstrating agedependent increase in lipofuscin accumulation. It still needs to be proven whether lipofuscin is the causal factor in retinal degeneration. However, a growing number of evidence propose lipofuscin as detrimental factor, influencing RPE function and viability. The observation of lipofuscin fluorescence and progression of atrophic areas in AMD patients revealed that excessive lipofuscin accumulation preceeds RPE atrophy with concurrent damage to photoreceptors and choriocapillaris, leading to GA.⁴⁸ A feasible approach is provided by studies that revealed increased RPE susceptibility to light-induced cell damage by accumulation of lipofuscin.96-98 In a consequence, a role of light-induced RPE cell damage has been postulated for AMD pathogenesis. However, several clinical studies that investigated the association of daylight exposure and the formation of AMD reported ambiguous results. Some studies demonstrated a relationship, whereas others failed to do so. Among the positive results, the Beaver Dam Eye Study reported that early signs of AMD positively correlate with excessive exposure to sunlight (> 5 hours per day) during the teenage years and beyond.⁹⁹ Similarly, the Chesapeake Bay Watermen Study revealed that late AMD positively correlate to cumulative sunlight exposure.¹⁰⁰ Ultraviolet radiation (UV) turns out not to be the causative agent for retinal damage, as UV is almost completely absorbed by the crystalline lens. However, shorter wavelengths of the visible spectrum (i.e. blue-light, 400 to 480 nm) demonstrate strong effects, possibly due to photooxidative damage to the RPE.¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰²

Lipofuscin represent the main photosensitizer in the retina, beside the visual pigments in photoreceptor cells.⁶⁰ As soon as a photosensitizing molecule (e.g. lipofuscin, riboflavin, retinal) absorbs light in its particular wavelength, it gets converted into an excited state. In order to return to its ground state, the photosensitizer transfers the increase in energy to an adjacent oxygen molecule, creating a singlet oxygen. The singlet oxygen is highly aggressive and immediately seeks to attack and damage its surroundings when formed.¹⁰³ Lipofuscin accumulation can be a result of photooxidative damage to the retina. Furthermore, once present in the RPE, lipofuscin can itself propagate photooxidative stress.¹⁰⁴ Especially when excited by blue light, lipofuscin exerts photoreactive properties that induce oxidative stress to the lysosomal membrane via massive peroxidation of lysosomal membrane lipids.¹⁰⁴

3.3.3 Lysosomal membrane permeabilization

Lysosomes are membrane-bound acidic organelles, present in virtually all eucaryotic cells.¹⁰⁵ The endolysosomal system comprise early endosomes, with an slight acidic intra-lumenal pH of 6.0-6.6, late endosomes, with a more acidic pH (~5), and lysosomes with the most acidic compartment (pH ~4.5). The size of the lysosomes is approximately between 0.5 and 2 micrometers depending on the content and stage of the degradation process.^{106,107} Lysosomes are considered the major site for degradation of exo- and endogenously derived material.¹⁰⁸ For this purpose, lysosomes comprise a variety of hydrolases including cathepsins, nucleases, glycosidases, sulfatases, and lipases. Of the lysosomal hydrolases, the cathepsin family of proteases is the best characterized. The cathepsins are subdivided, according to their active site amino acids, into cysteine (cathepsins B, C, F, H, K, L, O, S, V, W, and X), serine (cathepsins A and G), and aspartic cathepsins (cathepsins D and E).¹⁰⁹ Lysosomal enzymes are regulated by the pH of their surrounding environment that dictates enzymatic activity.¹⁰⁵ The material to be digested is delivered to the endolysosomal compartment via endocytosis, autophagocytosis, and in specialized cells, through phagocytosis.^{110–112}. The degraded material pass out of the lysosome via membrane transporter proteins and is reused by the cell. Lysosomes are limited by a single 7-10 nm phospholipid-bilayer.¹¹³ The lysosomal membrane provides an essential physical barrier from the acidic hydrolases to protect the interior of the cell from degradation. This is achieved by lysosome-specific expression of the highly glycosylated lysosome-associated membrane proteins (LAMPs) and lysosomal integral membrane proteins (LIMPs), that are considered responsible for lysosomal resistance to self-degradation from the inside.^{114,115} The lysosomal membrane harbors a proton pump that uses energy from ATP hydrolysis to maintain intralysosomal acidic conditions. ^{116–118}

Photosensitizers that are located in lysosomes and generate singlet oxygen upon radiation have been shown to cause LMP via massive peroxidation of lysosomal membrane lipids.^{119–}¹²¹ Another mechanisms leading to LMP may be induced by application of lysosomotrophic agents such as L-Leucyl-L-leucine methyl ester (Leu-Leu-OMe),¹²² or ciprofloxacin¹²³. These agents accumulate within the lysosomes and permeabilize the membrane via a detergent mechanism. In addition, lipofuscin fluorophore A2E was also proposed to exert lysosomotrophic features.¹²⁴ Lysosome membrane permeabilization leads to subsequent relocation of lysosomal constituents into the cytosol¹²⁵ that triggers various cellular responses, such as inflammasome activation, autophagy, and apoptotic cell death.^{108,126} The idea of lysosomal involvement in cell death was first suggested by de Duve and Wattiaux in

1966.¹⁰⁸ The importance of the cytosolic location of cathepsins for their pro-apoptotic function is highlighted by studies in which microinjection of cathepsins into the cytosol was sufficient to induce apoptosis. In each of these cases, a specific inhibitor of cathepsin B or D attenuated cell damage.^{127–129} Cathepsins have the ability to participate in both the initiation and execution phases of apoptosis but may in some cases also directly activate caspases.¹³⁰

3.4. Complement system in AMD

Over the past decade, studies revealed that inflammation plays a crucial role in the pathogenesis of AMD. The most convincing evidence for the contribution of inflammation to AMD comes from studies that have strongly implicated the complement system. As an integral part of the innate immune system, the complement system plays a pivotal role in the innate defense against common pathogens as well as in the clearance of cellular debris from host tissues and other roles related to tissue homeostasis.¹³¹ The complement system is comprised of over 50 blood-circulating, mostly liver-derived, and membrane-bound proteins, regulators and effector molecules (figure III.3). The latter largely exist in a precursor state that is activated rapidly in a cascade-like fashion following activation of the system via any of three pathways: the classical pathway, the lectin pathway and the alternative pathway (AP) of the complement system.¹³² The classical pathway can be initiated by the binding of the pattern recognition molecule C1q to immunglobulin (IgG or IgM) in antibody:antigen complexes. It can also bind to C-reactive protein (CRP) on self or microbial surfaces or directly to molecules expressed on microbial membranes. The lectin pathway is independent of antibody binding and is triggered by interaction of mannose-binding lectin (MBL) with mannose residues or ficolin with N-acetyl glucosamine residues both present in bacterial cell walls.¹³³ C1q and MBL are structurally similar molecules, and both the classical and lectin pathways require C2 and C4 complement components for the generation of the C3 convertase. While the classical or lectin pathway are largely dependent on protein:carbohydrate or protein:protein interaction, the AP is constantly autoactivated in the fluid phase, a process referred to as "tickover".¹³⁴ AP activation by tickover appears at low rates by hydrolysis of complement component C3, leading to the formation of C3(H2O) and the binding of small amounts of C3b to cell surface carbohydrates or proteins of target cells such as bacterial cells, followed by the binding of factor B, which is then cleaved by Factor D to form the C3 convertase complex C3bBb. Once deposited on the surface of cells or pathogens, C3b binds more factor B, and this binding gradually amplifies the activation cascade. The binding of properdin (P) stabilizes the C3 convertase and enhances the process.¹³⁵ Although triggered by different signals, all activated pathways cumulate into the generation of a C3 convertase, a protein complex that cleaves the key complement effector molecule C3 into the anaphylatoxin C3a and the bioactive opsonin C3b. The latter contributes to the formation of the C5 convertase, which in turn cleaves C5 to C5a and C5b. The complement system not only helps the cell to defend against pathogens, but also has the potential to harm self-tissues. Therefore, it is particularly important for the cell to balance complement activation and inhibition.¹³⁶



Figure III.3: Complement system activation. (a) Complement system activation. Local effects of the inhibitors on complement components. (b) Complement system in the eye. Local production of the complement inhibitors by retinal cells. Image from Kawa et al., 2014.¹³⁷

Complement factor H is the major soluble regulator of the alternative complement pathway, and has a pivotal role because of the constant activation of that pathway.¹³⁸ A single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in CFH that changes amino acid residue 402 from a tyrosine (Y402) to a histidine (402H) leads to functional consequences. The 402H variant binds with reduced affinity to several of its ligands which reduces the effectiveness by restricting activation of the alternative pathway. Therefore, there is a greater AP activation level in the retina of an individual carrying the negatively effecting risk variant 402H than in individuals

with Y402.^{139–147} This results in constant induction of the inflammatory cascade resulting in tissue damage and ultimately drusen formation in AMD.¹⁴⁸ Evidence for complement activation in AMD were provided by the identification of complement proteins including C3, and the products of its activation and degradation, such as the anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a in drusen from eyes of AMD patients.^{149,150} The anaphylatoxins C3a and in particular C5a, are potent inflammatory factors, stimulating secretion of cytokines, proteolytic enzymes, reactive oxygen species, and other pro-inflammatory molecules that lead to amplification of inflammatory responses^{151,152} and aplenty other physiological responses that range from chemoattraction to apoptosis.^{153,154} The anaphylatoxins operate through their respective receptors, namely C3aR and C5aR. These receptors belong to the seven membrane-spanning G-protein-coupled receptors.¹⁵² A recent study demonstrated activation of the NF-KB pathway in RPE cells after stimulation with C5a.¹⁵⁵ Due to the sub-retinal deposition of drusen, RPE cells may be constantly stimulated by these inflammatory factors.^{38,150}

3.5. The Inflammasome

The inflammasome is a key pro-inflammatory signaling pathway primarily discovered in cells of the innate immune system. The name "inflammasome" refers to structural and functional similarities with an apoptotic signaling pathway, the "apoptosome".^{156,157} Both pathways involve cytoplasmic sensor molecules that upon activation assemble large, cytosolic, multiprotein complexes. The activation and subsequent assembly of inflammasomes is induced by divers stimuli which are often microbial products or subjects associated with cellular damage.^{158,159} Beside cells of the innate immune system such as dendritic cells and neutrophils,^{160,161} varying levels of inflammasome activity have also been demonstrated in certain nonimmune cells, such as keratinocytes and RPE cells.¹⁶² Although NLRP3 inflammasome activity frequently plays a protective role, such as mediating host defense against intracellular microbes and viruses as well as tissue and wound repair,^{163–166} it contributes to pathology in some instances. Impaired inflammasome pathway function was first associated with a group of rare autoinflammatory diseases called cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes (CAPS), and are caused by mutations in one of the inflammasome sensor molecules, the NLRP3 (also known as cryopyrin).^{167,168} Evidence indicates that the NLRP3 inflammasome is also implicated in a growing number of common metabolic diseases involving chronic inflammation¹⁶⁹ such as atherosclerosis, and type 2 diabetes.^{170–} 172

3.5.1 Inflammasomes activate caspase-1 resulting in IL-1ß and IL-18 processing

Caspase-1 is a cysteine protease that use cysteine as the nucleophilic group for substrate cleavage and cleaves the peptide bond carboxy-terminal to aspartic acid residues.¹⁷³ The best known substrates of caspase-1 are the cytosolic zymogens pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18.¹⁷⁴. Cleavage by caspase-1 generates the mature and biologically active pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18. Therefore, caspase-1 is characterized as an inflammatory caspase in contrast to apoptotic caspases. Furthermore, caspase-1 does not play a role in apoptosis; it is responsible for induction of a distinct form of programmed cell death, referred to as pyroptosis. However, caspase-1 resemble the apoptotic cell death initiating caspases 8,9 and 10, as caspase-1 has large prodomains, the "death domain" that enable homotypic interaction with other proteins.^{175,176} This interaction domain typically consist of six or seven antiparallel α -helices, the relative orientation determines their classification as a caspase activation and recruitment domain (CARD) or pyrin domain (PYD). Caspase-1 is expressed as an inactive zymogen that needs to be activated before it can exert its function as a protease. An essential step in caspase-1 activaion is the assembly of the inflammasome.¹⁷⁷



Figure III.4: Domain structure of inflammasome proteins. The image presents the best known inflammasome forming PRRs that belong to two families, the NLR family and the PYHIN family. The NLR familiy (NLRP1, NLRP3 and NLRC4) contain a nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD), carboxy-terminal leucine-rich repeat (LRR), and contain either a pyrin domain (PYD) or a caspase activation and recruitment domain (CARD) or both. NLRP1 has C-terminal an additional function-to-find domain (FIIND domain) and a CARD. The PYHIN familiy (AIM2) contain an N-terminal PYD that is followed by a C-terminal PYHIN family signature domain, the hematopoietic interferon-inducible nuclear protein domain (HIN200). The image was adapted from Walsh et al., 2014.¹⁷⁸

The inflammasome is an intracellular multiprotein complex that consists of pro-caspase-1, the adapter ASC (apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD), and a pattern recognition receptors (PRR). The best known PRRs that are capable of forming an inflammasome complex belong either to the cytosolic nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain receptors, in short NOD-like receptors (NLRs), such as NLRP1 (NOD-, LRR- and pyrin domain-containing 1), NLRP3 or NLRC4 (NOD-, LRR- and CARD-containing 4) or to the AIM2 like receptor (ALR) family, namely AIM2 (absent in melanoma 2).^{175,177,179} With the exception of NLRP1, all NLR proteins have a tripartite domain structure.¹⁸⁰ This structure is composed of a central nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD), C-terminal series of leucine-rich repeats (LRRs), and a N-terminal protein-protein interaction domain, either a PYD or a CARD. The human NLRP1 has C-terminal an additional function-to-find domain (FIIND) and a CARD. Therefore, NLRP1 possess two interaction domains for homotypic protein-protein interaction. AIM2 harbours a N-terminal PYD that is followed by a C-terminal PYHIN family signature domain, the hematopoietic interferon-inducible nuclear protein domain (HIN200).¹⁸¹ Figure III.4 demonstrates the domain structure of inflammasome proteins.

3.5.2 Inflammasome activation

Inflammasome activation is regulated by a "two-signal" mechanism. Classically, the first signal is referred as inflammasome priming and involves the transcription of pro-IL-1ß that is induced by activation of the transcription factor nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB). Therefore, priming can be accomplished by NF-κB agonists such as the TLR4 ligand lipopolysaccharide (LPS), tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), and the cytokines IL-1 α and IL-1 β .^{182–185} Although, in many cells pro-IL-18 is constitutively expressed and does not need priming,¹⁸⁶ its expression is increased by cellular activation.¹⁸⁷ In contrast, the NLRP3 protein demonstrates a basal expression that is not sufficient for inflammasome activation in a resting cell.^{183,188} Thus, similarly to $IL-1\beta$ generation, a priming step is required to drive the NLRP3 transcription. Interestingly, various immune cells regulate IL-1 production differently. Macrophages require a two signal process (TLR ligand and NLR stimuli), whereas monocytes possess a constitutively activated form of caspase-1 through the release of endogenous ATP, and that is why monocytes only need cell priming by stimulation with TLR2 or TLR4 ligands.¹⁸⁹ NLRP3 transcription can be activated by diverse immune signalling or cytokine receptors, such as the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) or interleukin-1 receptor (IL-1R). By this, immune cells are influenced by their susceptibility to NLRP3 inflammasome triggers.^{183,188} Once primed, the "second signal" triggers inflammasome activation that results in oligomerization

of the inflammasome constituents, recruitment of the adapter protein ASC and pro-caspase-1 as well as subsequent cleavage of pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18 into its mature forms.¹⁹⁰

Each inflammasome scaffold is activated by particular PAMPs or DAMPS. The sensor molecules of inflammasomes can directly detect distinct signals such as the bacterial cell wall component muramyl dipeptide (MDP) by NLRP1¹⁹¹ and double stranded DNA by AIM-2.^{188,192–194} NLRC4 is activated by flagellin and certain components of bacterial secretion systems.¹⁹⁵ However, NLRP3 responds to a diverse array of PAMPs and DAMPs.^{170,196} Therefore, it is unlikely that all bind directly to NLRP3. For this reason, a common molecule or pathway that is responsible for NLRP3 inflammasome activation has been proposed. Studies indicate three possible pathways. The first model for NLRP3 inflammasome activation suggest ROS as a proximal trigger since increased ROS level have been demonstrated upon treatment with NLRP3 activators.¹⁹⁷⁻¹⁹⁹ The second model proposes a drop in intracellular potassium (K⁺) concentration due to pore-forming bacterial toxins or the formation of endogenous ion channels that cause inflammasome activation.²⁰⁰ A third model suggests disruption of the lysosomal membrane as NLRP3 inflammasome activation signal. Phagocytosis of particles or live pathogens may result in lysosomal membrane rupture that leads to release of lysosomal components and the putative NLRP3-activating molecule into the cytosol. The lysosomal protease cathepsin B or a cytosolic substrate of cathepsin proteolytic activity are most likely to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome.^{126,170,201}

The inflammasome-forming NLR's, and the HIN domain in the case of AIM2, are stabilized in an inactive but signaling-competent state in the absence of an activating stimulus. With ligand binding, the auto-inhibitory state undergoes a conformational change, leading to exposure of the N-terminal PYD or CARD domain^{202,203} that enables homotypic interaction (CARD-CARD or PYD-PYD) with other CARD or PYD possessing proteins. Pro-caspase-1 possess a CARD, thus scaffolding proteins that also have a CARD, such as NLRP1 and NLRC4, can directly bind pro-caspase-1.²⁰⁴ Inflammasome scaffolds that lack a CARD, such as NLRP3, AIM2 and NLRP1 at its C-terminal side, have a PYD domain instead. This domain allows interaction with the adapter molecule ASC, which has both a PYD domain and a CARD, and provides the connection to the CARD domain of caspase-1.²⁰⁵ Although NLRP1 and NLRC4 can each recruit pro-caspase-1 independently of ASC via their CARDs, ASC might enhance inflammasome activation.^{191,206} The association of caspase-1 is a 44 kDa protein that consist of one large subunit (20 kDa) and one small subunit (10 kDa).



Figure III.5: Generic model of inflammasome activation. Cytosolic nucleotide-binding domain, leucine-rich repeat (NOD-LRR) proteins are maintained in an autoinhibited state until ligand recognition and ATP binding drive oligomerization via the NOD domain. Recruitment of caspas-1 to form the inflammasome complex occurs directly via CARD-CARD interactions or indirectly via the adaptor ASC (a, modified from Lu et al., 2014;²⁰⁷ b, modified from Moltke et al., 2013.²⁰⁸

Recruitment of pro-caspase-1 to the inflammasome results in a high local concentration of the zymogen. This pro-caspase-1 clustering triggers proximity-induced oligomerization of caspase-1,²⁰⁹ resulting in autoproteolysis, release of the CARD domain and tetramerization of two large and two small subunits, leading to the formation of the active enzyme.^{210,211} Figure III.5 gives an generic model of the NLRP3 inflammasome and its polymerization mechanism. Upon activation, caspase-1 cleaves pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18, generating the corresponding mature, biologically active cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18. Both, pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18 lack a signal peptide for protein secretion by the ER-Golgi secretory pathway. Therefore, these cytokine precursors reside in the cytosol of the cell. Nevertheless, following processing of the mature forms (IL-1 β and IL-18), the cytokines are secreted from the cells by a poorly understood pathway termed unconventional protein secretion, which occurs independently of the classical Golgi pathway.²¹²

3.5.3 Pyroptosis versus Apoptosis

Cell death is generally described dichotomously as either passive or programmed cell death. Necrosis (from the Greek 'necro', meaning death, and 'sis', meaning a condition of) is a passive form of cell death that is induced by accidental damage of tissue. During necrosis no activation of caspases or any cell death specific program occurs.

Apoptosis (from the Greek 'apo', meaning away from, and 'ptosis', meaning falling) represents the best-studied form of programmed cell death that needs activation of caspases. Apoptosis represents an active and programmed cell death mechanism that is observed during homeostatic cell processes such as normal cell turnover in healthy adult tissues as well as during embryonic development.²¹³ Meanwile, it has been appreciated that

various non-apoptotic forms of programmed cell death also exist, such as pyroptosis. Apoptosis and pyroptosis differ in terms of molecular and morphological changes of the affected cells as presented in table III.1. Morphologically, apoptotic cell death is characterized by cytoplasmic shrinkage and chromatin condensation (pyknosis) that is followed by nuclear fragmentation (karyorrhexis). During apoptosis, caspase-mediated proteolysis of inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase (ICAD) releases caspase-activated DNase (CAD). The activated DNase CAD cleaves DNA between nucleosomes. As a result, characteristic oligonucleosomal DNA fragments of about 180 bp occure.²¹⁴ In addition, during apoptosis the plasma membrane forms cytoplasmic blebs and cell membrane enclosed cell fragments (apoptotic bodies). In healthy cells, phosphatidylserine (PS) is actively restricted to the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane by aminophospholipid translocase activity. In apoptosis, a combined effect of decreased phospholipid translocase activity and activation of a phospholipid scramblase²¹⁵ leads to PS externalization. PS exposure on the cell surface can be recognized by phagocytes as a signal for engulfment.^{216,217} Therefore, apoptosis is considered to be immunologically silent.²¹⁸ Importantly, apoptotic cells retain their membrane integrity and therefore do not evoke acute inflammation.

	Characteristics	Apoptosis	Pyroptosis
Morphology	Cell lysis	_	+
	Cell swelling	-	+
	Pore formation	-	+
	Membrane blebbing	+	-
	DNA fragmentation	+	+
Mechanism	Caspase-1 activation	-	+
	ICAD cleavage	+	-
Outcome	inflammation	_	+

Table III.I: Differences between pyroptosis and apoptosis. Despite sharing characteristics with apoptosis, the morphological, mechanistic and physioloical features of pyroptosis make it a distinct form of programmed cell death. The table was adapted from Labbé and Saleh, 2011.²¹⁹

Pyroptosis (from the Greek 'pyro', relating to fire or fever, and 'ptosis', meaning falling) was first described as an atypical cell death mode of macrophages infected with *Salmonella typhimurium* by Brennan and Cookson in 2000.²²⁰ However, pyroptosis is not restricted to macrophages or bacterial infections.²²¹ Pyroptosis is a caspase-1 dependent form of

programmed cell death. An important function of caspase-1 is its key role in the processing of inactive IL- β and IL-18 into mature inflammatory cytokines, demonstrating pyroptosis as an inherently pro-inflammatory cell death mode.²²² Perhaps the most striking difference between pyroptosis and apoptosis is at the plasma membrane. Microscopically, pyroptotic cell death is characterized by an increase in cell size due to cytosolic swelling generated by the caspase-1 dependent formation of plasma membrane pores followed by rapid mebrane rupture and release of cytosolic contents. Some of these components, such as ATP, pro-IL-1 α , and HMGB1 become pro-inflammatory effectors which are able to recruit neutrophils and induce inflammation.²²³ Although cleavage of chromosomal DNA was assumed to indicate apoptotic cell death,²²⁴ DNA damage also occures during pyroptosis.^{220,225–228} However, DNA cleavage during pyroptosis is carried out by an unidentified nuclease that does not induce ICAD degradation and does not display the oligonucleosomal pattern characteristic of apoptosis.^{214,225,229}

3.5 Aims of the study

Rationale

Various studies demonstrated that oxidative and lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage play an important pathophysiological role in AMD. Further characteristics of the disease include a chronic low-grade immune process including complement activation in the sub-RPE space. Yet the identity of a molecular link between hallmark features of AMD pathogenesis including lipofuscin accumulation, photooxidative damage, innate immune response in sub-RPE space, and RPE cell degeneration remains unclear. Recent studies have shown that the NLRP3 inflammasome, a key mediator of the innate immune system, is activated in the RPE of patients with atrophic and neovascular AMD. However, the triggers for NLRP3 inflammasome activation in AMD pathology remain unknown.

The purpose of this study was to examine NLRP3 inflammasome activation by oxidative/ photooxidative damage in human RPE cells as a potential link between hallmark pathogenic features in age-dependent macular degeneration.

The specific aims of this study were:

- to test whether lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative stress activates the inflammasome pathway and induces IL-1β and IL-18 secretion in human cultured RPE cells via lysosomal membrane permeabilization (chaper IV),
- to investigated the effects of LMP-induced inflammasome activation on the secretion profile of inflammation-related cytokines and VEGF as well as their secondary effects on microglial and vascular endothelial cells in vitro (chapter V),
- to identify a potential priming effect for activated complement in human serum and to further delineate the responsible complement component (chapter VI),
- to elucidate the effects of inflammasome priming on mechanism and extent of photooxidative damage-induced cytotoxicity in RPE cells (chapter VII).

IV. Light induces NLRP3 inflammasome activation in retinal pigment epithelial cells via lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage

<u>Carolina Brandstetter</u>,¹ Lena K. M. Mohr,¹ Eicke Latz^{2,3,4,5} Frank G. Holz¹ und Tim U. Krohne¹

Affiliations:

- 1 Department of Ophthalmology, University of Bonn, Ernst-Abbe-Str. 2, 53127 Bonn, Germany
- 2 Institute of Innate Immunity, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany
- 3 German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE), Bonn, Germany
- 4 Department of Infectious Diseases and Immunology, University of Massachusetts Medical School, Worcester, MA, USA
- 5 Centre of Molecular Inflammation Research, Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim, Norway

J Mol Med (Berl). 2015 Aug;93(8):905-16. doi: 10.1007/s00109-015-1275-1

4.1 Abstract

Photooxidative damage and chronic innate immune activation have been implicated in retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) dysfunction, a process that underlies blinding diseases such as age-related macular degeneration (AMD). To identify a potential molecular link between these mechanisms, we investigated whether lipofuscin-mediated phototoxicity activates the NLRP3 inflammasome in RPE cells in vitro. We found that blue light irradiation (dominant wavelength 448 nm, irradiance 0.8 mW/cm², duration 6 h) of lipofuscin-loaded primary human RPE cells and ARPE-19 cells induced photooxidative damage. Ivsosomal membrane permeabilization (79.5 % of cells vs. 3.8 % in nonirradiated controls), and cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes. This resulted in activation of the inflammasome with activation of caspase-1 and secretion of interleukin-1ß (14.6 vs. 0.9 pg/ml in nonirradiated controls) and interleukin-18 (87.7 vs. 0.2 pg/ml in nonirradiated controls). Interleukin secretion was dependent on the activity of NLRP3, caspase-1, and lysosomal proteases cathepsin B and L. These results demonstrate that accumulation of lipofuscin-like material in vitro renders RPE cells susceptible to phototoxic destabilization of lysosomes, resulting in NLRP3 inflammasome activation and secretion of inflammatory cytokines. This new mechanism of inflammasome activation links photooxidative damage and innate immune activation in RPE pathology and may provide novel targets for therapeutic intervention in retinal diseases such as AMD.

4.2 Introduction

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is a neurodegenerative disease of the retina that represents the most common cause of blindness in all industrialized countries.²³⁰ The molecular pathogenesis of AMD is still not completely resolved which hinders the development of effective therapies, in particular for the atrophic subtype of the disease. In AMD, the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) becomes progressively dysfunctional and eventually degenerates, resulting in photoreceptor death and visual function loss. Experimental and clinical studies identified oxidative and photooxidative damage to the RPE as a contributing factor.^{3,33} This damage is thought to be mediated, at least in part, by the phototoxic properties of lipofuscin that accumulate in RPE cells over a lifetime as a result of constant photoreceptor outer segment phagocytosis and degradation. Moreover, genetic and histochemical evidence supports a role of chronic innate immune activation at the level of the RPE in AMD pathology.^{149,231} A candidate innate immune signaling receptor for RPE cell

pathology in AMD pathogenesis is the nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like receptor family, pyrin domain-containing protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome.^{185,232} Two steps are required for activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome.¹⁸⁶ First, a priming signal results in the transcriptional induction of NLRP3 and pro-interleukin (IL)-1β. Second, an activation signal triggers the assembly of NLRP3, apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a caspase recruitment domain (ASC), and pro-caspase-1 into the inflammasome protein complex. The activated inflammasome mediates caspase-1 activation, which in turn proteolytically activates pro-IL-1ß and pro-IL-18 into their mature forms. These highly proinflammatory cytokines have pleiotropic autocrine and paracrine effects on a variety of cell types. NLRP3 inflammasome activation in the RPE has been reported in both atrophic and neovascular AMD.^{185,232} Several substances have been suggested to provide the signal for inflammasome activation in AMD including drusen components such as C1q²³³ and amyloidbeta,²³⁴ Alu RNA accumulation secondary to DICER1 deficiency,²³² the lipofuscin component Nretinylidene-N-retinyl-ethanolamine (A2E),²³⁵ and the lipid peroxidation product 4hydroxynonenal (HNE).²³⁶ A key pathway upstream of the NLRP3 inflammasome is lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP) and subsequent cytosolic leakage of lysosomal components.^{126,186} Indeed, this mechanism has been reported to activate the inflammasome in RPE cells following chemical induction of LMP.¹⁸⁵ Another mechanism resulting in LMP in RPE cells is phototoxic damage mediated by intralysosomal accumulation of photoreactive lipofuscin.^{96,97} In this study, we investigated whether blue light-induced photooxidative stress in human RPE cells, intensified by accumulated lipofuscin, and subsequent lysosomal membrane permeabilization result in activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by leaking lysosomal enzymes. Thereby, this study aimed to identify a novel mechanism of inflammasome activation by light damage that may provide new treatment targets for blinding diseases such as AMD.

4.3 Material and methods

4.3.1 Cell culture and treatments

Human fetal primary RPE cells (pRPE) were obtained from Lonza (Cologne, Germany), cultured as recommended by the manufacturer, and used in experiments for a maximum of six passages. The human nontransformed RPE cell line ARPE-19 (CRL-2302; ATCC, Rockville, MD, USA) was cultured as previously reported.²³⁷ The immortalized murine

wildtype and NLRP3 knockout macrophage cell lines used in our study have been characterized previously¹²⁶ and were cultured as described.⁸⁰ For inhibition of photooxidative damage, the singlet oxygen scavenger 1,4-diazabicyclooctane (DABCO; SigmaAldrich, Munich, Germany) was added to the culture media at a concentration of 30 mM during blue light irradiation. Lysosomal membrane permeabilization was induced by incubation of cells with 1 mM ciprofloxacin (Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany) for 3 h or 1 mM L-leucyl-L-leucine methylester (Leu-Leu-OMe; Bachem, Bubendorf, Switzerland) for 3 h. Cathepsin B inhibitor CA-074 (Calbiochem, Darmstadt, Germany) and cathepsin L inhibitor Z-Phe-Phe-fluoromethylketone (Z-FF-FMK; Calbiochem) were used for cell treatment at a concentration of 10µM each for 1 h prior to and during irradiation treatment. For inhibition of caspase-1, we applied 10µM of Z-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-fluoromethylketone (Z-YVAD-FMK; BioVision, Munich, Germany) 30 min prior to and during irradiation.

4.3.2 Induction of lipofuscin accumulation

Isolated porcine POS were modified with lipid peroxidation products malondialdehyde (MDA) or 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE) as described.⁸⁰ Lipofuscin accumulation was induced by incubation of cells with modified POS for 7 days or, alternatively, by incubation with native POS and concomitant lysosomal inhibition by ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl; Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany) as reported previously.²³⁷ Intracellular lipofuscin granules were documented by fluorescence microscopy (IX71; Olympus, Hamburg, Germany) using a fluorescein filter set (excitation filter wavelength 480/40 nm, emission filter wavelength 535/50 nm). For flow cytometric quantification (FACS Canto II; BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany), we employed the FITC channel (excitation laser wavelength 488 nm, detection filter wavelength 530/30 nm). Data was acquired and analyzed by appropriate software (DIVA; BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany; FlowJo; Tree Star, Ashland, OR, USA).

4.3.3 Blue light irradiation

For blue light irradiation of RPE cells, we employed a 3×3 array of blue LEDs (XLamp XP-E royal blue; Cree, Durham, NC, USA). The LED spectrum as measured by a spectroradiometer (PR-655 SpectraScan; Photo Research, Chatsworth, CA, USA) exhibited a peak wavelength of 448 nm with a full width at half maximum (FWHM) of 24 nm. Cells were irradiated from a distance of 35 cm within a cell culture incubator for the indicated times. In this setup, cells were exposed to an irradiance of 0.8 mW/cm2 as measured using a power meter (FieldMax-TOP with PM10V1 sensor; Coherent, Santa Clara, CA, USA). Measurements confirmed that irradiation did not affect the temperature of the cell culture

medium. A dose–response curve of the phototoxic effect of irradiation treatment on RPE cells is provided in Fig. IV.2b (control group). Photooxidative damage in blue light-irradiated cells was assessed by immunostaining of protein carbonyls using a commercially available kit (OxyICC Oxidized Protein Detection Kit; Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions, followed by quantification by flow cytometry (FACS Canto II; BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany).

4.3.4 Cell death detection assays

Blue light-induced cell death was documented by light microscopy. Cell death-associated plasma membrane disintegration was assessed by means of release of cytoplasmic lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). Measurements of LDH release were performed in cell supernatants 48 h after the start of irradiation using a calorimetric assay (Cytotoxicity Detection Kit; Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. As an additional cell death assay, we quantified loss of cell attachment 48 h after the start of irradiation by crystal violet assay as previously described.²³⁸

4.3.5 Analysis of lysosomal membrane permeabilization

Cells were incubated with 1µg/ml acridine orange (Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany) for 15 min and washed two times with PBS. Lysosomal staining (red) was documented by fluorescence microscopy. Lysosomal permeabilization was quantified by flow cytometry (FACS Canto II; BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany) as percentage of cells with loss of lysosomal staining. For analysis of leakage of lysosomeal enzymes, lysosomal and cytosolic cell fractions wereseparated following plasma membrane permeabilization using digitonin (SigmaAldrich, Munich, Germany) as reported.²³⁹ Subsequently, cytosolic activity of lysosomal acid phosphatase was assessed by measuring cleavage of a specific substrate using a commercially available assay (Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany).

4.3.6 Analysis of inflammasome activation

RPE cells were primed with 4 ng/ml human recombinant IL-1α (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany) for 48 h¹⁸⁵ and macrophages with 200 ng/ml lipopolysaccharide (LPS, from Escherichia coli0127:B8; Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany) for 6 h. For analysis of caspase-1 activity, a fluorochrome-labeled inhibitor of caspase (FLICA) detection assay specific for caspase-1 [carboxyfluorescein-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-fluoromethylketone (FAM-YVAD-FMK); Immunochemistry Technologies, Bloomington, MN] was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Caspase-1 activation was documented by fluorescence microscopy and quantified by flow cytometry (FACS Canto II; BD Bioscience, Heidelberg,
Germany). Interleukin secretion following inflammasome activation in RPE cells was measured by specific ELISAs for human IL-1 β (BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) and human IL-18 (BD Bioscience). Inflammasome activation in murine macrophages was assessed by an ELISA against murine IL-1 β (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany).

4.3.7 NLRP3 siRNA knockdown

Lipofuscin accumulation was induced in ARPE-19 cells by incubation with HNE-modified POS as described above. Then, cells were transfected with 100 nM small interfering RNA (siRNA) targeting human NLRP3 (Ambion Silencer Select siRNA, ID s41556; Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) or 100 nM nonspecific siRNA (Ambion Silencer Select Negative Control siRNA; Life Technologies) for 24 h using a transfection reagent (Invitrogen Lipofectamin RNAiMax; Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions.²⁴⁰ Subsequently, cells were primed with IL-1 α and irradiated with blue light as described above.

4.3.8 Statistical analysis

Experiments were performed in doublets (Figs. IV.5 and IV.6) or triplets (all other experiments). Results are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Statistical analysis was performed using one-tailed (Fig. IV.7c) or two-tailed (all other experiments) unpaired Student'st tests. Differences were considered statistically significant at p<0.05. In all figures, significance levels as compared to controls are indicated using * for p<0.05, ** for p<0.01, and *** for p<0.001.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Blue light irradiation of lipofuscin-loaded RPE cells induces photooxidative damage

Lipofuscinogenesis was induced in pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells either by incubation with isolated photoreceptor outer segments (POS) and simultaneous inhibition of lysosomal degradation by ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl) or by incubation with POS stabilized against lysosomal degradation by covalent modification with lipid peroxidation products malondialdehyde (MDA) or 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE) as described.^{80,237,241} Lipofuscinogenesis was evaluated by assessing the accumulation of granular material with lipofuscin-like autofluorescence using fluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry (Fig. IV.1a,b). Consistent with our previous reports, lipofuscin accumulation was significantly increased in all three treatment groups compared to control groups of cells treated with either

native POS alone, with the lysosomal inhibitor alone, or left untreated. The finding that cells treated with the lysosomal inhibitor generate some amount of lipofuscin even in the absence of POS is attributable to impaired autophagy as described before.²³⁷ The spectral profiles of lipofuscin generated in this in vitro model have been reported.²³⁷ Following lipofuscin loading, RPE cells were irradiated with blue light to induce photooxidative stress. Immuno-cytochemistry confirmed that blue light irradiation resulted in oxidative damage by lipid peroxidation-mediated formation of protein carbonyls (Fig. IV.1c,d). Even control cells exhibited some photooxidative damage secondary to blue light irradiation.



Figure IV.1: Blue light irradiation of lipofuscin-loaded RPE cells induces photooxidative damage. (A) Intracellular lipofuscin accumulation (yellow) was documented in ARPE-19 cells by fluorescence microscopy. Nuclei were visualized by DAPI staining (blue). (B) Lipofuscinogenesis was quantified in pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells by flow cytometry measurements of mean cellular autofluorescence intensity. An example result is shown as an insert. Cells were left untreated (control) or incubated with the lysosomal inhibitor ammonium chloride (NH4Cl), unmodified photoreceptor outer segments (POS), POS and ammonium chloride (POS+NH4Cl), malondialdehyde-modified POS (MDA-POS), and 4-hydroxynonenal-modified POS (HNE-POS). (C) Photooxidative damage was assessed in ARPE-19 cells by immunocytochemical detection of protein carbonyls (red). Nuclei were labeled by staining with DAPI (blue). (D) Mean cellular fluorescence of immunocyto-chemically labeled protein carbonyls was quantified by flow cytometry. Scale bars, 50 μm.

However, photooxidative damage was significantly increased in lipofuscin-loaded cells as compared to controls, consistent with the known photoreactive properties of lipofuscin. Moreover, cells incubated with MDA- or HNEmodified POS exhibited significantly more photooxidative damage compared to cells treated with unmodified POS. We thus verified that the lipofuscin-like material generated by RPE cells in our in vitro model possesses photoreactive properties that result in photooxidative cell damage, similar to lipofuscin generated in human RPE in vivo.⁹⁶

4.4.2 Blue light irradiation of lipofuscin-loaded RPE cells causes phototoxic cell death

As excessive photooxidative damage may result in cell death, we aimed to determine the phototoxic threshold in our cell culture model by measuring cytotoxicity following increasing durations of irradiation of up to 24 h (Fig. IV.2a,b). Cytotoxicity was assessed in parallel by means of loss of plasma membrane integrity (LDH release assay) and loss of cell adhesion (crystal violet assay). Consistently in both assays, cytotoxicity in creased with blue light dose up to an irradiation time of 24 h when cytotoxicity was nearly complete (90–99 %) in all three lipofuscin-loaded treatment groups. Reduction of photooxidative damage by cell incubation with the singlet oxygen scavenger DABCO during irradiation treatment suppressed the cytotoxic effect (Fig. IV.2c). These results confirm that in our RPE cell culture model, lipofuscin generation from phagocytosed POS renders the cells susceptible to photooxidative damage. Based on the results, we selected an irradiation duration of 3 and 6 h for our further experiments as for these irradiation times the detected cytotoxic effect of irradiation is limited.

4.4.3 Lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage results in lysosomal membrane permeabilization with cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes

Photoreactivity of intralysosomal lipofuscin can induce lysosomal destabilization.^{96,97} We therefore investigated the effects of lipofuscin photoreactivity on lysosomal membrane stability in our model. Lysosomal staining by acridine orange demonstrated intact lysosomes in lipofuscin-loaded cells without irradiation treatment as well as in irradiated cells without lipofuscin loading (Fig. IV.3a). In contrast, cell treatment with both lipofuscin loading and blue light irradiation resulted in a significant loss of lysosomal staining, indicating lysosomal membrane permeabilization. Quantification of lysosomal staining by flow cytometry demonstrated that loss of lysosomal membrane integrity increased with both light dose and lipofuscin load as measured by means of lipofuscin-like autofluorescence (Fig. IV.3b). Cytosolic activity of leaked lysosomal enzymes has been proposed as a mechanism of inflammasome activation.¹²⁶

Light induces NLRP3 inflammasome activation



Figure IV.2: Blue light irradiation of lipofuscin-loaded RPE cells causes phototoxic cell death. (A) Photooxidative damage-induced cytotoxicity was documented in ARPE-19 cells by light microscopy. (B) To quantify the phototoxic effect, both loss of plasma membrane integrity and loss of cellular adhesion were analyzed by measuring LDH release and crystal violet staining, respectively. (C) Photooxidative damage secondary to irradiation was reduced by incubation with the singlet oxygen scavenger DABCO.Scale bar,250µm.

To assess whether lysosomal enzyme leakage occurs in light-exposed RPE cells, we separated cytosolic and lysosomal cellular fractions by plasma membrane permeabilization using digitonin. We employed a digitonin concentration of 20µg/ml as for this concentration the isolated cytosolic fraction of untreated control cells exhibited a near maximum concentration of the cytosolic marker enzyme LDH while at the same time contamination by the lysosomal marker enzyme acid phosphatase was low (Fig. IV.3c). Consistent with the results of acridine orange staining, acid phosphatase activity in the isolated cytosolic cell fractions increased with light dose and lipofuscin load (Fig. IV.3d). The observed background cytosolic acid phosphatase activity that was detectable even in nonirradiated control cells may be explained by partial lysosomal membrane permeabilization by the digitonin tiration curve. Our results demonstrate that lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage in RPE cells is associated with lysosomal membrane permeabilization and cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes.



Light induces NLRP3 inflammasome activation

Figure IV.3: Lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage results in lysosomal membrane permeabilization with cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes. (A) Intact lysosomes (red) and nuclei (green) were visualized in ARPE- 19 cells by means on acridine orange staining. (B) Lysosomal membrane permeabilization resulted in a loss of lysosomal staining that was quantified by flow cytometry. (C) Digitonin effect on ARPE-19 cells was titrated for maximum plasma membrane permeabilization (release of cytosolic LDH) and at the same time minimal lysosomal membrane permeabilization (release of lysosomal acid phosphatase, AP). (D) A digitonin concentration of 20 μ g/ml was selected for separation of cytosolic and lysosomal cellular fractions, and cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes was assessed by analyzing the activity of lysosomal marker enzyme acid phosphatase in the cytosolic fractions. Scale bar, 50 μ m.

4.4.4 Lysosomal membrane permeabilization by lipofuscin phototoxicity induces

inflammasome activation with activation of caspase-1 and secretion of IL-1 β and IL-18

We then investigated inflammasome activation in RPE cells in response to light treatment. As inflammasome activation requires a priming signal, cells were treated with IL-1 α that has been shown to induce NRLP3 inflammasome priming in RPE cells.¹⁸⁵ IL-1 α -primed cells were irradiated with blue light, and inflammasome activation was assessed subsequently by measuring caspase-1 activation using the FLICA probe FAMYVAD-FMK (Fig. IV.4).



Figure IV.4: Lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage results in lysosomal membrane permeabilization with cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes. (A) Intact lysosomes (red) and nuclei (green) were visualized in ARPE- 19 cells by means on acridine orange staining. (B) Lysosomal membrane permeabilization resulted in a loss of lysosomal staining that was quantified by flow cytometry. (C) Digitonin effect on ARPE-19 cells was titrated for maximum plasma membrane permeabilization (release of cytosolic LDH) and at the same time minimal lysosomal membrane permeabilization (release of lysosomal acid phosphatase, AP). (D) A digitonin concentration of 20 μ g/ml was selected for separation of cytosolic and lysosomal cellular fractions, and cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes was assessed by analyzing the activity of lysosomal marker enzyme acid phosphatase in the cytosolic fractions. Scale bar, 50 μ m.

We detected significantly increased amounts of activated caspase-1 in lipofuscin-loaded, light-irradiated cells compared to controls. Moreover, secretion of inflammasome-regulated cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 was significantly increased in both pRPE and ARPE-19 cells as measured by ELISA (Fig. IV.5a,b). Similar to LMP, inflammasome activation increased with light dose and lipofuscin load asmeasured by autofluorescence. LMP by other means such as treatment with ciprofloxacin¹²³ or Leu-Leu-OMe¹²⁶ likewise induced inflammasome activation in RPE cells (Fig. IV.5c). Suppression of photooxidative damage by cell incubation with the singlet oxygen scavenger DABCO during irradiation resulted in a significant reduction of irradiation-induced IL-1 β secretion (Fig. IV.5d), thus confirming that photooxidative damage is the critical mechanism underlying inflammasome activation in our experiments.

4.4.5 Inflammasome activation by lipofuscin phototoxicity is dependent on prior

priming, activity of caspase-1, cathepsin B and cathepsin L, and expression of NLRP3

To further delineate the mechanism by which blue light irradiation induces inflammasome activation in RPE cells, we subjected cells to different inhibitor treatments before and during irradiation (Fig. IV.6). No inflammasome-mediated secretion of IL-1 β and IL-18 was detectable when inflammasome priming by IL-1 α prior to irradiation was omitted. Likewise, inhibition of caspase-1 activity by Z-YVAD-FMK suppressed inflammasome activation.

Finally, inhibition of the lysosomal proteases cathepsin B or cathepsin L resulted in a significant inhibition of IL-18 and IL-18 secretion, supporting a role of lysosomal enzyme leakage in inflammasome activation in our experiments. Next, we aimed to investigate whether inflammasome activation by lipofuscin phototoxicity is mediated by the NLRP3 inflammasome as opposed to other inflammasome subtypes. For this, we knocked down NLRP3 expression in lipofuscinloaded RPE cells by transfection with siRNA against NLRP3 prior to blue light irradiation (Fig. IV.7a). NLRP3 knockdown resulted in a significant reduction of irradiation-induced IL-1ß secretion as compared to control cells transfected with nonspecific siRNA. These results demonstrate that inflammasome activation secondary to lipofuscin phototoxicity in RPE cells is mediated by NLRP3. To verify this result in a knockout model, we employed a NLRP3-deficient immortalized murine macrophage cell line¹²⁶ as NLRP3-deficient RPE cells were not available to us. Macrophages have been shown to generate lipofuscin secondary to POS phagocytosis in vitro similarly to RPE cells.²⁴² We confirmed lipofuscin accumulation in macrophages secondary to incubation with POS by fluorescence microscopy (Fig. IV.7b). Lipofuscin-loaded wild-type macrophages. responded to blue light irradiation similar to RPE cells, i.e., by inflammasome activation with increased IL-1ßsecretion that was dependent on prior priming of the cells (Fig. IV.7c). In NLRP3 knockout cells, however, irradiation-induced IL-1ß secretion was significantly suppressed compared to wildtype controls, consistent with the results of NLRP3 knockdown in human RPE cells.

4.5 Discussion

In the yet unresolved pathogenesis of AMD, oxidative damage and chronic immune response have been demonstrated to be centrally involved. However, the connection between these two mechanisms is unclear. Using an RPE cell culture model, we demonstrated for the first time that photooxidative stress by irradiation with blue light activates the NLRP3 inflammasome. This activation is mediated by permeabilization of lysosomal membranes with subsequent cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes. It is amplified by the photosensitizer lipofuscin which accumulates in the RPE in vivo with age and has the highest concentration in the macula. Thus, the molecular mechanism of light-induced inflammasome activation in the RPE links key pathogenic factors of AMD and may provide new targets for therapeutic strategies. Multiple lines of evidence indicate that lipofuscin accumulation has adverse effects on RPE cell homeostasis and function.^{243,244} Moreover, both in vitro and in vivo





Figure IV.5: Lysosomal membrane permeabilization by lipofuscin phototoxicity results in inflammasome activation with secretion of IL-1 β and IL-18. Inflammasome-mediated secretion of mature IL-1 β (A) and IL-18 (B) was analyzed by ELISA in pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells. (C) Lysosomal membrane permeabilization by ciprofloxacin and Leu-Leu-OMe in APRE-19 cells served as positive controls. (D) To assess the role of photooxidative damage in irradiation-induced inflammasome activation, ARPE- 19 cells were incubation with the singlet oxygen scavenger DABCO during blue light treatment.

studies demonstrated that lipofuscin accumulation increases the susceptibility of the RPE to light-induced cell damage and cell loss.96-98 Based on this body of experimental data, a role of light-induced RPE cell damage in AMD pathogenesis has been postulated, and several clinical studies have investigated a possible association of visible light exposure and AMD development. However, results so far have been ambiguous with some studies demonstrating an association while others failed to do so. Among the positive results, the Chesapeake Bay Watermen Study reported a significant association between long-term visible or blue light exposure and geographic atrophy or disciform scarring.¹⁰⁰ In the Beaver Dam Study, sunlight exposure was significantly associated with early AMD.⁹⁹ Finally, the European Eye Study found a significant association of blue light exposure and neovascular AMD in patients with low antioxidant levels.²⁴⁵ While the clinical data regarding the role of light damage in AMD pathogenesis remains controversial, the contribution of oxidative damage has been clearly established in interventional clinical studies such as the agerelated eye disease study (AREDS).³ In our experiments, we employed a model of blue lightinduced photooxidative damage, enhanced by cellular loading with lipofuscin-like material, to study the effects of LMP in RPE cells. Different models for the in vitro study of lipofuscin effects in RPE cells have been described.²⁴⁶ We and others have used A2E-loaded RPE cells as a model of lipofuscin phototoxicity in the past⁹⁷ as A2E is considered the major fluorophore of macular lipofuscin. However, recent data derived from human donor eyes has questioned this role.²⁴⁷ In this study, we therefore employed a system of endogenous lipofuscin generation from phagocytosed POS in human RPE cells. Cellular lipofuscinogenesis was enhanced by POS modifications with products of lipid peroxidation such as HNE and MDA that result in lysosomal dysfunction by mechanisms described before in detail.^{80,237,241} The levels of POS protein modifications used in our cell culture were quantified previously⁸⁰ and were chosen to correspond to the range of carbonyl modifications detected in human cells in vivo.²⁴⁸ While this model was designed to closely resemble the in vivo situation, the composition of lipofuscin-like material generated in this model over a period of 7 days is likely to differ from the composition of lipofuscin generated in RPE cells in vivo over a human lifetime. However, the aim of this study was to investigate the consequences of light-induced LMP in RPE cells, and our model of lipofuscin generation was appropriate to achieve LMP by blue light irradiation, similar to what has been reported for RPE cells loaded with lipofuscin granules generated in human RPE in vivo.⁹⁶ Hence, potential differences in lipofuscin composition in our model compared to lipofuscin granules



Figure IV.6: Inflammasome activation by lipofuscin phototoxicity is dependent on inflammasome priming and activity of caspase-1, cathepsin B, and cathepsin L. Secretion of IL-1 β (A) and IL-18 (B) by pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells was assessed by ELISA in primed cells incubated with HNEPOS (Control), unprimed cells incubated with HNE-POS (Unpr.), primed cells incubated with HNE-POS and caspase-1 inhibitor Z-YVAD-FMK (Casp.- 1), primed cells incubated with HNE-POS and cathepsin B inhibitor CA-074 (Cath. B), and primed cells incubated with HNE-POS and cathepsin L inhibitor ZFF-FMK (Cath. L).

from human RPE in vivo do not seem to affect light-induced LMP that was the focus of this study. In our experiments, the control group of RPE cells exhibited some degree of inflammasome activation following blue light irradiation even in the absence of POS, albeit considerable less compared to the treatment groups incubated with modified POS (Figs. IV.4 and IV.5). An explanation for this unexpected finding may be lipofuscin generation as a result of incomplete autophagy of endogenous cellular material in control cells ²³⁷ an effect that would be pronounced in cells cultured for several weeks in a confluent state as in our experiments. Indeed, fluorescence microscopy demonstrated low amounts of granules with

lipofuscin-like autofluorescence even in control cells (Fig. IV.1a). Consistent with this explanation, both lipofuscin accumulation and inflammasome activation increased further in cells treated with ammonium chloride in the absence of POS compared to control cells (Fig. IV.1b and IV.5), likely as a result of autophagy inhibition by ammonium chloride as previously described.²³⁷ Secondary to light-induced LMP, we detected leakage of lysosomal enzymes into the cytosol of RPE cells. Inhibition of lysosomal proteases cathepsin B and L suppressed inflammasome activation associated with light-induced LMP. The finding of cathepsindependent NLRP3 inflammasome activation secondary to LMP is consistent with previous studies in silica crystalchallenged macrophages.¹²⁶ These results suggest a cytosolic substrate of cathepsin proteolytic activity as a critical component of NLRP3 inflammasome activation. However, the molecular mechanism by which cytosolic activity of cathepsins or other lysosomal enzymes induce inflammasome activation has not yet been resolved. Isolated HNE was reported to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome in RPE cells.²³⁶ In our experiments, we used covalent modification of POS by HNE to induce lipofuscinogenesis. As POS were thoroughly washed following modification to remove unbound HNE, cells were not exposed to isolated HNE in our experiments. Furthermore, we did not observe inflammasome activation in cells incubated with HNE-modified POS without additional irradiation treatment (Fig. IV.5). This indicates that inflammasome activation by isolated HNE did not play a role in our study. Similarly, lipofuscin component A2E alone has been demonstrated to induce NLRP3 inflammasome activation in RPE cells.²³⁵ The amount of A2E within the POS-derived lipofuscin in our experiments is unknown but likely to be small compared to RPE lipofuscin in vivo that accumulates over a lifetime. The low A2E content may explain why we did not see an effect of lipofuscin accumulation alone, without additional irradiation treatment, on inflammasome activation in our experiments (Fig. IV.5). These results suggest that direct, nonphototoxic effects of A2E did not contribute to inflammasome activation in our study. Proteins modified by lipid peroxidation products, such as carboxyethylpyrrole (CEP)-modified serum albumin, have been reported to be capable of providing the priming signal for subsequent NLRP3 inflammasome activation.²³³ We did not investigate CEP-modified albumin in our study, but we did ot observe a priming effect of MDA- or HNE-modified POS proteins in our experiments. Indeed, we found that omission of IL-1a priming prevented inflammasome activation in RPE cells despite incubation of the cells with HNE-POS (Fig. IV.6). Similar results were obtained for MDA-POS (unpublished data). Thus, HNE- and MDA-modified proteins do not seem to be capable of inducing inflammasome priming in RPE cells.



Figure IV.7: Inflammasome activity by lipofuscin phototoxicity is mediated by NLRP3. (A) In ARPE-19 cells incubated with HNE-POS prior to blue light irradiation, the effect of siRNA-mediated NLRP3 knockdown on IL-1β secretion was assessed as compared to control cells transfected with nonspecific siRNA. (B) Accumulation of lipofuscin-like material (yellow) following incubation with POS was documented by fluorescence microscopy in murine macrophages as a substitute model of RPE lipofuscinogenesis. (C) Following POS-induced lipofuscin accumulation, inflammasome priming with LPS, and subsequent blue light irradiation for 4 h, secretion of IL-1β by wild-type (NLRP3+/+) and NLRP3 knockout (NLRP3-/-) macrophages was analyzed by ELISA.Scale bar, 50µm.

In this study, we demonstrate that photooxidative damage to human RPE cells, intensified by accumulated lipofuscin, causes lysosomal membrane permeabilization and subsequent activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by leaking lysosomal enzymes, resulting in secretion of inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18. These results identify blue light damage as a new mechanism of inflammasome activation and thus contribute to our understanding of light damage to the RPE. Moreover, this mechanism represents a novel molecular link between hallmark features of AMD pathogenesis such as photooxidative damage, innate immune response, and RPE cell dysfunction that may provide new therapeutic targets against this blinding disease.

V. Effects of Inflammasome Activation on Secretion of Inflammatory Cytokines and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor by Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells

Lena K.M. Mohr, Carolina Brandstetter, Frank G. Holz, Tim U. Krohne

Department of Ophthalmology, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2015 Oct;56(11):6404-13. doi: 10.1167/iovs.15-16898

5.1 Abstract

PURPOSE: Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome has been implicated in the pathogenesis of AMD. Lipofuscin phototoxicity activates the inflammasome in RPE cells by inducing lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP). We investigated the effects of LMP-induced inflammasome activation on the secretion of inflammation-related cytokines and **VEGF** by RPE cells.

METHODS: In primary human RPE cells and ARPE-19 cells, the inflammasome was activated by L-leucyl-L-leucine methyl ester (Leu-Leu-OMe)- or lipofuscin phototoxicity-induced LMP. Cytokine secretion was measured by protein dot blot and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays. The polarization of cytokine secretion was assessed in RPE monolayers on permeable membranes. We analyzed the chemotactic and angiogenic effects of secreted cytokines on murine embryonic stem cell–derived microglia cells and human umbilical vascular endothelial cells, respectively.

RESULTS: Inflammasome activation in RPE cells was associated with caspase-1– dependent secretion of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-18, GM-CSF, and GRO (CXCL1/2/3), whereas constitutive secretion of VEGF was reduced. Secretion of IL-1 β and IL-18 was highly polarized to the apical cell side. Incubation with conditioned media of inflammasomeactivated RPE cells induced directed migration of microglia cells (11.0-fold increase) and diminished vascular endothelial cells proliferation (39.0% reduction) and migration (69.3% reduction) as compared with conditioned media of untreated control RPE cells.

CONCLUSIONS: Lysosomal membrane permeabilization-induced activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in RPE cells results in apical secretion of inflammatory cytokines with chemotactic effects on microglia cells and reduced constitutive secretion of VEGF. Via these mechanisms, lipofuscin phototoxicity may contribute to local immune processes in the outer retina as observed in AMD.

5.2 Introduction

In the developed world, AMD is the most common cause for severe visual loss and legal blindness.²³⁰ Age-related macular degeneration is a disease of the central retina that typically affects elderly people. Age-related macular degeneration is characterized by progressive degeneration of the RPE and secondary loss of photoreceptors in the macula leading to loss of central vision. Two late manifestations of AMD can be distinguished, atrophic AMD and neovascular AMD. Atrophic AMD causes slowly progressive central visual decline by RPE

cell degeneration known as geographic atrophy.¹². In contrast, neovascular AMD is characterized by rapid visual loss secondary to VEGF-mediated ingrowth of choroidal neovascularizations (CNV).²⁴⁹ Anti-VEGF treatment has proven highly effective in neovascular AMD and is now widely used clinically. In contrast, there is still no treatment available for atrophic AMD. Age-related macular degeneration is associated with oxidative and photooxidative damage of the RPE that is believed to be mediated at least in part by the phototoxic properties of lipofuscin that progressively accumulates in the RPE over a lifetime.^{47,250} Further characteristics of the disease include the formation of extracellular deposits called drusen^{5,251} and a chronic low-grade immune processes including complement activation in the sub-RPE space.^{149,231} Thus, chronic innate immune activation plays a crucial role in AMD pathogenesis. Recent studies have shown that the NLRP3 inflammasome, a key mediator of the innate immune system, is activated in the RPE of patients with atrophic and neovascular AMD.^{185,232} Clinical studies demonstrated increased intravitreal and systemic levels of the inflammasome-controlled cytokines IL-1ß and IL-18 in AMD patients.^{252,253} Based on these findings, a role of the NLRP3 inflammasome in AMD pathogenesis has been hypothesized. The NLRP3 inflammasome is a multiprotein complex, which induces caspase-1 activation resulting in secretion of inflammatory cytokines IL-1ß and IL-18.^{186,205} An initial priming signal in combination with a subsequent activation signal, such as reactive oxygen species or lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP), leads to assembly of NLRP3, ASC, and procaspase-1 to the active inflammasome. We previously have identified photooxidative damage, intensified by accumulated lipofuscin, with secondary LMP and enzyme leakage as a mechanism of NLRP3 inflammasome activation in human RPE cells.²⁵⁴ Currently, there is only little data available regarding the profile of secreted cytokines in RPE cells following inflammasome activation as well on their paracrine effects. Doyle and coworkers²³³ reported that incubation with inflammasomeregulated IL-18 reduces secretion of VEGF in RPE cells and suggested a protective effect against CNV formation. Consistently, they demonstrated increased laser-induced CNV formation in NLRP3 and IL-18 knockout mice.²³³ In contrast, another inflammasome-regulated interleukin, IL-1β, has been shown to induce VEGF secretion in RPE cells18 and to promote laser-induced CNV formation in mice.²⁵⁵ To elucidate the effects of inflammasome activation on pathologic processes in the outer retina, we induced inflammasome activation by LMP in human RPE cells and investigated the resulting secretion profile of inflammatory cytokines and VEGF as well as their secondary effects on microglial and vascular endothelial cells in vitro.

5.3 Material and Methods

5.3.1 Cell Culture

Human primary retinal pigment epithelial (pRPE) cells (H-RPE; Lonza, Cologne, Germany) were cultured as recommended by the manufacturer and used in experiments for a maximum of five cell culture passages. The human nontransformed RPE cell line ARPE-19 (ATCC CRL-2302; ATCC, Rockville, MD, USA) was cultured as previously reported.²³⁷ Murine embryonic stem cell– derived microglia cells were a generous gift by Harald Neumann (Institute of Reconstructive Neurobiology, University of Bonn, Germany) and had been generated and cultured as described.²⁵⁶ Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC; Provitro, Berlin, Germany) were cultured as recommended by the manufacturer and used for experiments at culture passages 5 to 10.

5.3.2 Inflammasome Activation by L-leucyl-L-leucine methyl ester

For inflammasome activation, pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells were primed with 4 ng/mL IL-1a (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany) for 48 hours as described by Tseng and coworkers.¹⁸⁵ Subsequently, cells were treated with 1 mM L-leucyl-L-leucine methyl ester (Leu-Leu-OMe; Bachem, Bubendorf, Switzerland) for 1.5 (pRPE) or 3 hours (ARPE-19) to induce LMP. Lysosomal membrane permeabilization was assessed by acridine orange staining as previously described 10.16 Briefly, cells were incubated with 5 IM acridine orange (AO; SigmaAldrich, Munich, Germany) for 30 minutes and washed with PBS immediately before beginning of the Leu-Leu-OMe treatment. For documentation of AO staining by fluorescence microscopy the rhodamine filter set (excitation 550 nm, emission 650 nm) and fluorescein filter set (excitation 502 nm; emission 526 nm) of an IX71 fluorescence microscope (Olympus, Hamburg, Germany) was used to detect intact lysosomes and nuclei, respectively. For inhibition experiments, RPE cells were treated with 20 IM of specific caspase-1 inhibitor Z-YVAD-FMK (BioVision, Munich, Germany) for 60 minutes or with 50 IM of specific cathepsin B inhibitor CA-074 (Calbiochem, Darmstadt, Germany) for 30 minutes prior to Leu-Leu-OMe treatment. Inflammasome Activation by Lipofuscin Phototoxicity The cell culture model used to induce LMP by lipofuscin phototoxicity has been described in detail.²⁵⁴ Briefly, isolated porcine photoreceptor outer segments (POS) were incubated with 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE) to generate covalently modified POS (HNE-POS) that are stabilized against lysosomal degradation by RPE.^{237,241} Cells were incubated with unmodified POS or HNE-POS (concentration equivalent to 4 lg total POS protein per cm2 cell growth area) daily for 7 days to induce lipofuscinogenesis. For inflammasome priming, 4 ng/mL IL-1a (R&D Systems,

Wiesbaden, Germany) was added to the mediafor the last 48 hours of POS incubation. Lipofuscin-loaded and primed cells were then irradiated with blue light-emitting diode (LED) light (wavelength, 455–460 nm; irradiance in our experimental setting, 0.8mW/cm2; XLamp XP-E royal blue; Cree, Durham, NC, USA) for 6 hours to induced LMP and inflammasome activation. Inhibition of caspase-1 or cathepsin B was performed immediately before blue light irradiation as described above.

5.3.3 Cytokine ELISA Analysis

For quantification of cytokine secretion, we employed specific ELISA assays against human IL-1 β (BD OptEIA Human IL-1 β ELISA Kit II; BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany), human IL-18 (MBL Human IL-18 ELISA Kit; R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA), and human VEGF (Human VEGF Quantikine ELISA Kit; R&D Systems) according to the manufacturers' instructions. The lower limit of detection of the IL-1 β ELISA as determined by the manufacturer is 0.8 pg/mL, and thus well below the concentrations measured in treated cells in our experiments. For collection of media for cytokine analysis, cell culture media was replaced before the experimental treatment (LeuLeu-OMe or blue light irradiation) and collected thereafter. For VEGF measurements, the new media contained 1% fetal bovine serum as recommended by the ELISA manufacturer. In control groups, untreated cells were incubated for a time corresponding to the respective experimental treatment before media were collected.

5.3.4 Cytokine Dot Blot Analysis

Confluent ARPE-19 cells in 6-well plates were primed with IL- 1a and subsequently incubated with Leu-Leu-OMe in 1000 IL serum-free media. Conditioned media were collected immediately after treatment, and concentrations of 42 inflammationand angiogenesis-related cytokines were measured using a protein dot blot assay (RayBio Human Cytokine Antibody Array 3; RayBiotech, Norcross, GA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Appropriate films (Kodak BioMax Light Film; Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany) were exposed to the membranes, and developed films were scanned (Perfection V700 Photo Scanner; Epson, Meerbusch, Germany) before image analysis by ImageJ software (http://imagej.nih.gov/ij/; provided in the public domain by the National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA).

5.3.5 Analysis of Polarization of Cytokine Secretion

Polarized RPE cell monolayers on permeable membranes were generated as described before.²⁵⁷ Briefly, permeable membrane cell culture inserts (polyester membrane; diameter,

12 mm; pore size, 0.4 lm; Transwell-Clear; Corning, Kaiserslautern, Germany) were coated with 1.8 lg/cm2 laminin (SigmaAldrich) for 2 hours at 378C according to the manufacturer's recommendation. Postconfluent, stationary pRPE or ARPE-19 cells were seeded onto the membranes at a confluent density of 1.66 3 105 cells/cm2. Cells were cultured for another 4 weeks before use in experiments. Cell priming and Leu-LeuOMe treatment were performed as described above with addition of the Leu-Leu-OMe to both the apical and the basolateral media. Paracellular permeability of the RPE cell monolayer after Leu-Leu-OMe treatment was analyzed by means of marker dye leakage from the apical to the basolateral compartment using FITC-dextran (molecular weight, 20 kDa; Sigma-Aldrich) as described.²⁵⁷

5.3.6 Microglia Chemotaxis Assay

To obtain conditioned media, ARPE-19 cells were priming with IL-1α and then treated with Leu-Leu-OMe for 1 hour. Cells were washed to remove Leu-Leu-OMe and new media without Leu-Leu-OMe were added for another 2 hours. Control cells were primed with IL-1a but not treated with Leu-Leu-OMe and likewise incubated for 2 hours. Subsequently, conditioned media of treated and control cells were collected for use in the following experiments. For assessment of the chemotactic effects of secreted cytokines on microglia cells, 7 x 10⁴ microglia cells in serumfree medium were added to the upper compartment of a permeable membrane cell culture insert (polycarbonate membrane; diameter, 24 mm; pore size, 8 lm; Transwell; Corning) while the RPE-conditioned media was applied to the lower compartment of the insert. In positive control experiments, unconditioned medium containing 1 IM chemotactic peptide N-formyl-methionine-leucine-phenylalanine (fMLP; Sigma-Aldrich) was applied to the lower compartment. For coculture experiments, ARPE-19 cells were cultured in the lower compartment, primed with IL-1 α , and treated with LeuLeu-OMe for 1 hour, before medium was changed and the upper compartment of the cell culture insert containing the microglia cells was added. All experimental groups were incubated for 6 hours to allow for migration of the microglia cells. Subsequently, cells adherent to the upper side of the permeable membrane were mechanically removed using a cotton swab. Cells that had migrated through the membrane onto its lower surface were stained with crystal violet as described.²³⁸ The dye was then eluted from the cells using 1% SDS. The number of transmigrated microglia cells was assessed by photometric quantification of the eluted dye.

5.3.7 Vascular Endothelial Cell Proliferation and Migration

Retinal pigment epithelium conditioned media were generated as described above for the microglia chemotaxis assay. The effect of conditioned media on vascular endothelial cell

proliferation was analyzed by BrdU cell proliferation assay (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). Human umbilical vein endothelial cells were seeded onto 96-well plates at a subconfluent density of 1.6 x 10⁴ cells/cm² and incubated for 6 hours to allow for cellular attachment. Subsequently, media was replaced by RPE cell conditioned media containing the BrdU label and incubated for another 24 hours. BrdU assay analysis was performed as recommended by the manufacturer. Vascular endothelial cell migration was assessed by scratch assay as described elsewhere.²⁵⁸ In brief, confluent HUVEC monolayers were scraped with a 200-µL pipet tip to create a scratch of defined width. Cells were washed to remove detached cells before incubation with RPE conditioned media for 24 hours. Cell migration was documented by light microscopy (Olympus CKX41 microscope; Olympus) and the number of cells within the scratch area was counted. In each experiment, five wells were analyzed per treatment group.

5.3.8 Paracrine Cytokine Effects on VEGF Secretion

Conditioned media were collected from ARPE-19 cells after 3 hours of incubation with either Leu-Leu-OMe or medium alone. In addition, conditioned media were collected of lipofuscinloaded ARPE-19 cells following irradiation with blue light for 6 hours or following incubation without irradiation for 6 hours. Vascular endothelial growth factor content of conditioned media was measured by ELISA. Untreated ARPE-19 cells were incubated with conditioned media for 24 hours, and VEGF concentration was quantified again. The initial VEGF concentration was subtracted from the final VEGF concentration to allow for specific assessment of VEGF secretion during the 24- hours incubation time.

5.3.9 Statistical Analysis

Experiments were performed in duplicates (see Figs. V.1B, V.2, V.4F) as recommended by the assay manufacturers, triplicates (see Figs. V.3, V.4A–E), or quintuplicates (see Fig. V.4G), and results are presented as mean 6 SD. For statistical analysis, we employed 2-tailed unpaired Student's t-test, and P less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Leu-Leu-OMe Induces LMP and Inflammasome

Activation in ARPE-19 and pRPE Cells We have demonstrated that blue light irradiation of lipofuscinloaded RPE cells activates the NLRP3 inflammasome secondary to induction of LMP and cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes.16 In the current study, we employed a

model of chemically induced LMP by Leu-Leu-OMe that has been demonstrated to likewise result in inflammasome activation in ARPE-19 cells.10 To assess lysosomal membrane integrity, cells were labeled with acridine orange, a fluorescent dye that both intercalates into DNA (green fluorescence) and stains intact lysosomes (red fluorescence). In both ARPE-19 cells and pRPE cells, we observed a marked loss of lysosomal staining after incubation with Leu-Leu-OMe compared with untreated controls, indicating effective induction of LMP by Leu-Leu-OMe in both cell types (Fig. V.1A). When RPE cells were primed with IL-1 α as described by Tseng and coworkers,¹⁸⁵ LMP induction by Leu-Leu-OMe resulted in inflammasome activation with significantly increased secretion of inflammatory cytokines IL-1β and IL-18 in both ARPE-19 and pRPE cells (Fig. V.1B). Inhibition of the inflammasome component caspase-1 by Z-YVAD-FMK suppressed the release of IL-1β and IL-18. Leakage of lysosomal enzymes, particularly cathepsin B, has been described to be involved in NRLP3 inflammasome activation secondary to LMP.^{126,185} Indeed, inhibition of cathepsin B by CA-074 also suppressed IL-1β and IL-18 release. These findings demonstrate that Leu-Leu-OMe-induced LMP induces caspase-1- and cathepsin B-dependent inflammasome activation in both ARPE-19 and pRPE cells.



Figure V.1: Leu-Leu-OMe induces LMP and inflammasome activation in RPE cells. (A) Acridine orange staining visualizes LMP in pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells by loss of red lysosomal staining after incubation with Leu-Leu-OMe. Nuclei are labeled green by acridine orange. Scale bar: 200 μ m. (B) Interleukin-1b and IL-18 secretion was analyzed by ELISA in IL-1 α -primed RPE cells following Leu-Leu-OMe treatment. Caspase-1 and cathepsin B were inhibited in Leu-Leu-OMe-treated cells by Z-YVAD-FMK and CA-074, respectively.

5.4.2 Profile of Secreted Cytokines

Secondary to Inflammasome Activation in RPE Cells After detecting an increased secretion of the inflammasomeregulated cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18, we performed a screening analysis

to identify potential additional cytokines induced by inflammasome activation in RPE cells. For this, protein levels of 42 inflammation- and angiogenesis-related cytokines were analyzed in conditioned media of IL-1 α -primed and Leu-Leu OMe-treated ARPE-19 cells by dot blot analysis. Leu-Leu-OMe treatment resulted in significantly increased secretion of GMCSF (2.8-fold increase, P = 0.027), GRO (CXCL1/2/3; 5.2-fold, P = 0.020), and IL-6 (13.6-fold, P = 0.031) compared with an IL- 1a-primed but not Leu-Leu-OMe-treated control group (Fig. V.2). These results were found consistently in two independent experiments. Inflammasome inhibition by incubation with the caspase-1–specific inhibitor Z-YVAD-FMK partially suppressed the Leu-Leu-OMe-induced increase in secretion of GM-CSF, GRO, and IL-6. In summary, Leu-Leu-OMe-induced LMP in RPE cells resulted in a caspase-1–dependent release of IL-1 β , IL-18, GM-CSF, GRO, and IL-6.



Figure V.2: Profile of secreted cytokines following LMP-induced inflammasome activation in RPE cells. Conditioned media of Leu-Leu-OMe–treated ARPE-19 cells was screened for 42 inflammation- and angiogenesis-related cytokines by dot blot analysis. Results for detected cytokines are shown. Significantly increased secretion was observed for GM-CSF, GRO (CXCL1/2/3), and IL-6. Caspase-1 inhibition by Z-YVAD-FMK partially suppressed this effect. The inset shows consistent results from a second, independent experiment.

5.4.3 Polarization of Cytokine Secretion by RPE Cells and Chemotactic Effects on Microglia Cells

The effects of secreted inflammatory cytokines on adjacent cells and tissues may differ considerably depending on whether the secretion is directed to the apical (neuroretinal) or

basolateral (choroidal) side of the RPE monolayer. To identify the predominant direction of cytokine secretion after inflammasome activation we cultured ARPE-19 and pRPE cells on permeable membranes. We demonstrated previously that the culture conditions employed result in the formation of a polarized cell monolayer with apical microvilli and intercellular tight junctions.²⁵⁷ To verify that Leu-Leu-OMe treatment does not compromise RPE barrier function, we incubated RPE cells with the marker dye FITC-dextran of a molecular weight of 20 kDa, similar to that of IL-1β (17 kDa). FITC-dextran was added in the apical cell culture compartment, and dye leakage into the basolateral compartment was monitored during treatment with Leu-Leu-OMe. The assay demonstrated that the ARPE-19 cell monolayers almost completely prevented leakage between the two compartments and that effects of Leu-Leu-OMe treatment on this barrier function were minimal (Fig. V.3A). We then treated polarized monolayers of pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells on permeable membranes with Leu-Leu-OMe added to both the apical and basolateral media to induce cytokine secretion. Unlike in Figure 1, secretion levels in Figure 3 are displayed as total cytokine mass instead of cytokine concentration to account for different volumes of the apical and basolateral compartments of the cell culture insert. The cells exhibited a significant increase in IL-1ß secretion that was predominantly directed to the apical side (Fig. V.3B). Apical secretion of IL-1β in pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells accounted for at least 69% and 75% of total IL-1β secretion, respectively. The lower IL-1ß levels in pRPE cells compared with ARPE-19 cells may correspond to the different durations of Leu-Leu-OMe treatment of 1.5 and 3 hours, respectively. Similarly to IL-1β, IL- 18 in ARPE-19 cells was predominantly secreted to the apical side, with at least 92% of total secreted IL-18 detectable in the apical medium (Fig. V.3C). Of note, IL-1β and IL-18 in the basolateral medium were almost exclusively detectable in the group treated with 1.0 mM Leu-Leu-OMe that was also the only group that demonstrated some compromise of RPE barrier function in FITC-dextran leakage assay. In contrast, the 0.5 and 0.75 mM Leu-Leu-OMe- treatment groups exhibited both intact barrier function and near-complete lack of cytokines in the basolateral medium. It thus appears possible that cytokines in the 1.0 mM Leu-LeuOMe-treatment group may have reached the basolateral medium by transcellular leakage rather than basolateral secretion and that IL-1ß and IL-18 release after Leu-Leu-OMe treatment occurs in fact almost entirely to the apical side. As apical secretion of inflammatory cytokines in vivo may affect retinal microglia activation and recruitment, we assessed the effects of secreted cytokines on microglia migration in vitro. For this assay, we placed murine embryonic stem cell-derived microglia cells in the upper compartment of a permeable membrane cell culture insert. The number of

microglia cells that transmigrated through the membrane was significantly increased (11.0fold, P = 0.0003) when conditioned media of Leu-Leu-OMe-treated ARPE-19 cells was applied to the lower compartment as compared with conditioned media of untreated control cells (Fig. V.3D). Cocultures of Leu-Leu-OMe-treated ARPE-19 cells in the lower compartment likewise resulted in a chemotactic effect on microglia cells in the upper compartment. The observed effects were comparable to that of the chemotactic peptide fMLP that was used as a positive control. Together, these results suggest that secretion of inflammatory cytokines by RPE cells secondary to inflammasome activation is directed predominantly to the apical side, corresponding to the neuroretinal side in vivo, and that the secreted cytokines exert a chemotactic effect on microglial cells.

5.4.4 Effects of Inflammasome Activation on VEGF Secretion by RPE Cells and Secondary Effects on Vascular Endothelial Cells

Vascular endothelial growth factor plays a central role in CNV formation in neovascular AMD. Inflammasome activation has been suggested to be involved in this process, although the reported effects of different inflammasome-controlled cytokines on VEGF secretion and angiogenesis are divergent.^{233,255,259} Therefore, we investigated the effects of LMP-induced inflammasome activation on VEGF secretion in RPE cells. Interestingly, the constitutive secretion of VEGF was significantly reduced in both pRPE and ARPE-19 cells following inflammasome activation by Leu-Leu-OMe (Figs. V.4A, V.4B). Inhibition of caspase-1 by Z-YVAD-FMK reversed this effect. When LMP was induced in ARPE-19 cells by lipofuscinmediated photooxidative damage as described,²⁵⁴ we likewise detected significantly reduced VEGF secretion (Fig. V.4C). These findings demonstrate that inflammasome activation in RPE cells secondary to LMP, both by Leu-Leu-OMe and by lipofuscin phototoxicity, results in a reduction of constitutive VEGF secretion. Inflammasome-regulated cytokine IL-18 has been shown to reduce VEGF secretion in RPE cells.17 We therefore sought to investigate whether the reduction of VEGF secretion observed in our experiments was a direct effect of inflammasome activation or rather a secondary effects mediated by secreted IL-18. To test for this, we incubated untreated RPE cells with conditioned media of Leu-Leu-OMe-treated RPE cells or conditioned media of untreated control cells (Fig. V.4D). Vascular endothelial growth factor content of conditioned media before incubation was subtracted from VEGF content after incubation to allow for a selective quantification of VEGF secretion by the incubated RPE cells. With this experimental design, we did not detect a significant effect of conditioned media on VEGF secretion. When LMP was induced by lipofuscin phototoxicity



Figure V.3: Polarization of inflammasome-related cytokine secretion in RPE cells and chemotactic effects on microglia cells. (A) The effect of LeuLeu-OMe on barrier function of ARPE-19 monolayers was assessed by permeability assay. For this, a marker dye (FITC-dextran, 20 kDa) with a molecular weight corresponding to that of IL-1β (17 kDa) was added to the apical compartment only, and dye leakage into the basolateral compartment was measured following Leu-Leu-OMe treatment. (B) Polarized monolayers of pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells on permeable membranes were treated with Leu-Leu-OMe for 1.5 and 3 hours, respectively. Subsequently, separate analysis of IL-1 β in the apical and basolateral media revealed that the cytokine was predominantly secreted to the apical cell side. Induction of cytokine secretion by Leu-Leu-OMe was dosedependent, and IL-1ß secretion to the basolateral side was detectable only at higher concentrations of Leu-Leu-OMe. (C) Similarly, secretion of IL-18 in ARPE-19 cells occurred predominantly toward the apical side. (D) To assess chemotactic effects of the released cytokines, murine embryonic stem cell-derived microglia cells were placed in the upper compartment of a permeable membrane cell culture insert. Migration of microglia cells across the membrane into the lower compartment was assessed following application of the following substances or cells to the lower compartment for 6 hours: conditioned media of untreated control ARPE-19 cells (Co), conditioned media of untreated ARPE-19 cells for the first 3 hours and conditioned media of LeuLeuOMe-treated ARPE-19 cells for the last 3 hours (Le3), conditioned media of LeuLeuOMe-treated ARPE-19 cells for the entire 6 hours (Le6), Leu-Leu-OMe-treated ARPE-19 cells (RPE), and unconditioned media containing the chemotactic peptide fMLP as positive control (fMLP). Migration of microglia cells onto the lower side of the permeable membrane was quantified by crystal violet assay and documented by light microscopy. Scale bar: 100 μ m. Significance levels as compared with the respective controls are indicated *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, and ***P < 0.001.

instead of Leu-Leu-OMe, we likewise did not find VEGF secretion to be significantly affected by conditioned media (Fig. V.4E). These results suggest the reduced VEGF secretion observed in our experiments to be a direct effect of inflammasome activation, rather than a secondary effect mediated by released cytokines such as IL-18. Inflammasome-regulated IL-1β has been reported to exert angiogenic effects.^{255,260} Although our experiments demonstrated that inflammasome-induced release of IL-1β by RPE cells occurs predominantly toward the apical side, we also detected a significant increase in basolateral secretion (Fig. V.3B) that could contribute to choroidal angiogenesis in AMD. To determine the prevailing effect on angiogenesis of combined increased IL-1ß release and reduced VEGF secretion as observed after inflammasome activation in RPE cells, we incubated HUVEC with conditioned media of Leu-Leu-OMe- treated RPE cells. Measurements by BrdU assay revealed that incubation with conditioned media of Leu-Leu-OMe-treated cells reduced vascular endothelial cell proliferation by 61% compared with conditioned media of untreated control cells (P 1/4 0.0013; Fig. V.4F). Likewise, analysis by scratch assay demonstrated a reduction of vascular endothelial cell migration by 31% (P ¼ 0.0009; Fig. V.4G). Thus, conditioned media of RPE cells after inflammasome activation reduced vascular endothelial cell proliferation and migration compared with conditioned media of untreated control RPE cells, consistent with the observed reduction in constitutive VEGF secretion.

5.5 Discussion

Various lines of evidence indicate that the chronic innate immune response in the sub-RPE space that is detectable as both local deposition and increased systemic levels of activated complement components represents a key pathogenetic factor in AMD.^{149,231} In a study examining AMD patients with the AMD risk polymorphism of the complement factor H (CFH) gene, increased systemic concentrations have also been reported for the cytokine IL-18, which represents a product of inflammasome activation.²⁶¹ Inflammasome activation in the RPE has been detected in patients with both atrophic and neovascular AMD,^{185,232} and increased intravitreal and systemic levels of the inflammasome-controlled cytokines IL-1β and IL-18 in AMD patients have been reported.^{252,253} However, clinical data regarding inflammasome activation in AMD is still sparse, and more research is needed on the potential contribution of the inflammasome to AMD pathogenesis. Also, the signal for inflammasome activation in AMD is yet unknown, and substances that have been suggested

to provide this signal include drusen components such as C1q²³³ and amyloid-β,²³⁴ Alu RNA accumulating secondary to DICER1 deficiency,²³² the lipofuscin component N-retinylidene-Nretinyl-ethanolamine (A2E)²³⁵ and the lipid peroxidation product 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE).²³⁶ A well-established mechanism of inflammasome activation in various cell types is induction of LMP, for example, by viruses, bacteriotoxins, and phagocytosed crystalline substances.¹⁸⁶ Inflammasome activation by LMP has also been reported to occur in RPE cells.¹⁸⁵ In the aging RPE, lipofuscin accumulates within the lysosomal compartment, and we and others have demonstrated that photoreactive properties of lipofuscin induce LMP in RPE cells.^{96,97} We also demonstrated that lipofuscin phototoxicity, via induction of LMP and cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes, results in inflammasome activation in RPE cells.²⁵⁴ These results make it conceivable that with age, progressive accumulation of lipofuscin together with a declining defensive capacity against photooxidative stress may trigger inflammasome activation in the RPE that contributes to the development of AMD. In contrast to the mechanisms of inflammasome activation in the RPE, the consequences of this mechanism have been investigated less intensively so far, in particular with regard to AMD pathogenesis. In this study, we addressed this question by analyzing the profile of cytokines that are secreted by RPE cells following inflammasome activation. For this, we used an established model for LMP-induced inflammasome activation that employs Leu-Leu-OMe for chemical destabilization of lysosomes.^{126,185} Tseng and coworkers¹⁸⁵ demonstrated that incubation of ARPE-19 cells with Leu-Leu-OMe as also employed in our study induces characteristic features of inflammasome activation such as caspase-1, maturation and release of IL-1B, and cell death by pyroptosis.¹⁸⁵ Using the same model in pRPE and ARPE-19 cells, we observed a significant and caspase-1-dependent increase in secretion of the inflammationrelated cytokines IL-1^β, IL-6, IL- 18, GM-CSF, and GRO family cytokines (CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL3) secondary to LMP-induced inflammasome activation in RPE cells. The cytokines IL-1β and IL-18 are directly regulated by the inflammasome, and thus their increased secretion is most likely a direct result of inflammasome activation. In contrast, IL-6, GM-CSF, and GRO are not considered to be controlled by the inflammasome but are rather upregulated secondary to IL-1ß or IL-18 activity. In particular, IL-1ß has been demonstrated to induce secretion of IL-6, GM-CSF, and GRO in RPE cells.^{262–265} The IL-1β concentrations measured in inflammasomeactivated RPE cells in our experiments are in the range of those determined by previous studies.^{233,235,254} Likewise, the concentrations of IL-18 measured in our study correspond to the range of previously reported levels.^{232,236,254} Secretion of IL- 1ß was

Inflammasome-Related Cytokine Secretion in RPE



Figure V.4: Effect of inflammasome activation on RPE cell VEGF secretion and vascular endothelial cell proliferation and migration. For induction of inflammasome activation by LMP, (A) pRPE cells and (B) ARPE-19 cells were treated with Leu-Leu-OMe alone (Le) or Leu-Leu-OMe and the caspase-1 inhibitor Z-YVAD-FMK (LbZ). Control cells (Co) were left untreated. In both cell types, inflammasome activation resulted in a significant reduction of constitutive VEGF secretion that was dependent on caspase-1 activity. (C) Lysosomal membrane permeabilization induced by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage similarly reduced VEGF secretion in ARPE-19 cells. For this, low or high lipofuscin accumulation was induced by incubation with native photoreceptor outer segments (POS) and HNE-modified POS (HNE-POS), respectively, and lipofuscin-loaded cells were irradiated with blue light for 6 hours. Incubation of untreated ARPE-19 cells with conditioned media of ARPE-19 cells subjected to either (D) Leu-Leu-OMe treatment or (E) lipofuscin phototoxicity did not result in a significant reduction of VEGF secretion, suggesting a direct effect of inflammasome activation on VEGF secretion rather than an indirect effect mediated by the secreted interleukins. The effect of inflammasomeinduced cytokines on human vascular endothelial cell proliferation and migration was assessed by (F) BrdU and (G) scratch assays, respectively. Consistent with the observed reduction in VEGF secretion, incubation with conditioned media of Leu-Leu-OMe-treated ARPE-19 cells resulted in a significant reduction of vascular endothelial cell proliferation and migration as compared with conditioned media of untreated control cells. Scale bar: 250 µm.

significantly higher in polarized RPE cells (Fig. V.3B) compared with unpolarized cells (Fig. V.1B). The observation that polarization increases cytokine expression in RPE cells has been described before. For example, secretion of pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) and VEGF has been reported to be increased 34-fold and 6-fold, respectively, in polarized compared with unpolarized RPE cells.²⁶⁶ Polarization may thus likewise be the cause for the increased secretion of IL-1ß observed in our polarized RPE cell experiments. The identified cytokines may contribute to RPE cell pathology in AMD in various ways. IL-18 has been reported to exert a direct cytotoxic effect on RPE cells in vivo,²³² although this observation has been questioned by others.²⁶⁷ In vitro, no cytotoxic effects on RPE cells have been observed for IL-18 concentrations of up to 10 lg/mL.39 This concentration is five orders of magnitude higher than the IL-18 concentrations measured in conditioned media in our experiments (Fig. V.1B). Therefore, cytotoxic effects of IL-18 in our experiments are notto be expected. Similar to IL-18, IL-6 was described as capable of inducing degeneration of RPE cells.²⁶⁸ In addition to their direct effects on RPE cells, the identified cytokines could induce activation and recruitment of microglia cells, monocytes, and macrophages, which may exert secondary effects on the RPE. We found that secretion of IL-1β and IL-18 was predominantly directed toward the apical side of the RPE monolayer, corresponding to the neuroretinal side in vivo. This is in accordance with the results of previous studies that likewise reported a predominantly apical secretion of inflammatory cytokines by RPE cells following induction by various stimuli.^{269–271} Retinal cell populations that may be affected by the observed apical cytokine secretion include resident microglia cells and infiltrating macrophages. Indeed, activation of these cell types and their migration into the subretinal space has been observed in AMD patients and animal models and have been discussed as a factor contributing to AMD pathogenesis.^{35,272,273} Our experiments demonstrated a significant chemotactic effect of conditioned media from Leu-Leu-OMe- treated RPE cells on microglia cells, supporting a role of inflammasome-related cytokines in microglia recruitment. Via the apically polarized secretion of inflammatory cytokines and the chemotactic effects on microglia cells, LMPmediated inflammasome activation in the RPE as observed secondary to lipofuscin phototoxicity may contribute to microglia/macrophages activation and recruitment in vivo in retinal pathologies such as AMD. For the evaluation of the inflammasome as a potential new therapeutic target in neovascular AMD, the knowledge of downstream effects of inflammasome activation is crucial. However, previous reports on the effects of inflammasome activation on CNV formation are ambiguous. The two classical inflammasome-induced cytokines, IL-1ß and IL-18, have been reported to induce and inhibit VEGF secretion by RPE cells, respectively.^{233,259} Similarly, IL-1β and IL-18 have been demonstrated to promote and suppress CNV formation in mice, respectively,^{233,255} whereas others did not find CNV formation to be affected by IL-18.²⁷⁴ We sought to elucidate the angiogenesisrelated effects of inflammasome activation in the RPE. Interestingly, we found that LMP-induced inflammasome activation in RPE cells does not result in an increase but rather in a significant reduction of the cells' constitutive secretion of VEGF. Consistently, conditioned media of RPE cells following inflammasome activation reduced proliferation and migration of vascular endothelial cells compared with conditioned media of untreated control cells. In addition to the reduction in VEGF secretion, the released IL-18 may add to this effect due to its suggested antiangiogenic properties.²³³ While our experiments demonstrate reduced VEGF secretion by RPE cells following inflammasome activation, inflammatory cytokines released by RPE cells after inflammasome activation in vivo may exert indirect angiogenic effects via other cell types such as recruited microglia cells.³⁵ Both a priming signal and an activation signal are required for inflammasome activation. In IL-1q-primed RPE cells, we found that LMP induced by lipofuscin phototoxicity results in activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome²⁵⁴ and in the current study this mechanism was associated with a significant reduction in constitutive VEGF secretion. In contrast, the isolated lipofuscin component A2E has been shown to induce VEGF secretion in unprimed ARPE-19 cells.²⁷⁵ After priming of ARPE-19 cells with IL-1a, A2E treatment resulted in both inflammasome activation and induction of VEGF secretion.²³⁵ Similar to lipofuscin, phototoxicity of A2E has been shown to induce LMP97 and blue light irradiation of unprimed A2E-loaded ARPE-19 cells induced an increase in VEGF secretion.²⁷⁶ Whether A2E phototoxicity in primed cells results in a reduction of VEGF secretion similar to our results for lipofuscin phototoxicity still needs to be investigated. Following up on our previous investigation describing the mechanism of LMP-induced inflammasome activation induced by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage in RPE cells, our current study identifies the cytokine profile secreted by RPE cells following LMP-induced inflammasome activation. While secretion of VEGF is suppressed after inflammasome activation, several inflammatory cytokines are significantly induced and secreted predominantly to the apical RPE side. Via this mechanism, photooxidative damage to the RPE may trigger local immune processes such as activation and recruitment of retinal microglia/macrophages, and thus contribute to the chronic innate immune response in AMD.

VI. Complement component C5a primes retinal pigment epithelial cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscinmediated photooxidative damage

Carolina Brandstetter, Frank G. Holz, Tim U. Krohne

From the Department of Ophthalmology, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

J Biol Chem. 2015 Dec 25;290(52):31189-98. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.671180

6.1 Abstract

Complement activation, oxidative damage, and activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome have been implicated in retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) pathology in age-related macular degeneration (AMD). Following priming of RPE cells, the NLRP3 inflammasome can be activated by various stimuli such as lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage to lysosomal membranes. We investigated whether products of complement activation are capable of providing the priming signal for the inflammasome in RPE cells. Incubation of primary human RPE cells and ARPE-19 cells with complement-competent human serum resulted in upregulation of C5a receptor, but not C3a receptor. Furthermore, it induced expression of pro-IL-1β and enabled IL-1β secretion in response to lipofuscin phototoxicity, thus indicating inflammasome priming by human serum. Complement heat-inactivation, C5 depletion, and C5a receptor inhibition suppressed the priming effect of human serum whereas recombinant C5a likewise induced priming. Conditioned media of inflammasomeactivated RPE cells provided an additional priming effect that was mediated by the IL-1 receptor. These results indicate that complement activation product C5a represents a priming signal for RPE cells that allows for subsequent inflammasome activation by stimuli such as lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage. This molecular pathway provides a functional link between key factors of AMD pathogenesis including lipofuscin accumulation, photooxidative damage, complement activation, and RPE degeneration and may provide novel therapeutic targets in this disease.

6.2 Introduction

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is the leading cause of blindness in all industrialized countries.²³⁰ For the majority of patients, in particular those affected by the intermediate stage and the atrophic late stage of the disease, there is currently no effective treatment available. Elucidating the still unresolved pathogenesis of this multifactorial, complex disease will help to identify potential targets for therapeutic intervention. The retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), a monolayer of post-mitotic support cells essential for photoreceptor function, is primarily affected by AMD. Oxidative/photooxidative damage to the RPE contributes to AMD, and antioxidative treatment has been demonstrated to slow disease progression in clinical trials.³ This damage is believed to be mediated at least in part by the photoreactive properties of lipofuscin and lipofuscin component A2E that accumulate in the macular RPE in large amounts over a lifetime.^{277,278} In addition, several lines of

evidence indicate that processes of the innate immune system play a critical role in the pathogenesis of AMD. Activated components of the complement system such as C3a and C5a are detectable both locally in the sub-RPE space and systemically in plasma of AMD patients.^{149,231} Genetic polymorphisms in several complement components and regulators such as CFH, C2, C3, and CFB are strongly associated with AMD.²⁷⁹ Another part of the innate immune system, the NLRP3 inflammasome, has recently been proposed to also contribute to AMD pathogenesis. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in RPE cells was demonstrated in both atrophic and neovascular AMD,^{185,232} and increased intravitreal and systemic levels of the inflammasome activation products IL-1ß and IL-18 have been reported in AMD patients.^{252,253} The inflammasome protein complex serves as an intracellular sensor for various signals of cell damage.¹⁸⁶ Its activation results in the secretion of highly proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1β and IL-18 and eventually in cell death by pyroptosis. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome is a two-step process that requires an initial priming signal and a subsequent activation signal.¹⁸⁶ The priming signal results in NF-κB–dependent transcriptional induction of NLRP3 and pro-IL- 1β. The activation signal subsequently triggers assembly of NLRP3 and other protein components into the active inflammasome protein complex that results in caspase-1- mediated cleavage of pro-IL-1β and pro-IL-18 into mature IL-1ß and IL-18. Several substances have been suggested to provide the inflammasome activation signal in AMD including drusen components such as C1g²³³ and amyloid-beta,²³⁴ Alu RNA accumulation secondary to DICER1 deficiency,²³² the lipofuscin component Nretinylidene-N-retinylethanolamine (A2E),²³⁵ and the lipid peroxidation product 4hydroxynonenal (HNE).²³⁶ We have recently suggested an additional mechanism by demonstrating that photooxidative damage to the RPE, enhanced by accumulated lipofuscin, can activate the NLRP3 inflammasome by inducing lysosomal membrane permeabilisation and cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes.^{254,280} In contrast to inflammasome activation, the mechanism of inflammasome priming in AMD has been little investigated so far. Interestingly, a recent study in patients with early or intermediate AMD demonstrated the CFH risk genotype to be associated with significantly increased plasma levels of the inflammasomeregulated cytokine IL-18, suggesting a role for activated complement components like C3a and C5a in inflammasome activation in AMD.²⁶¹ Inflammasome priming by complement activation products has also been proposed in the context of other diseases such as atherosclerosis and gout.^{281,282} In this study, we investigated the capacity of activated complement components to prime human RPE cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage.

6.3 Experimental Procedures

6.3.1 Cell culture and treatments.

Human fetal primary RPE (pRPE) cells (Clonetics H-RPE; Lonza, Cologne, Germany) were cultured in medium provided by the manufacturer (Clonetics RtEGM; Lonza) containing 2% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) and were used in experiments for a maximum of 6 cell culture passages. The human non-transformed RPE cell line ARPE-19 (CRL-2302; ATCC, Rockville, MD, USA) was cultured as previously reported using medium containing 10% heat-inactivated FBS.²³⁷ For inflammasome priming, culture medium was exchanged by FBS-free medium supplemented with the indicated priming agents as described below. For analysis of C5a receptor (C5aR) expression, cells were treated with 50 ng/ml C5a (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany).^{283,284} Cathepsin B inhibitor CA-074 (Merck/Calbiochem, Darmstadt, Germany) and cathepsin L inhibitor Z-FF-FMK (Merck/Calbiochem) were used at a concentration of 10 µM each for 1 h prior to and during irradiation treatment. For inhibition of caspase-1, we applied 10 µM of Z-YVAD-FMK (BioVision, Munich, Germany) 30 min prior to and during irradiation. Binding to C5aR was blocked using 0.5 µM of an inhibitory mouse monoclonal IgG antibody directed against human C5aR (clone S5/1; Biolegend, Fell, Germany). The drug anakinra (Kineret; Swedish Orphan Biovitrum, Langen, Germany) was used at a concentration of 100 ng/ml to inhibit the IL-1 receptor (IL1R).

6.3.2 Immunocytochemistry and western blot analysis

For immunocytochemical detection of ZO-1 and C5aR, cells were stained with a rabbit polyclonal anti human ZO-1 antibody (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) and a mouse monoclonal anti human C5aR antibody (clone S5/1; Biolegend, Fell, Germany), respectively. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for immunocytochemistry. No cell permeabilisation agent was applied prior to immunodetection of C5aR to limit this staining to cell membrane proteins. For western blot analysis of C5aR and pro-IL- 1 β , we employed a mouse monoclonal anti human C5aR antibody (clone S5/1; Biolegend, Fell, Germany) and a goat polyclonal anti human IL-1 β antibody (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany), respectively. Cells were lysed using RIPA buffer, and total protein content of cell lysates was quantified by Bradford assay (Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany). Equal amounts of 50 µg total protein per sample were separated by electrophoresis in 4-12% SDS–polyacrylamide gels (Lonza, Cologne, Germany) prior to transfer onto nitrocellulose membranes (Thermo Scientific) and subsequent immunodetection.

6.3.3 RT-PCR and quantitative real-time PCR

For conventional RT-PCR, isolation of total RNA from RPE cells and reverse transcription into cDNA was carried out with the Power SYBR Green Cells-to-Ct Kit (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) as recommended by the manufacturer. PCR was performed with 40 cycles using the KAPA2G Fast PCR Kit (PEQLAB Biotechnologie, Erlangen, Germany). The primers used for detection of C5aR, C3a receptor (C3aR), and C5a-like receptor 2 (C5L2) have been described.²⁸⁵ For human glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), we employed the sense primer 5'-CTCTGCTCCTGTTCGAC-3' and the antisense primer 5'-GCGCCCAATACGACCAAATC-3'. PCR products were run on 2% agarose gel with a 100 bp DNA ladder marker (Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany). The negative control contained all PCR components but no cDNA template. Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) was performed using again the Power SYBR Green Cells-to-Ct Kit (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol on a real-time PCR system (LightCycler 480 II; Roche, Basel, Switzerland) with the primers described above. The amount of target mRNA in test samples was normalized to GAPDH, and the comparative Ct method was used to evaluate gene expression.

6.3.4 Inflammasome priming

For inflammasome priming, cells were treated with the indicated priming agents during the last 48 h of incubation with photoreceptor outer segments (POS). For priming with interleukins, cells were treated with 4 ng/ml recombinant human IL-1 α (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany)¹⁸⁵ or 50 pg/ml recombinant human IL-1 β (R&D Systems). For priming with normal human serum (NHS), full blood was drawn from a healthy donor into anticoagulant-free tubes. Blood samples were sedimented at room temperature for 30 minutes. Serum was separated by centrifugation (2000g, 5 minutes) and immediately stored at -80°C. Heat inactivation of complement components was performed by incubating NHS in a water bath of 56°C for 30 min. For inflammasome priming, NHS, heat-inactivated NHS, or C5-depleted human serum (Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany) was added to FBS-free cell culture media at a concentration of 25% each. In an additional treatment group, cell culture media containing C5-deficient serum were resupplemented with 50 ng/ml C5a (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany).

6.3.5 Inflammasome activation

Following inflammasome priming, inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage was induced in RPE cells as previously described.²⁵⁴ Briefly, isolated

porcine POS were covalently modified with the lipid peroxidation product HNE (5 mM) to stabilize them against lysosomal degradation.²⁴¹ RPE cells were incubated with modified POS (concentration equivalent to 4 mg total POS protein per cm² cell growth area) daily for 7 days, resulting in lipofuscinogenesis.²³⁷ During the last 48 h of POS treatment, cells were co-incubated with the respective priming agent as indicated. Subsequently, medium was changed, and cells were irradiated with blue light (peak wave length, 448 nm; irradiance, 0.8 mW/cm²) for the indicated times of up to 6 h to induce photooxidative lysosomal membrane permeabilisation and subsequent NLRP3 inflammasome activation.²⁵⁴ Irrespective of the duration of irradiation, media were collected 6 h after the medium change in all treatment and control groups. Secretion of IL-1 β secondary to inflammasome activation was measured by specific ELISA (BD OptEIA Human IL-1 β ELISA Kit II; BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany). To analyze loss of plasma membrane integrity secondary to inflammasome mediated cell death, we assessed lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release (Cytotoxicity Detection Kit; Roche, Mannheim, Germany).

6.3.6 Priming by conditioned media.

Conditioned media were obtained from ARPE-19 cells following inflammasome activation by lipofuscin phototoxicity. This was induced by HNE-POS incubation, IL-1 α priming, and blue ight irradiation as described above. Before the start of irradiation, cells were washed and medium was changed. After 6 h of irradiation, conditioned media were collected for use in priming experiments. In control experiments, inflammasome activation was achieved by treatment with L-leucyl-L-leucine methyl ester (Leu-Leu-OMe).¹⁸⁵ For this, ARPE-19 cells were primed by IL-1 α , incubated with 1mM Leu-Leu-OMe (Bachem, Bubendorf, Switzerland) for 1 h, washed, and incubated with new medium without Leu-Leu-OMe for another 2 h before conditioned media were collected. For inflammasome priming by conditioned media, treatment-naive cells were incubated with conditioned media of HNE-POS/blue lighttreated or Leu-Leu-OMe-treated cells for 48 h.

6.3.7 Statistical Analysis

Experiments were performed in duplicates (Fig. VI.3A, VI.3C, VI.4A, VI.4C, VI.6A, VI.6B) following the assay manufacturer's recommendation or in triplicates (Fig. VI.2, VI.3B, VI.3D, VI.4B, VI.4D). Results are presented as mean ± standard deviation. Statistical analysis was performed using paired (Fig. VI.2) or unpaired (Fig. VI.3, VI.4, VI.6) two-tailed Student's t tests (Microsoft Excel 2013; Microsoft, Redmond, WA, USA). Differences were considered statistically significant at p<0.05. In experiments with multiple group comparisons (Fig. VI.3,

VI.4), significant differences were confirmed by additional analysis using one-way ANOVA with post-hoc analysis by Tukey's range test (GraphPad InStat 3.06, GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA).

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Anaphylatoxin receptors C3aR, C5aR, and C5L2 are constitutively expressed by human RPE cells.

C3a and C5a represent the two dominant anaphylatoxins during complement activation. C3a binds to C3aR. C5a is a ligand for both C5aR and C5L2 with most biological effects being mediated by C5aR. Expression of C5aR and C3aR has been demonstrated in ARPE-19 cells.^{241,283,285} Expression of C5aR in RPE cells has also been detected by immunohistochemistry of human donor eyes where it was found to be localized predominantly on the basolateral cell side.²⁸⁶ We extended these previous studies by investigating the expression of C3aR, C5aR, and C5L2 on ARPE-19 and pRPE cells. Under the culture conditioned employed in our experiments, both cell types exhibited characteristics of differentiated RPE cells including epithelial monolayer formation, hexagonal cell morphology, and intracellular ZO-1-positive tight junctions (Fig. VI.1A). In both RPE cell types, we detected constitutive expression of all three anaphylatoxin receptors (Fig. VI.1B).

6.4.2 C5aR, but not C3aR, is upregulated following incubation with activated

complement.

In normal human serum (NHS) in vitro, complement activation occurs rapidly when incubated at 37°C, and thus complementcompetent NHS in vitro is a rich source for complement activation products even without addition of complement activators such as zymosan.²⁸⁷ In contrast, heating of NHS to 56°C for 30 min inactivates complement components and prevents complement activation but preserves the activity of other less heat-labile serum proteins. To assess the effects of activated complement components on anaphylatoxin receptors in human RPE cells, we measured expression of C5aR and C3aR in ARPE-19 cells and pRPE cells after incubation with complement-competent NHS and heatinactivated NHS (HI-NHS) by qPCR analysis. Studies investigating the time course of C5aR expression in ARPE-19 cells following stimulation with inflammatory cytokines reported a upregulation with a maximum after 6 hours for mRNA expression and after 24 hours for cell surface protein expression.²⁸³ We likewise found that incubation of ARPE-19 cells with complement-


Figure VI.1: Anaphylatoxin receptors C5aR, C3aR, and C5L2 are constitutively expressed by human RPE cells. (A) human RPE cell line ARPE-19 cells and primary human RPE cells (pRPE) were used for expression analysis. Both RPE cell types exhibited RPE-characteristic morphology in cell culture, including epithelial cell monolayer formation with polygonal cell shape and intercellular tight junction formation as evident from immunostaining of ZO-1 (green). Nuclei were visualized by DAPI staining (blue). Scale bar, 50 μm. (B), expression of C5aR (PCR product, 500 bp), C3aR (585 bp), and C5L2 (585 bp) in RPE cells was analyzed by RT-PCR. Expression of GAPDH (121 bp) was used as a positive control. PCR reaction mix without cDNA template served as negative control (Neg).

competent NHS induced a significant upregulation of C5aR expression (p=0.007) with a peak 6-fold induction after 6 hours (Fig. VI.2A). Heat inactivation of complement components completely prevented the effect of NHS on C5aR expression (Fig. VI.2B). In contrast to C5aR, expression of C3aR was not significantly affected by incubation with complementcompetent NHS (Fig. VI.2C). Similar to NHS, recombinant C5a induced a maximum 6-fold upregulation of C5aR expression in ARPE-19 cells (p=0.011) after 6 hours (Fig. VI.2D). This result was confirmed in pRPE cells which likewise exhibited a significant upregulation of C5aR epression (p=0.0097) following incubation with C5a (Fig. VI.2E). Western blot analysis performed in ARPE-19 cells at different time points up to 24 hours after beginning of an incubation with C5a for 6 hours confirmed that the observed mRNA induction resulted in increased C5aR protein expression (Fig. VI.2F). Similarly, immunocytochemistry performed without cell permeabilisation demonstrated increased C5aR cell surface staining in ARPE-19 cells 24 hours following start of a C5a incubation for 6 hours (Fig. VI.2G). Our findings indicate that human RPE cells respond to incubation with activated complement components by upregulation of C5aR mRNA expression whereas expression of C3aR is not affected. These results suggest C5aR as a mediator of complement effects on RPE cells and triggered us to further investigate C5a as a potential priming signal for the NLRP3 inflammasome in RPE cells.



Figure VI.2: C5aR, but not C3aR, is up-regulated following incubation with activated complement. Using qPCR, we analyzed expression kinetics of (A) C5aR in ARPE-19 cells incubated with complement-competent NHS, (B) C5aR in ARPE-19 cells incubated with heat-inactivated NHS, (C) C3aR in ARPE-19 cells incubated with complement-competent NHS, (D) C5aR in ARPE-19 cells incubated with recombinant human C5a, and (E) C5aR in pRPE cells incubated with recombinant human C5a. Target mRNAs were normalized to GAPDH. Experiments were performed in triplicates, and results are presented as mean standard deviation. F, increased expression of C5aR protein (37 kDa) following priming with C5a was detected by (F) Western blot analysis and (G) immunocytochemistry in ARPE-19 cells.

6.4.3 NHS primes RPE cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage.

We previously demonstrated that the in vitro model of lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage in RPE cells employed in this study results in activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome with activation of caspase-1 and subsequent release of IL-1 β and IL-18.^{254,280} For our experiments, ARPE-19 cells and pRPE cells were incubated with unmodified POS or POS modified with the lipid peroxidation product HNE (HNE-POS) to induce intracellular accumulation of low and high levels of lipofuscin-like material, respectively. Subsequently, lipofuscin-loaded RPE cells were irradiated with blue light for up to 6 h. Inflammasome activation was assessed by means of inflammasome-regulated IL-1 β secretion and inflammasome-induced pyroptotic cell death in both ARPE-19 cells (Fig. VI.3A, B) and pRPE

cells (Fig. VI.3C, D). Without prior inflammasome priming, no inflammasome activation was detectable in RPE cells following blue light irradiation. In contrast, in positive control cells treated with the priming agent IL-1 α ,¹⁸⁵ blue light irradiation resulted in significant inflammasome activation with IL-1 β secretion and pyroptosis. Inflammasome activation increased with light dose. Incubation with NHS exerted a strong priming effect similar to IL-1 α . Inflammasome activation of NHSprimed cells was dependent on activity of the inflammasome component caspase-1 and the lysosomal enzyme cathepsin B, consistent with the previously reported mechanism of inflammasome activation by lysosomal enzyme leakage.²⁵⁴ There was good agreement between results in ARPE-19 cells and pRPE cells. The data demonstrate that complementcompetent NHS contains a factor capable of providing the priming signal for subsequent inflammasome activation in RPE cells.

6.4.4 Complement component C5a is the active priming agent in NHS.

To identify the active priming agent in NHS, different complement components were inhibited during priming, and subsequent inflammasome activation by lipofuscin/blue light treatment was assessed again by means of IL-1β secretion and cell death in ARPE-19 cells (Fig. VI.4A, B) and pRPE cells (Fig. VI.4C, D). First, we inactivated all complement components in NHS by heating. We found that the priming effect of NHS was completely suppressed after heat inactivation, suggesting that heat-labile serum components such as complement components mediate inflammasome priming by NHS. To further delineate the responsible complement component in NHS, cells were treated with a C5aR inhibitor during priming with NHS with resulted in a significant reduction of the priming effect. Likewise, depletion of C5 prevented the priming effect of NHS. Supplementation with recombinant C5a resulted in complete restoration of the priming capacity of C5-depleted NHS. To confirm that the observed IL-1ß secretion is indeed a result of inflammasome priming we analyzed the induction of pro-IL-1ß protein expression that represents a key element of inflammasome priming. In agreement with our results regarding IL-1ß secretion, pro-IL-1ß protein expression in ARPE-19 cells was strongly induced by incubation with IL-1a, NHS, or C5a as compared with control cells incubated with heat-inactivated NHS or C5-depleted NHS (Fig. VI.5). As previous studies demonstrated that ARPE-19 cells, unlike other cell types, constitutively express NLRP3 even in unprimed conditions and do not induce NLRP3 expression after priming¹⁸⁵ we did not include NLRP3 in this analysis. In summary, our results identify the complement component C5a as the active priming agent in NHS and demonstrate that C5a is capable of priming human RPE cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage.



Figure VI.3: NHS primes RPE cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage. ARPE-19 cells (A, B) and pRPE cells (C, D) were incubated with unmodified POS (POS) or HNE-modified POS (HNE) to induce lipofuscinogenesis whereas control cells were incubated without POS (Co.). Lipofuscinloaded cells were primed for inflammasome activation by treatment with IL-1, complement-competent normal human serum (NHS), NHS, and caspase-1 inhibitor Z-YVAD-FMK, or NHS and cathepsin B inhibitor CA-074. Subsequently, inflammasome activation was induced by cell irradiation with blue light for 3 or 6 h. Inflammasome activation under these experimental conditions was measured by means of inflammasome-regulated secretion of IL-1 (A, C) and inflammasome-induced cytotoxicity (LDH release) (B, D). Experiments were performed in duplicates (A, C) following the assay manufacturer's recommendation or in triplicates (B, D), and results are presented as mean S.D.

6.4.5 Inflammasome priming in RPE cells is enhanced by a paracrine amplification loop.

Inflammasome priming involves induction of IL-1β expression, and IL-1β is known to induce ist own expression by an auto-/paracrine amplification loop.^{288,289} Therefore, we investigated whether inflammasome activation in RPE cells results in paracrine priming of the inflammasome in neighboring RPE cells. To test for this, we performed priming experiments with conditioned media of cells following inflammasome activation. First, ARPE-19 cells were incubated with HNE-POS to induce lipofuscin accumulation, primed with IL-1a, and subsequently irradiated with blue light to trigger inflammasome activation as described above. As a positive control, inflammasome activation was induced in ARPE-19 cells by IL-1α priming and subsequent treatment with Leu-Leu-OMe¹⁸⁵ We confirmed that inflammasome activation resulted in a significant induction of IL-1ß secretion in both treatment groups (Fig. VI.6A). Conditioned media of lipofuscin/blue lighttreated and Leu-Leu-OMe-treated RPE cells were collected for further priming experiments. In a second step, new, untreated ARPE-19 cells were loaded with lipofuscin by HNE-POS treatment, incubated with the collected conditioned media for 48 h, thoroughly washed to remove any IL-1ß contained in the conditioned media, and irradiated with blue light. Subsequently, inflammasome activation was assessed by measuring IL-1 β secretion. In these experiments, conditioned media derived from both lipofuscin/blue light-treated and LeuLeu-OMe-treated cells exerted a strong priming effect that enabled inflammasome activation (Fig. VI.6B). However, when cells were coincubated with the IL1R-inhibitory drug anakinra during priming with conditioned media from lipofuscin/blue light-treated cells, the priming effect was significantly reduced (p=0.020). This indicates that the priming effect of conditioned media is mediated by an IL1R ligand such as IL-1β. Indeed, incubation of RPE cells with recombinant IL-1β alone instead of conditioned media likewise resulted in a strong priming effect. Additional analysis of inflammasome priming by means of pro-IL-1ß protein expression produces results consistent with IL-1β secretion measurements (Fig. VI.6C). As described above, conditioned media were collected from ARPE- 19 cells following priming with IL-1a, treatment with HNE-POS, and irradiation with blue light. Incubation of new, untreated ARPE-19 cells with the conditioned media resulted in marked induction of pro-IL-1ß protein expression as compared with unprimed control cells incubated with unconditioned media. The induction of pro-IL-1^β was partially suppressed when cells were co-incubate with the IL1R inhibitor anakinra during priming.



Figure VI.4: Complement component C5a is the active priming agent in NHS. ARPE-19 cells (A,B) and pRPE cells (C,D) were examined. Treatment groups and labels are identical to Fig. VI.3. However, inflammasome priming in this experiment was performed by incubation with complement-competent normal human serum (NHS), heat-inactivated human serum (HI-NHS), NHS and a C5aR inhibitory antibody, C5-deficient NHS, or C5-deficient NHS and recombinant human C5a. Inflammasome activation was assessed be means of secretion of IL-1 (A,C) and cytotoxicity (B,D). Experiments were performed in duplicates (A,C) following the assay manufacturer's recommendation or in triplicates (B,D), and results are presented as mean S.D.

Together, these results indicate that during inflammasome activation in RPE cells in vitro, inflammasome-regulated cytokines such as IL-1 β initiate a paracrine amplification loop of inflammasome priming that is amendable to intervention by IL1R-inhibitory drugs.

6.5 Discussion

Blue light irradiation of RPE cells in the presence of oxygen results in generation of reactive oxygen species in a lipofuscindependent manner.²⁷⁷ and subsequent permeabilisation of lysosomal membranes by oxidative damage.^{96,97} We have previously shown that lysosomal membrane permeabilisation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage activates the NLRP3 inflammasome in primed RPE cells.^{254,280} This mechanism may underlie the inflammasome activation observed in the RPE of AMD patients.^{185,232} and may contribute to RPE pathology in this disease. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome is a posttranscriptionally regulated event mediated by assembly of inflammasome components and subsequent proteolytic maturation of interleukin precursors. In most cells, however, inflammasome component NLRP3 and interleukin precursor proIL-1 are not expressed constitutively or only to low amounts. Therefore, inflammasome activation requires a prior priming signal to induce expression of these proteins. Most previous studies including our own investigated the mechanisms of inflammasome activation in RPE cells by utilizing wellestablished priming agents such as LPS and IL-1α.^{185,235,236,254,280} However, the relevance of these substances as priming agents of the RPE in vivo in the context of AMD is unclear. We therefore investigate activated complement components as potential priming agents in RPE cells. Chronic complement activation is associated with AMD, and activated complement components like C3a and C5a are deposited in the sub-RPE space in AMD.¹⁴⁹ Thus, RPE cells are in constant, direct contact with these bioactive substances that, therefore, represent candidates for the inflammasome priming signal in AMD via anaphylatoxin receptors such as C5aR that is expressed on the basolateral side of the RPE.²⁸⁶ Indeed, AMD patients with the CFH risk genotype exhibit significantly increased systemic levels of the inflammasomeregulated cytokine IL-18 as compared with AMD patients without the CFH risk genotype, supporting a role for activated complement components in inflammasome activation in AMD.²⁶¹ In other autoinflammatory diseases such as atherosclerosis and gout, inflammasome priming by complement activation products has likewise been proposed.^{281,282} To elucidate the role of complement activation products in inflammasome activation in AMD, we studied the capacity of activated complement components to provide the priming signal in



Figure VI.5: Priming by C5a induces expression of pro-IL-1 β **protein.** Expression of pro-IL-1 β protein (36 kDa) was assessed in ARPE-19 cells following priming with IL-1 α , complement-competent normal human serum (NHS), recombinant human C5a, heat inactivated human serum (HI-NHS), or C5-deficient NHS.

human RPE cells for subsequent NLRP3 inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage. Our experiments were performed in the human RPE cell line ARPE-19 and primary fetal human RPE cells. In both cell types be detected constitutive expression of the anaphylatoxin receptors C5aR, C3aR, and C5L2. Employing inflammasome-regulated IL-1ß secretion and inflammasome-mediated pyroptotic cell death as measures for inflammasome activation, we demonstrated distinct priming effects for activated complement in human serum as well as for recombinant C5a. Complement heatinactivation, C5 depletion, and C5a receptor inhibition suppressed the priming effect of human serum, indicating that C5a represents the active priming agent in complement-activated human serum. Priming by C5a enabled subsequent inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage. Inflammasome activation was dependent on activity of caspase-1 and cathepsin B. Unlike the priming signal, complement-activated serum and C5a were found to be unable to provide the activation signal and, thus, to directly induce inflammasome activation in RPE cells which is consistent with previous reports.²⁹⁰ Proteins covalently modified with the lipid peroxidation product carboxy-ethylpyrrole (CEP) have been reported to prime the NLRP3 inflammasome via TLR2.²³³ However, subsequent reports have guestioned the priming ability of CEP-adducted proteins and rather found it to potentiate inflammasome priming by other signals.²⁹¹ In our experiments, we did not observe a priming effect of HNE-adducted POS in RPE cells. For example, inflammasome activation was not inducible in cells incubated with HNE-POS alone (Fig. VI.3, unprimed group) but only in cells co-incubated with the priming agent IL-1a (Fig. VI.3, IL-1a group). In similar experiments, we determined that POS modified by malondialdehyde (MDA) likewise did not induce inflammasome priming in RPE cells (data not shown). Thus, proteins modified by the lipid peroxidation products HNE and MDA do not seem to represent inflammasome priming signals for the RPE. While immunological and inflammatory processes are usually believed to contribute to AMD pathogenesis in a detrimental way, the role of inflammasome activation in AMD is still controversial and may vary depending on disease stage and subtype. Inflammasome activation in retinal microglial cells and macrophages has been suggested to reduce choroidal neovascularization via IL-18 and thus to be protective in neovascular AMD.^{233,292} In contrast, inflammasome activation in RPE cells has been reported to result in RPE degeneration which may contribute to the development of atrophic AMD.^{232,293} While patients with neovascular AMD can be effectively treated with VEGF blocking drugs, no effective therapeutic options are currently available for atrophic AMD. Therefore, the unmed need for identification of potential pharmaceutical targets in atrophic AMD is of crucial importance for clinical ophthalmology. Inhibitors of C5 and C5a as well as of complement components upstream of C5a generation such as CFD and C3 are currently evaluated in clinical studies in patients with AMD. In our study, inhibition of the C5a/C5aR axis reduced inflammasome activation by lipofuscin phototoxicity in RPE cells.



Figure VI.6: Inflammasome priming in RPE cells is enhanced by a paracrine amplification loop. A, inflammasome activation was induced in IL-1- α primed ARPE-19 cells by HNE-POS/blue light treatment or incubation with Leu-Leu-OMe. Cells treated with HNE-POS but without blue light irradiation served as controls. Conditioned medium of these cells was collected. B, subsequently, new ARPE-19 cells were primed with conditioned medium of HNE-POS-treated control cells, conditioned medium of HNE-POS/blue light-treated cells, and the IL1R inhibitory drug anakinra, conditioned medium of Leu-Leu-OMe-treated cells or recombinant human IL-1 β . Inflammasome activation in all treatment groups was induced by HNE-POS/blue light treatment and analyzed by means of IL-1 secretion. C, expression of pro-IL-1 β protein (36 kDa) was assessed in ARPE-19 cells following priming with either conditioned medium of HNE-POS/blue light-treated cells or conditioned medium of HNE-POS/blue light-treated cells or conditioned medium of HNE-POS/blue light-treated cells or analyzed by means of IL-1 secretion. C, expression of pro-IL-1 β protein (36 kDa) was assessed in ARPE-19 cells following priming with either conditioned medium of HNE-POS/blue light-treated cells or conditioned medium of HNE-POS/blue light-treated cells and co-incubation with the IL1R inhibitor anakinra, as well as in unprimed control cells. Experiments (A, B) were performed in duplicates following the assay manufacturer's recommendation, and results are presented as mean S.D.

This result supports the rational for therapeutic complement inhibition in atrophic AMD. Moreover, our results suggest the presence of a paracrine amplification loop of inflammasome priming in RPE cells via IL1R. Treatment by the IL1Rinhibitory drug anakinra significantly reduced inflammasome activation in our in vitro experiments, thus providing another potential treatment strategy. Finally, direct therapeutic interference with inflammasome activation has been demonstrated to be effective in vivo, for example using small molecules that provide specific inhibition of NLRP3,²⁹⁴ and could be tested in future clinical trials for AMD. In summary, our study identifies complement component C5a as a priming agent for the inflammasome in RPE cells that enables subsequent NLRP3 inflammasome activation by stimuli such as lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage. This molecular pathway links hallmark events of AMD pathogenesis including complement activation, lipofuscin accumulation, oxidative damage, and RPE degeneration and may provide novel treatment targets. Inflammasome-inhibiting therapeutics may serve as a potential future means of prevention and treatment of atrophic AMD.

VII. Inflammasome priming increases retinal pigment epithelial cell susceptibility to lipofuscin phototoxicity by changing the cell death mechanism from apoptosis to pyroptosis

Carolina Brandstetter, Joshua Patt, Frank G. Holz, Tim U. Krohne*

Department of Ophthalmology, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

J Photochem Photobiol B. 2016 May 21;161:177-183. doi: 10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2016.05.018

7.1 Abstract

Progressive death of retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cells is a hallmark of age-related macular degeneration (AMD), the leading cause of blindness in all developed countries. Photooxidative damage and activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome have been suggested as contributing factors to this process. We investigated the effects of inflammasome activation on oxidative damage-induced RPE cell death. In primary human RPE cells and ARPE-19 cells, lipofuscin accumulated following incubation with oxidatively modified photoreceptor outer segments. Oxidative stress was induced by blue light irradiation (dominant wavelength: 448 nm, irradiance: 0.8 mW/cm2, duration: 3 to 6 h) of lipofuscin-loaded cells and resulted in cell death by apoptosis. Prior inflammasome priming by IL-1a or complement activation product C5a altered the cell death mechanism to pyroptosis and resulted in a significant increase of the phototoxic effect. Following IL-1a priming, viability 24 h after irradiation was reduced in primary RPE cells and ARPE-19 cells from 65.3% and 56.7% to 22.6% (p = 0.003) and 5.1% (p = 0.0002), respectively. Inflammasome-mediated IL-1β release occurred only in association with pyroptotic cell lysis. Inflammasome priming by conditioned media of pyroptotic cells likewise increased cell death. Suppression of inflammasome activation by inhibition of caspase-1 or cathepsins B and L significantly reduced cell death in primed cells. In summary, inflammasome priming by IL-1a, C5a, or conditioned media of pyroptotic cells increases RPE cell susceptibility to photooxidative damage-mediated cell death and changes the mechanism of induced cell death from apoptosis to pyroptosis. This process may contribute to RPE degeneration in AMD and provide new targets for intervention.

7.2 Introduction

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is the leading cause of blindness in all industrialized countries.²³⁰ For the late-stage atrophic form of the disease (geographic atrophy), there is currently no effective treatment available. Geographic atrophy secondary to AMD is characterized by progressive degeneration of the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), resulting in corresponding secondary photoreceptor loss and visual impairment. The mechanism of RPE cell death in AMD has not yet been fully elucidated. Several lines of clinical and experimental evidence indicate that oxidative and lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage plays an important pathophysiological role.²⁹⁵ Recent studies suggest that the NLRP3 inflammasome also contributes to RPE cell death secondary to AMD.^{185,296} Indeed, NLRP3 inflammasome activation has been demonstrated in RPE cells

affected by AMD,^{185,232} and increased intravitreal and systemic levels of the inflammasome activation products IL-1β and IL-18 have been reported in AMD patients.^{252,253} We have identified a mechanism that links oxidative/photooxidative damage and inflammasome activation in RPE cells by demonstrating that lipofuscin phototoxicity results in oxidative damage to lysosomal membranes with subsequent cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes and activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome.²⁵⁴ Inflammasome activation product C5a.²⁹⁷ Inflammasome activation can be accompanied by pyroptosis, a recently described type of programmed cell death that is distinct from other cell death mechanisms including apoptosis and necrosis. Pyroptosis is characterized by a combination of several features including caspase-1 dependence, DNA fragmentation, rapid loss of cell membrane integrity, and inflammasome activation elections.²⁹⁸ Against the background of the interrelations between oxidative damage, inflammasome activation, and RPE cell death, we sought to elucidate the effects of inflammasome activation on mechanism and extent of photooxidative damage-induced cytotoxicity in RPE cells.

7.3 Methods

7.3.1 Cell culture

Human fetal primary RPE (pRPE) cells (Clonetics H-RPE; Lonza, Cologne, Germany) were cultured in medium provided by the manufacturer (Clonetics RtEGM; Lonza) containing 2% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum and were used in experiments for a maximum of 6 cell culture passages. The spontaneously immortalized, non-transformed human RPE cell line ARPE-19 (CRL-2302; ATCC, Rockville, MD, USA) was maintained in a 1:1 mixture of Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) and Ham's F-12 medium (PAN-Biotech, Aidenbach, Germany) containing 2.5 mM L-glutamine, 1.0 mM sodium pyruvate, and 17.5 mM D-glucose, and supplemented with 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, and 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (Gibco/Thermo Fisher Scientific, Karlsruhe, Germany) at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ in air.

7.3.2 Induction of photooxidative damage

Lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage was induced in RPE cells using experimental conditions described previously in detail.²⁵⁴ Briefly, isolated porcine POS were covalently modified with the lipid peroxidation product 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE) at a concentration of 5

mM at room temperature over night to stabilize them against lysosomal degradation.²⁴¹ These treatment parameters result in a modification of 48 nmol/mg protein as previously determined by HNE-specific ELISA²⁹⁹ and were chosen to correspond to the range of carbonyl modifications detected in aged human cells in vivo³⁰⁰ as data for human POS in vivo is not yet available. RPE cells were incubated with modified POS (concentration equivalent to 4 mg total POS protein per cm² cell growth area) daily for 7 days, resulting in lipofuscinogenesis.²³⁷ Subsequently, cells were irradiated with blue light (dominant wave length, 448 nm; irradiance, 0.8 mW/cm2) as described previously.²⁵⁴ In all experiments, duration of irradiation was 3 h for pRPE cells and 6 h for ARPE-19 cells.

7.3.3 L-Leucyl-leucine-methyl Ester (Leu-Leu-OMe) Treatment

L-Leucyl-leucine-methyl ester (Leu-Leu-OMe) induces lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP) and inflammasome activation in RPE cells similar to lipofuscin phototoxicity.^{185,280} We treated cells with 1 mM Leu-Leu-OMe (Bachem, Bubendorf, Switzerland) for 3 h.

7.3.4 Inflammasome priming

Cells were primed with 4 ng/ml recombinant human IL-1 α (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany), 50 ng/ml recombinant human C5a (R&D Systems), or 50 pg/ml recombinant human IL-1 β (R&D Systems) for 48 h prior to irradiation or Leu-Leu-OMe treatment.

7.3.5 Cell death detection assay

To quantify cell death, we analyzed loss of plasma membrane integrity by means of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release into the media using a calorimetric assay (Cytotoxicity Detection Kit; Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. We expressed the assay results as percentage of total cellular viability. For this, LDH release was measured in cells lysed by 1% Triton X-100 and in untreated control cells, and the results were set as 0% and 100% cellular viability, respectively.

7.3.6 Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL)

DNA strand breaks were demonstrated by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) assay (TdT in Situ Apoptosis Detection Kit – DAB; R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany) following the manufacturer's recommendations. For this, cells were fixed with 4% PFA, permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100, and incubated with TUNEL enzyme and labeling solution for one hour at 37 °C in the dark.

7.3.7 Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide (PI) labeling

Phosphatidylserine exposure and loss of membrane integrity was assessed simultaneous by labeling with FITC-coupled annexin V and propidium iodide (PI) (FITC Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit; Biolegend, Fell, Germany). Labeling was quantified by flow cytometry (FACS Canto II; BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany).

7.3.8 ELISA detection of IL-1 β

Secretion of IL-1 β into the media was measured by specific ELISA (BD OptEIA Human IL-1 β ELISA Kit II; BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

7.3.9 Priming with conditioned media

Inflammasome activation was induced by HNE-POS incubation, IL-1α priming, and blue light irradiation as described above. Before start of irradiation, cells were thoroughly washed to remove IL-1α and medium was changed. Immediately after the 6 h of irradiation, conditioned media were collected. New, treatment-naive cells were primed with the conditioned media for 48 h. For inhibition of the IL-1 receptor (IL1R), 100 ng/ml anakinra (Kineret; Swedish Orphan Biovitrum, Langen, Germany) was added to conditioned media in the indicated groups.

7.3.10 Inflammasome inhibition

For inhibition of caspase-1, we applied 10 μ M of the caspase-1, -4, and -5 inhibitor Z-YVAD-FMK (BioVision, Munich, Germany) 30 min prior to and during irradiation. Cathepsin B inhibitor CA-074 (Merck/ Calbiochem, Darmstadt, Germany) and cathepsin B and L inhibitor ZFF-FMK (Merck/Calbiochem) were used at a concentration of 10 μ M each for 1 h prior to and during irradiation treatment.

7.3.11 Statistical analysis

All LDH release assays were performed in triplets and all IL-1 β ELISA experiments in doublets according to the assay manufacturers' recommendations. Results are presented as mean ± standard deviation. Statistical analyses were performed using two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test. Differences were considered statistically significant at p < 0.05. In all figures, significance levels as are indicated using ns for not significant, * for p < 0.05, ** for p < 0.01, and *** for p < 0.001.

7.4 Results

7.4.1 Inflammasome priming increase cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity

The cell culture model used in this study was characterized previously in detail. Briefly, we demonstrated in pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells that incubation with HNE-modified POS induces lipofuscin accumulation^{80,237} and that subsequent blue light irradiation results in photooxidative damage to lysosomal membranes and cell death.²⁵⁴ Substances such as IL-1a or C5a represent priming signals for the inflammasome in RPE cells that induce expression of pro-IL-1β.^{185,297} In primed RPE cells, LMP by photooxidative damage results in activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome with release of IL-1ß and IL-18.^{254,301} To investigate the effect of inflammasome priming on the extent of photooxidative damage-induced RPE cell death, we analyzed the timecourse of cell death-associated loss of plasma membrane integrity (LDH release) over 48 h in ARPE-19 cells treated by 6 h of irradiation (Fig. VII.1A) and pRPE cells irradiated for 3 h (Fig. VII.1B). At the beginning of the timecourse, all treatment groups exhibited full viability, including the HNEPOS group that had received 7 days of HNE-POS treatment prior to the start of the experiment and the C5a and IL-1a groups that had been exposed to the respective substance for 48 h preceding the experiment. This indicates that none of these treatments alone had an effect on cell viability without irradiation. Likewise, irradiation alone did not significantly affect cell viability in lipofuscin-free unprimed control cells. Irradiation of lipofuscin-loaded unprimed cells, however, resulted in a significant reduction of cell viability. The measured loss of plasma membrane integrity occurred delayed with a peak between 12 and 24 h after the start of irradiation. Priming with either IL-1a or C5a prior to irradiation significantly altered the time course of induced cell death. Primed cells responded to irradiation with rapid cell lysis that was most pronounced within the first 6 h after the start of irradiation. More importantly, the extent of cell death was also affected by inflammasome priming with priming resulting in a significant amplification of the observed phototoxic effect. E.g. viability measured in lipofuscin-loaded ARPE-19 cells 24 h after the start of the 6 h irradiation treatment was reduced from 56.7% in unprimed cells to 28.3% in C5a-primed cells (p = 0.008) and 5.1% in IL-1 α -primed cells (p = 0.0002; Fig. VII.1A). Similarly, priming by C5a and IL-1 α reduced viability in lipofuscin-loaded pRPE cells 24 h after the start of the 3 h irradiation from 65.3% to 33.1% (p = 0.004) and 22.6% (p = 0.003), respectively (Fig. VII.1B). We have previously demonstrated that inflammasome-induced IL-1 β release is stronger following IL-1 α priming compared to C5a priming,^{254} possibly due to a stronger effect of IL-1 α on the induction of inflammasome components such as pro-IL-1β. Our current observation that inflammasome-



Figure VII.1: Inflammasome priming increases cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity. Inflammasome priming increases cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity. (A) ARPE-19 cells and (B) pRPE cells were incubated with HNE-POS to induce lipofuscin accumulation or were incubated without POS. In addition, cells were primed for inflammasome activation by C5a or IL-1 α or left unprimed. Subsequently, all treatment groups were irradiated with blue light for 6 h (ARPE-19) or 3 h (pRPE). The time-course of cellular viability was assessed by means of LDH release over 48 h after the start of irradiation treatment. Significance levels for primed cells as compared to the unprimed HNE-POS group are indicated p < 0.05 (*), p < 0.01 (**), and p < 0.001 (***).

mediated cytotoxicity is more pronounced following IL-1 α priming compared to C5a priming is consistent with these previous results. The finding that priming increased the cytotoxic effect of irradiation even in cells without lipofuscin-loading by HNE-POS incubation may be due to the accumulation of autophagy-derived lipofuscin as previously described.^{254,302} In summary, our results suggest that inflammasome priming by substances such as C5a or IL-1 α increase the susceptibility of RPE cells to photooxidative damage-mediated cell death.

7.4.2 Inflammasome priming changes mechanism of lipofuscin phototoxicity-induced cell death from apoptosis to pyroptosis

The differences between unprimed and primed cells in the time course of cell lysis suggest different underlying mechanisms of cell death. To delineate the predominant mechanism of cell death in each group, we analyzed additional features of cell death following lipofuscin loading and light irradiation (Fig. VII.2). Morphological investigations by light microscopy demonstrated the occurrence of plasma membrane blebbing and cell shrinkage in unprimed irradiated cells whereas primed cells exhibited early cell swelling after irradiation (Fig. VII.2A). Analysis of DNA fragmentation by TUNEL assay revealed a progressive increase in TUNEL staining over 24 h after irradiation in unprimed cells (Fig. VII.2B). Primed cells likewise exhibited positive TUNEL labeling that, however, was already detectable immediately after irradiation. In flow cytometric analysis of cells double-labelled with annexin



Fig. VII.2 Inflammasome priming changes the mechanism of lipofuscin phototoxicity-induced cell death from apoptosis to pyroptosis. (A) Differences in cell death morphology between unprimed and IL-1 α -primed ARPE-19 cells following HNE-POS/light treatment were assessed by light microscopy. Images of unprimed cells demonstrate plasma membrane blebbing (arrowheads) suggestive of apoptosis. In contrast, IL-1 α -primed cells exhibited early cell swelling (arrowheads). Scale bars represent 100 μ m (upper row) and 50 μ m (lower row). (B) DNA degradation/ fragmentation was analyzed by TUNEL labeling in unprimed and IL-1 α -primed ARPE-19 cells at different time points after start of irradiation. DNA fragmentation was detectable in both unprimed and IL-1 α -primed cells but occurred earlier in primed cells. Scale bars represent 100 μ m. (C) Flow cytometry was employed to assess annexin V-FITC and PI staining in unprimed and IL-1 α -primed ARPE-19 cells immediately following irradiation.

V-FITC and PI to differentiate healthy (FITC-/PI-), apoptotic (FITC+/PI-) and necrotic/pyroptotic (FITC+/PI+) cells, the majority of unprimed irradiated cells were apoptotic whereas primed irradiated cells were predominantly necrotic/pyroptotic (Fig. VII.2C). In addition to these findings, we previously demonstrated that HNE-POS/blue light treatment of IL-1 α primed RPE cells as employed in this study results in caspase-1 activation²⁵⁴ and that the treatment induces release of IL-1 β and IL-18 in both IL-1 α primed and C5a primed but not in unprimed RPE cells.³⁰¹ In summary, unprimed cells exhibited delayed cell lysis, plasma membrane blebbing and cell shrinkage, TUNEL-positive DNA fragmentation, predominantly annexin V-positive/PI-negative cell staining, and lack of IL-1 β and IL-18 release. In contrast, primed cells demonstrated cell swelling and early cell lysis, TUNEL-positive DNA degradation, predominantly PI-positive cell staining, caspase-1 activation, and release of IL-1 β and IL-18. These combinations of features identify the cell death in unprimed and primed cells as apoptosis and pyroptosis, respectively.³⁰³ Thus, our results reveal that inflammasome priming changes the predominant cell death mechanism induced by photooxidative damage in RPE cells from apoptosis to pyroptosis.

7.4.3 Interleukin-1 β release secondary to LMP is closely associated with pyroptotic cell lysis

IL-1 β can be released passively during pyroptotic cell lysis (terminal release) as well as by active processes not requiring cell death, with the predominant mechanism of release depending on cell type and stimulus type and strength.^{304,305} Elucidating the association of inflammasome-mediated IL-1 β release and cell death in RPE cells may help to understand the role of RPE inflammasome activation in different disease stages of AMD. To determine whether IL-1 β release by RPE cells secondary to LMP-induced inflammasome activation can occur independent of pyroptosis, we simultaneously measured release of IL-1 β and LDH in cells exposed to increasing durations of lipofuscin/light treatment, increasing durations of the chemical LMP-inducer Leu-LeuOMe, or increasing concentrations of Leu-Leu-OMe (Fig. VII.3). In all experimental conditions tested, significantly increased IL-1 β release was detectable only in association with significant LDH release but never without it. This finding suggests that at least in our experimental setting, IL-1 β release by RPE cells secondary to LMP occurs in association with pyroptotic cell lysis, suggesting terminal release of IL-1 β as the predominant mechanism.





Fig. VII.3 Interleukin-1 β release secondary to LMP is closely associated with pyroptotic cell lysis. (A) HNE-POStreated ARPE-19 cells were primed with IL-1 α and irradiated with blue light for increasing durations to induce LMP. Alternatively, LMP was induced by treatment of IL-1 α -primed ARPE-19 cells with (B) increasing incubation times of Leu-Leu-OMe at a concentration of 1 mM or with (C) increasing concentrations of Leu-Leu-OMe for an incubation time of 3 h. In all experiments, simultaneous analysis of IL-1 β release and cell lysis assessed by LDH release was performed. Significance levels compared to the respective untreated control groups are indicated as not significant (ns), p b 0.05 (*), p b 0.01 (**), and p b 0.001 (***).

7.4.4 Priming by conditioned media of inflammasome-activated RPE cells increases cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity

Similar to IL-1 α , the inflammasome-regulated cytokine IL-1 β can itself induce inflammasome priming via the IL-1 receptor and thus initiate a paracrine amplification loop of inflammasome activation.^{288,289,297} We therefore sought to investigate whether cytokine release of RPE cells following inflammasome activation increases the susceptibility of neighboring RPE cells to photooxidative damage-mediated cell death. For this, we assessed the cytotoxic effect of lipofuscin/light treatment in RPE cells after priming with conditioned media of inflammasome-activated RPE cells (Fig. VII.4). Incubation with conditioned media for 48 h did not itself affect cell viability as indicated by the full viability of all treatment groups measured at the beginning



Fig. VII.4: Priming by conditioned media of inflammasome-activated RPE cells increases cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity. ARPE-19 cells were incubated with HNE-POS and primed with conditioned media that had been collected from IL-1 α -primed ARPE-19 cells treated by HNE-POS without irradiation (HNE-POS/0 h light) and by HNE-POS and 6 hour irradiation (HNE-POS/6 h light). In control experiments, the IL1R inhibitor anakinra was added during priming with conditioned media from HNE-POS/lighttreated cells (HNE-POS/6 h light + IL1R inhibitor), or cells were primed with recombinant human IL-1 β instead of conditioned media (IL-1 β). Following priming, all treatment groups as well as an untreated, unprimed control group (Control) were subjected to irradiation for 6 h, and the time-course of cellular viability was analyzed by LDH release assay over 48 h after the start of irradiation. Significance levels of the HNEPOS/6 h light group as compared to the HNE-POS/0 h light group are indicated as p < 0.01 (**), and p < 0.001 (***).

of irradiation. After irradiation, cells primed with conditioned media of non-irradiated control cells demonstrated a delayed time course of cell death. In contrast, cells primed with conditioned media of irradiated cells exhibited rapid cell lysis, suggestive of pyroptosis. More importantly, the extend of cell death 48 h after irradiation was significantly increased in cells primed with conditioned media of irradiated cells as compared with cells primed with conditioned media of non-irradiated control cells (viability 45.0% vs. 15.7%, p = 0.0006). Inhibition of IL-1 receptor (IL1R) by the drug anakinra during priming completely prevented the effect of conditioned media on cytotoxicity whereas recombinant IL-1 β had a priming effect similar to conditioned media of irradiated cells. These results suggest that cytokines such as IL-1 β released by RPE cells after inflammasome activation increase the susceptibility of bystander RPE cells to photooxidative damage-induced cell death, possibly via their previously demonstrated IL1R-mediated priming effect.²⁹⁷

7.4.5 Inhibition of Inflammasome activation reduces cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity

Inflammasome activation in RPE cells by photooxidative damage is dependent on lysosomal leakage of cathepsins and activation of caspase-1.²⁵⁴ To further delineate the mechanism by

which inflammasome priming increased susceptibility to phototoxic cell death, we subjected ARPE-19 cells and pRPE cells to inhibition of cathepsin B/L and caspase-1 during irradiation (Fig. VII.5). As expected, apoptotic cell death of unprimed ARPE-19 cells was unaffected by cathepsin B or caspase-1 inhibition (Fig. VII.5A). In contrast, pyroptosis of primed ARPE-19 cells was partially prevented by inhibition of cathepsin B/L or caspase-1 (Fig. VII.5B). Moreover, inhibitor treatment changed the time course of cell death in primed cells back towards a delayed type similar to that observed in unprimed cells. In pRPE cells, cathepsin B/L and caspase-1 inhibition yielded similar results (Fig. VII.5C and Fig. VII.1B). These findings demonstrate that the increased susceptibility of primed RPE cells to photooxidative cell death is dependent on activity of cathepsin B/L and caspase-1.



Fig. VII.5: Inhibition of inflammasome activation reduces cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity. (A) The timecourse of cell viability was measured in unprimed ARPE-19 cells over 48 h after the start of irradiation treatment without prior incubation with POS (Control) or after incubation with HNE-POS. For inhibition of caspase-1 and cathepsin B, cells were incubated with ZYVAD-FMK and CA-074, respectively, during irradiation. In addition, we analyzed the time-course of viability of (B) IL-1 α -primed ARPE-19 cells and (C) IL-1 α -primed pRPE cells following HNE-POS/light treatment and additional inhibition of caspase-1 and cathepsin B/L by Z-YVAD-FMK and Z-FF-FMK, respectively. Significance levels of inhibitor-treated cells as compared to the respective HNE-POS groups without inhibitor treatment are indicated as not significant (ns), p b 0.05 (*), and p b 0.01 (**).

7.5 Discussion

Blue light irradiation of RPE cells in vitro results in lipofuscin-dependent generation of reactive oxygen species,²⁷⁷ LMP by oxidative damage,^{96,97} and cell death.³⁰⁶ We have demonstrated that LMP by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage not only results in oxidative-damage dependent cell death but also in activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in primed RPE cells.^{254,297} This mechanism may underlie the inflammasome activation observed in the RPE of AMD patients^{185,232} and may contribute to the progressive RPE damage in AMD. Inflammasome activation by photooxidative damage-mediated LMP requires prior inflammasome priming that can be induced by substances such as IL-1 α or the complement activation product C5a.^{185,297} In the absence of a priming signal, the mechanism of cell death secondary to oxidative or photooxidative damage-induced LMP has been identified as apoptosis in various cell types other than RPE.^{307,308} Our combined results of this and previous studies demonstrate that LMP-induced cell death in RPE cells likewise occurs by apoptosis as characterized by cell membrane blebbing, late loss of cell membrane integrity, lack of IL-1ß and IL-18 release,³⁰¹ annexin V-positive/PI-negative staining, and positive TUNEL labeling. In contrast, cells exposed to the priming signals IL-1α or C5a prior to photooxidative damage-mediated LMP exhibit a distinctly different mechanism of cell death that we identified as pyroptosis by means of cell swelling, early loss of cell membrane integrity, caspase-1 activation,²⁵⁴ IL-1β and IL-18 release,³⁰¹ lack of annexin V-positive/PInegative staining, and positive TUNEL labeling. Importantly, inflammasome priming resulted not only in a different mechanism but also in a significantly higher extent of photooxidative cell death. This increased susceptibility to phototoxicity was reversible by treatment of RPE cells with inflammasome inhibitors such as caspase-1 inhibitor Z-YVAD-FMK and cathepsin B and L inhibitor Z-FFFMK. Evidence from genetic studies indicates an important role for complement activation in the pathogenesis of complex, multifactorial AMD. Activated complement components such as C5a are abundant both in the sub-RPE space and in plasma of AMD patients.^{149,231} Several inhibitors of C5 or complement components upstream of C5 activation such as CFD and C3 are currently under clinical investigation for their potential to prevent progressive RPE cell death in patients with GA secondary to AMD. We have previously shown that the C5 activation product C5a primes RPE cells for inflammasome activation.²⁹⁷ Here, we demonstrate that inflammasome priming by C5a increase the susceptibility of RPE cells to oxidative damage-mediated cell death. Thus, our results support the rational for therapeutic complement inhibition in atrophic AMD. In addition, agents with direct inhibitory effects on inflammasome activation such as small

molecule NLRP3 inhibitors have been shown to be effective in vivo and, thus, represent interesting candidates for future interventional approaches in atrophic AMD.²⁹⁴ IL-1β induces expression of its own precursor pro-IL-1 β via IL1R.^{288,289} We previously reported that conditioned media of RPE cells collected following inflammasome-mediated IL-1ß release induces IL1R-dependent inflammasome priming in other RPE cells, thus providing a paracrine amplification loop of inflammasome activation.²⁹⁷ Consistently, our current results indicate that conditioned media of pyroptotic RPE cells increase cell death by photooxidative damage in other RPE cells in an IL1R-dependent fashion. It is conceivable that in situations of localized RPE cell death such as in atrophic AMD, this mechanism could result in increased susceptibility of bystander RPE cells to inflammasome-mediated cell death and thus contribute to the progressive RPE cell loss in atrophic AMD. IL-1ß is a major inflammatory effector cytokine of inflammasome activation. As IL-1β lacks a secretory signal sequence it is not secreted by conventional routes. Rather, its release occurs either actively from the living cell via e.g. secretory lysosomes, microvesicles, or exosomes or passively by cell lysis during cell death (terminal release).^{304,305} The prevailing mechanism can differ with cell type and stimulus type and strength. To elucidate the predominant mechanism of IL-1ß release in RPE cells, we subjected RPE cells to increasing durations of lipofuscin/ light treatment or increasing concentrations and incubation times of Leu-Leu-OMe, a substance that induces inflammasome activation by LMP similar to lipofuscin phototoxicity.^{185,280} In these experiments, IL- 1ß release occurred only in association with loss of cell membrane integrity as measured by LDH release. This suggests that in our experimental setting, IL-1ß is released from the cell predominantly during cell death-associated loss of plasma membrane integrity rather than by active mechanisms of the living cells. As RPE cell death in AMD occurs mainly in late-stage disease, further elucidation of the mechanisms of IL-1ß release in RPE cells in vivo will help to delineate the AMD stages in which inflammasome activation in the RPE may play a pathogenic role. In summary, we examined the mechanisms of photooxidative damage-induced cell death in pRPE cells and ARPE-19 cells and demonstrated that inflammasome priming by substances such as IL-1 α and C5a not only changes the cell death mechanism from apoptosis to pyroptosis but also increases the cells' susceptibility to photooxidative damagemediated cytotoxicity. These results provide new insights into the complex interplay of complement system, inflammasome activation, oxidative damage, and RPE cell pathology in diseases such as AMD and suggest inhibition of inflammasome priming or activation as potential treatment strategies for atrophic AMD.

VIII.General Discussion

A key pathogenic factor in AMD is the chronic activation of the innate immune system in the sub-RPE space that is detectable by both a local deposition and increased systemic levels of activated complement components.^{149,231} A recent study examined AMD patients with the CFH risk genotype and demonstrated that patients showed increased systemic concentrations for the inflammasome-related cytokine IL-18, which represents a product of inflammasome activation.²⁶¹ Additionally, NLRP3 inflammasome activation in RPE cells was demonstrated in both neovascular and atrophic AMD.^{185,232} These findings, among others, gave rise to the assumption that the inflammasome plays a role in the pathogenesis of AMD. The circumstances leading to NLRP3 inflammasome priming and activation in AMD pathogenesis are largely unknown. The NLRP3 inflammasome can be activated by a diverse range of substances.³⁰⁹ Many of these substances that activate NLRP3 in AMD destabilize with the lysosomal membrane subsequent cytosolic leakage of lysosomal components.^{126,199,201,310} This mechanism has also been detected to activate the inflammasome in RPE cells following chemical induction of LMP.¹⁸⁵ The fact that photooxidative damage mediated by intralysosomal accumulation of photoreactive lipofuscin results in LMP in RPE cells represent an interesting approach for the study of inflammasome activation in the context of AMD.^{96,97} Thus, we were interested to examine the role of NLRP3 inflammasome activation by oxidative/ photooxidative damage in human RPE cells as a potential link between hallmark pathogenic features in age-dependent macular degeneration.

8.1 Cell culture model of lipofuscin induced photooxidative stress to study

LMP

Experimental cell culture models are a valuable tool for understanding pathology of the cell in human disease and discovering novel therapeutic targets and drugs. Different cell culture models for the in vitro study of lipofuscin effects in RPE cells have been described.²⁴⁶ As A2E has been considered as the major fluorophore of macular lipofuscin, A2E-loaded RPE cells were used as a model of lipofuscin phototoxicity in previous studies.⁹⁷ However, owing to an inadequacy in correlation between lipofuscin fluorescence and the spatial distribution of A2E in the human RPE, the pivotal role of A2E in lipofuscin phototoxicity has been questioned,²⁴⁷ resulting in a need for a new in vitro model of lipofuscin-photoreactivity for basic and therapeutic research investigations. Therefore, we established a new model of lipofuscin phototoxicity based on a system of endogenous lipofuscin generation from phagocytosed POS in human RPE cells.²³⁷ In our study, we employed the stable human RPE cells.³¹¹ Altough ARPE-

19 cells are useful in a wide array of research, differences to parental cells may occur. Therefore, we confirmed the main findings by the use of human primary RPE cells. Primary cultures of RPE cells from various species have been shown to retain many normal physiological functions, including the ability to phagocytose rod outer segments.^{312,313} RPE cells were incubated for 7 days daily with porcine POS. As human POS were not available in sufficent quantities we relied on porcine POS that are likewise recognized by human phagocytosis receptors. Cellular lipofuscinogenesis was reinforced by HNE- or MDAmodified POS, resulting in lysosomal dysfunction. Modification of retinal proteins with lipid peroxidation products such as HNE has been detected in vivo as a result of light irradiation and aging.^{314,315} To allow for biologically meaningful studies of lipid peroxidation effects in vitro, it is crucial that the employed levels of lipid peroxidation reflect the in vivo situation. During oxidative stress, tissue HNE concentrations were reported in the range of 1-20mM,⁶⁸ similar to the concentrations used in our experiments. Within or near oxidized lipid membranes, HNE concentrations are estimated to reach 100mM or even higher levels.⁶⁸ The levels of POS protein modifications used in our cell culture were quantified previously⁸⁰ and were chosen to correspond to the range of carbonyl modifications detected in human cells in vivo.²⁴⁸ Although our model means to simulate the in vivo situation in aged RPE cells, the composition of lipofuscin-like material that was generated in our model during 7 days of POS incubation probably differs from the composition of lipofuscin generated in RPE cells in vivo in a human lifetime. Nonetheless, blue light irradiation of RPE cells following lipofuscin loading induced photooxidative damage, LMP, and leakage of lysosomal enzymes into the cytosol. This is in accordance with RPE cells that were loaded with lipofuscin granules generated in human RPE in vivo.⁹⁶ Therefore, our model of lipofuscin generation was appropriate to study blue light-induced photooxidative stress in human RPE cells, intensified by accumulated lipofuscin, and subsequent lysosomal membrane permeabilization.

8.2 Inflammasome activation by blue light induced photooxidative damage

Initially we were interested whether lipofuscin-phototoxicity induced LMP plays a role in NLRP3 inflammasome activation in RPE cells. For this, we established an in vitro model of blue light-induced photooxidative damage. Using this model, we demonstrated inflammasome activation by means of caspase-1 activation and secretion of the inflammasome-related cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18. In addition, inflammasome activation was amplified by the photosensitizer lipofuscin, that accumulates in the RPE in vivo with age and has the highest concentration in the macula (chapter II). Secondary to light-induced LMP, we

detected leakage of lysosomal enzymes into the cytosol of RPE cells. Inhibition of the lysosomal proteases cathepsin B and L suppressed inflammasome activation associated with light-induced LMP. Similarly, previous studies demonstrated cathepsin dependent NLRP3 inflammasome activation secondary to silica crystal induced LMP in macrophages.¹²⁶ These results suggest a cytosolic substrate of cathepsin proteolytic activity as a critical component of NLRP3 inflammasome activation. However, the molecular mechanism by which cytosolic activity of cathepsins or other lysosomal enzymes induce inflammasome activation has not yet been resolved. Furthermore, our results from a NLRP3 siRNA knockdown experiment revealed that inflammasome activation secondary to lipofuscin phototoxicity in RPE cells is mediated by NLRP3 (chapter II). The importance of NLRP3 in AMD pathogenesis has been underlined by the observation of activated NLRP3 inflammasome in the RPE of patients with atrophic and neovascular AMD.^{185,232} Thus, photooxidative damage by visible light could be attributed as a new mechanism of NLRP3 inflammasome activation in human RPE cells in our model and therefore contribute to our understanding of light damage to the RPE. Moreover, this mechanism represents a novel molecular link between hallmark features of AMD pathogenesis such as photooxidative damage, innate immune response, and RPE cell dysfunction that may provide new therapeutic targets against for the blinding disease.

8.3 Inflammasome priming by activated complement component C5a

For the NLRP3 inflammasome to be activated in RPE cells, it must first be primed by activation of the transcription factor nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) resulting in transcription of pro-IL-1 β and NLRP3. In many studies, NF- κ B activation is induced by LPS or IL-1 α prior to inflammasome activation.^{185,235,236,254,280} However, the relevance of these substances as priming agents of the RPE in vivo in the context of AMD is unclear. Observations of NLRP3 being expressed in the RPE of eyes affected by advanced AMD but not in non-AMD affected control eyes suggests that molecular or cellular changes associated with the development of AMD mediate the pathological priming of the RPE. For this study we considered reports that demonstrated an association between CFH risk genotype and significantly increased plasma levels of the inflammasome-regulated cytokine IL-18, suggesting a role for activated complement components like C3a and C5a in inflammasome activation in AMD.²⁶¹ Indeed, activated components of the complement system such as C3a and C5a are detectable both locally in the sub-RPE space and systemically in plasma of AMD patients.^{149,231} Thus, RPE cells are in constant, direct contact with these bioactive substances, which therefore

represent candidates for the inflammasome priming signal in AMD via anaphylatoxin receptors such as C5aR that is expressed on the basolateral side of the RPE.²⁸⁶ Inflammasome priming by complement activation products has already been proposed in other autoinflammatory diseases such as atherosclerosis and gout.^{281,282} We therefore intended to investigate activated complement components as potential priming agents in RPE cells. The consecutive implementation of heat-inactivation of complement components, C5 depletion, and C5a receptor inhibition delineated C5a as the active priming agent in complement-activated human serum (chapter IV). Accordingly, inflammasome priming by C5a led to distinct expression of pro-IL-1β protein by ARPE-19 cells and enabled subsequent by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative inflammasome activation damage. Again, inflammasome activation was dependent on activity of caspase-1 and cathepsin B. Our observations are in accordance with the results of a previous study that likewise reported a priming effect of C5a on RPE43 cells.³¹⁶ A group led by Prof. Joanne A. Matsubara described a study that shows the activation of the NF-kB pathway in RPE in vitro by C5a stimulation,¹⁵⁵ highlighting the relevance of our prior published results in terms of activated complement components as RPE cell priming agents. With the constitutive expression of the anaphylatoxin receptors C5aR, C3aR and C5aL on the human RPE cell line ARPE-19 and primary fetal human RPE cells (chapter IV) it is of importance to understand the effects of C5a on RPE function.

Considering our results, we concluded that activated comlement component C5a is capable of priming human RPE cells for NLRP3 inflammasome activation by stimuli such as lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage. This molecular pathway links hallmark events of AMD pathogenesis including complement activation, lipofuscin accumulation, oxidative damage, and RPE degeneration and may provide novel treatment targets.

8.4 Consequences of NLRP3 inflammasome activation

Following up on the investigation describing the mechanism of LMP-induced inflammasome activation induced by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage in RPE cells, we were interested to elucidate the consequences of this mechanism, in particular with regard on pathologic processes in the outer retina.

Initially, we addressed this question by analyzing the profile of cytokines that are secreted by RPE cells following inflammasome activation. Using a model of LMP-induced inflammasome activation that employs Leu-Leu-OMe for chemical destabilization of lysosomes,¹⁸⁵ we revealed significant and caspase-1 dependent increase in inflammatory cytokines. In

particular, the secretion of the inflammasome-related cytokines IL-1B and IL-18 was predominantly directed towards the apical side of the RPE monolayer. This is in accordance with previous studies that likewise reported a predominantly apical secretion of inflammatory cytokines by RPE cells following induction by various stimuli.^{269–271} The apical side of RPE cell layer corresponds to the neuroretinal side of the normal retina in vivo. This polarized secretion raised the question whether cells of the neuroretina may be affected by activation of the inflammasome. Retinal cell populations that are most likely affected by apical secretion of cytokines include resident microglia cells and infiltrating macrophages. Activation of these cell types and their migration into the subretinal space has been observed in AMD patients and animal models and has been discussed as a factor contributing to AMD pathogenesis.^{35,272,273} Our results from a microglia chemotaxis experiment (chapter III) display a significant chemotactic effect of conditioned media from Leu-Leu-OMe-treated RPE cells on microglia cells, supporting a role of inflammasome-related cytokines in microglia recruitment during neovascular AMD. VEGF plays a crucial role in CNV formation in neovascular AMD, and inflammasome activation has been suggested to be involved in this process due to the effects of inflammasome-controlled cytokines on VEGF secretion and angiogenesis. However, the reports of the inflammasome-related effects in CNV formation are divergent. Doyle and coworkers²³³ elucidated that incubation with inflammasomeregulated IL-18 reduces secretion of VEGF in RPE cells, suggesting a protective effect against CNV formation. In contrast, another inflammasome-regulated interleukin, IL-1β, has been shown to induce VEGF secretion in RPE cells²⁵⁹ and to promote laser-induced CNV formation in mice.²⁵⁵ In an attempt to elucidate the angiogenesis-related effects following LMP-induced inflammasome activation, we revealed reduced constitutive VEGF secretion by RPE cells following inflammasome activation. Conditioned media of RPE cells following inflammasome activation consistently reduced proliferation and migration of vascular endothelial cells compared to conditioned media of untreated control cells. In addition to the reduction in VEGF secretion, the released IL-18 may add to this effect due to its suggested antiangiogenic properties.²³³ While our experiments demonstrate reduced VEGF secretion by RPE cells following inflammasome activation, inflammatory cytokines released by RPE cells after inflammasome activation in vivo may exert indirect angiogenic effects via other cell types such as recruited microglia cells.³⁵ There is now comprehensive evidence proving the involvement of immune cells in human neovascular AMD³¹⁷⁻³¹⁹ as well as experimental choroidal neovascularization.³²⁰⁻³²² In contrast, histological studies demonstrate less immune cells in areas of geographic atrophy.³²³ However, an increasing number of studies indicate a

contribution of immune-mediated tissue damage in geographic atrophy, by suggesting inflammasome-mediated RPE degeneration as a driving force in geographic atrophy.^{185,232,236} To further elucidate the consequences of LMP-induced inflammasome activation, we focussed on the effects of inflammasome priming on mechanism and extend of photooxidative damage-induced cytotoxicity in RPE cells. Morphological investigations indicate apoptosis as the prevailing cell death mechanism secondary to photooxidative damage-mediated LMP in the absence of an inflammasome priming signal, that was likewise demonstrated in other studies.^{307,308} However, inflammasome priming with IL-1a or C5a ahead of LMP-induced cell death in RPE cells changed the mechanism of cell death from apoptosis to pyroptosis (chapter V). Beside a change in cell death mechanism, an increased susceptibility to photooxidative cell damage was detected that was manifested by a significant higher extend of phototoxic cell death. This increase in susceptibility to photooxidative cell death was reversible by treatment of RPE cells with inflammasome inhibitors such as caspase-1 inhibitor Z-YVAD-FMK. Inflammasome activation leads to secretion of IL-1B, a proinflammatory cytokine that signals through its cognate receptor IL1R and is able to induce its own expression by an auto-/paracrine amplification loop.^{288,289} Accordingly, the use of conditioned media, collected following inflammasome mediated IL-1ß release was capable to prime cells for expression of pro-IL-1B protein (chapter IV) and enabled inflammasome activation via lipofuscin-induced photooxidative stress (chapter V). Inflammasome activation was significantly reduced by application of the IL1R-inhibitory drug anakinra, indicating a distinct amplification loop of inflammasome priming in our cell culture system that is mediated by an IL1R ligand such as IL-1 β . Thus, cell priming by IL-1 α or C5a not only changes the cell death mechanism from apoptosis to pyroptosis but also increases the susceptibility of the cells to photooxidative damage-mediated cytotoxicity (chapter V).

8.5 Therapeutic prospects

Elucidating the still unresolved pathogenesis of multifactorial, complex AMD will help to identify potential targets for therapeutic intervention. While patients with neovascular AMD can be effectively treated with VEGF blocking drugs, no effective therapeutic options are currently available for atrophic AMD. Incidence and prevalence of the disease are rising, due to demographic developments. Therefore, the unmed need for identification of potential pharmaceutical targets in atrophic and neovascular AMD is of crucial importance for clinical ophthalmology. My work outlined several pathways that appear to play a role in AMD pathogenesis and may be suitable for therapeutic interventions.

The inflammasome-related cytokines are likely to present therapeutic targets. The cytokine IL-18 has been reported to exert a direct cytotoxic effect on RPE cells in vivo,²³² but systemic or intravitreal administration of physiologically relevant doses of recombinant IL-18 did not correlate with pathological effects on mouse RPE cells in vivo.^{292,325} Indeed, IL-18 concentrations of up to 10 µg/mL did not induce any cytotoxic effect on RPE cells in vitro,²⁹² a concentration that is about five orders of magnitude higher than IL-18 concentrations measured in conditioned media in our experiments. It is possible that these cytokines are not directly responsible for RPE cell death in geographic atrophy but act on cells in an autocrine or paracrine fashion. For instance, IL-1 β is known to induce its own expression by an auto-/paracrine amplification loop.^{288,289} Similarly, our experiments demonstrated that during lipofuscin-photoreactivity induced inflammasome activation in RPE cells in vitro, inflammasome-regulated cytokines such as IL-1ß initiate a paracrine amplification loop of inflammasome priming (chapter IV and V). It is conceivable that in situations of localized RPE cell death such as in atrophic AMD, this mechanism could result in increased susceptibility of immediate bystander RPE cells to inflammasome-mediated cell death, thus contributing to the centrifugal progression pattern of RPE cell loss in AMD. Application of the IL1R-inhibitory drug anakinra reduced both inflammasome-related cytokine secretion and cell death, providing the rational for the rapeutic IL-1 β inhibition in atrophic AMD. Several biologic agents that target the IL-1 pathway are approved for use by the Food and Drug Administration. The recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonist Anakinra is approved for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. The monoclonal anti-IL-1ß antibody canakinumab and rilonacept, a "IL-1 trap" fusion protein, has been approved for the treatment of CAPS.^{326,327} In contrast to reported anti-angiogenic effects of IL-18 laser-induced choroidal the on neovascularization,²³³ IL-1β promotes neovascularization.²⁵⁵ These opposing findings might imply that a single factor (IL-18) or pathway (NLRP3 inflammasome activation) can be antiangiogenic and destructive to the RPE at the same time.³⁸ Therefore, the potential role of the NLRP3 inflammasome in the pathogenesis of AMD, as well as the downstream cytokines involved, must be elucidated in order to determine whether targeting the IL-1 pathway will be effective. Further investigations demonstrated C5 activation product C5a is capable to prime RPE cells for inflammasome activation (chapter IV) demonstrating C5a increase the susceptibility of RPE cells to oxidative damage-mediated cell death. Activated complement component C5a is detectable both locally in the sub-RPE space and systemically in plasma of AMD patients.^{149,231} RPE cells are in constant, direct contact with these bioactive substances that, therefore, represent candidates for the inflammasome priming signal in

AMD via anaphylatoxin receptors such as C5aR that is expressed on the basolateral side of the RPE.²⁸⁶ Inhibition of the C5a/C5aR axis reduced inflammasome activation by lipofuscin phototoxicity in RPE cells in our experiments. This demonstrates that inflammasome priming agents such as C5a increase the susceptibility of RPE cells to oxidative damage-mediated cell death. Thereby, our results support therapeutic strategies for treatment of atrophic AMD by complement inhibition. Inhibitors of C5 and C5a as well as of complement components upstream of C5a generation such as CFD and C3 are currently evaluated in clinical studies in patients with AMD. These include various protein-binding and inhibiting substances, such as antibodies (LFG316, FCFD4514S, eculizumab), peptides (POT-4) or aptamers (ARC1905), which target specifically the complement system (for example, C3, C5, CFD). The recombinant mAb antibody fragment Lampalizumab that blocks complement factor D demonstrated a promising effects in a phase II trial to slow down atrophy progression. In addition, agents with direct inhibitory effects on inflammasome activation such as small molecule NLRP3 inhibitors provide specific inhibition of NLRP3, representing interesting candidates for future interventional approaches in atrophic AMD.²⁹⁴ Further investigation of a pathogenic versus a protective role for the inflammasome is required to determine whether targeting the inflammasome pathway will be effective in AMD.

8.6 Future prospects

The molecular pathogenesis of AMD is still not completely resolved which hinders the development of effective therapies, in particular for the atrophic subtype of the disease. Progressive death of retinal pigment epithelium cells is a hallmark of AMD, the leading cause of blindness in all developed countries. Several lines of clinical and experimental evidence indicate oxidative and lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative stress as well as activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome as contributing factors to this process.

My findings demonstrate a mechanism that links oxidative/photooxidative damage and inflammasome activation in RPE cells by demonstrating that lipofuscin phototoxicity results in oxidative damage to lysosomal membranes with subsequent cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes and activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome.

To demonstrate that the NLRP3 inflammasome mediates AMD pathogenesis in response to RPE lysosomal destabilization via lipofuscin photoreactivity, it will be necessary to investigate whether the identified mechanism can be demonstrated in vivo. In accordance to our established cell culture model of blue light-induced photooxidative damage, a photoreactive effect in the lipofuscin-containing RPE could be induced by illumination of mice. Subsequently, RPE cells may be examined for evidence of inflammasome activation by measurement of IL-1β secretion, caspase-1 activation or signs of pyroptotic cell death. The lipofuscin-mediated effect can be enhanced by the use of ABCA4 knockout mice, an animal model for AMD and Stargardt disease that is characterized by the accelerated accumulation of lipofuscin in the RPE.^{328–330} Influencing inflammasome activation may offer new therapeutic stragegies. The use of anakinra (Kineret) or drugs that directly inhibit the inflammasome may provide a base for clinical trials in patients with AMD.

8.7 Conclusion

In AMD, the RPE becomes progressively dysfunctional and eventually degenerates, resulting in photoreceptor death and visual function loss.

Evidence that the inflammasome is functional in RPE cells and can mediate IL-1β release in response to activation is a key finding that may provide new therapeutic targets for AMD. However, research on inflammasomes in AMD remains nascent, and many questions regarding the role that the NLRP3 inflammasome play in AMD are still unresolved.

This study aimed to identify a novel mechanism of inflammasome activation by light damage. The finding that photooxidative damage to human RPE cells, intensified by accumulated lipofuscin, causes NLRP3 inflamamsome activation via LMP confirms blue light damage as a new mechanism of inflammasome activation and contributes to our understanding of light damage to the RPE. In contrast to inflammasome activation, the mechanism of inflammasome priming in AMD has been little investigated so far. Recent studies demonstrated the CFH risk genotype to be associated with significantly increased plasma levels of the inflammasome-regulated cytokine IL-18, suggesting a role for activated complement components like C3a and C5a in inflammasome activation in AMD. We investigated whether products of complement activation are capable of providing the priming signal for inflammasome activation in RPE cells. Our study identified complement component C5a as a priming agent for the inflammasome in RPE cells that enables subsequent NLRP3 inflammasome activation by stimuli such as lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage. Furthermore, inhibition of the C5a/C5aR axis reduced inflammasome activation by lipofuscin phototoxicity in RPE cells and supports the rational for therapeutic complement inhibition in atrophic AMD. Examining the mechanisms of photooxidative damage-induced cell death in cultured human RPE cells demonstrated that LMP-induced NLRP3 inflamamsome activation in RPE cells results in apical secretion of inflammatory cytokines with chemotactic effects on microglia cells and reduced constitutive secretion of VEGF. Via these mechanisms, lipofuscin phototoxicity may contribute to local immune processes in the outer retina as observed in AMD. In addition, we demonstrated that inflammasome priming with IL-1α or C5a not only changes the cell death mechanism from apoptosis to pyroptosis but also increases the susceptibility of the cells to photooxidative damage-mediated cytotoxicity. In summary, our results provide new insights into the complex interplay of complement system, inflammasome activation, oxidative damage, and RPE cell pathology in AMD pathology and suggest inhibition of inflammasome priming or activation as potential treatment strategies for atrophic AMD.

IX. Appendix
References

- (1) Klein, R.; Cruickshanks, K. J.; Nash, S. D.; Krantz, E. M.; Nieto, F. J.; Huang, G. H.; Pankow, J. S.; Klein, B. E. K. The Prevalence of Age-Related Macular Degeneration and Associated Risk Factors. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* **2010**, *128* (6), 750–758.
- (2) Friedman, D. S.; O'Colmain, B. J.; Muñoz, B.; Tomany, S. C.; McCarty, C.; de Jong, P. T. V. M.; Nemesure, B.; Mitchell, P.; Kempen, J. Prevalence of Age-Related Macular Degeneration in the United States. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* **2004**, *122* (4), 564– 572.
- (3) Age-Related Eye Disease Study Research Group. A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled, Clinical Trial of High-Dose Supplementation with Vitamins C and E, Beta Carotene, and Zinc for Age-Related Macular Degeneration and Vision Loss: AREDS Report No. 8. Arch. Ophthalmol. 2001, 119 (10), 1417–1436.
- (4) *Age-Related Macular Degeneration*, 2. ed.; Holz, F. G., Pauleikhoff, D., Spaide, R. F., Bird, A. C., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, 2013.
- (5) Hageman, G. An Integrated Hypothesis That Considers Drusen as Biomarkers of Immune-Mediated Processes at the RPE-Bruch's Membrane Interface in Aging and Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.* **2001**, *20* (6), 705–732.
- Pauleikhoff, D.; Barondes, M. J.; Minassian, D.; Chisholm, I. H.; Bird, A. C. Drusen as Risk Factors in Age-Related Macular Disease. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* **1990**, *109* (1), 38– 43.
- (7) Young, R. W. Pathophysiology of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Surv. Ophthalmol.* **1987**, *31* (5), 291–306.
- (8) Crabb, J. W.; Miyagi, M.; Gu, X.; Shadrach, K.; West, K. A.; Sakaguchi, H.; Kamei, M.; Hasan, A.; Yan, L.; Rayborn, M. E.; et al. Drusen Proteome Analysis: An Approach to the Etiology of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2002, 99 (23), 14682–14687.
- (9) Johnson, P. T.; Brown, M. N.; Pulliam, B. C.; Anderson, D. H.; Johnson, L. V. Synaptic Pathology, Altered Gene Expression, and Degeneration in Photoreceptors Impacted by Drusen. *Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci.* 2005, *46* (12), 4788.
- (10) Sarks, J. P.; Sarks, S. H.; Killingsworth, M. C. Evolution of Geographic Atrophy of the Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Eye Lond. Engl.* **1988**, *2 (Pt 5)*, 552–577.
- (11) Roth, F.; Bindewald, A.; Holz, F. G. Keypathophysiologic Pathways in Age-Related Macular Disease. *Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* **2004**, *242* (8), 710–716.
- (12) Ambati, J.; Fowler, B. J. Mechanisms of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Neuron* **2012**, *75* (1), 26–39.
- (13) Age-Related Eye Disease Study 2 Research Group. Lutein + Zeaxanthin and Omega-3 Fatty Acids for Age-Related Macular Degeneration: The Age-Related Eye Disease Study 2 (AREDS2) Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2013, 309 (19), 2005– 2015.
- (14) Green, W. R. Histopathology of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Mol. Vis.* **1999**, *5*, 27.
- (15) Jager, R. D.; Mieler, W. F.; Miller, J. W. Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2008**, *358* (24), 2606–2617.
- (16) CATT Research Group; Martin, D. F.; Maguire, M. G.; Ying, G.; Grunwald, J. E.; Fine, S. L.; Jaffe, G. J. Ranibizumab and Bevacizumab for Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2011, 364 (20), 1897–1908.
- (17) Sunness, J. S. The Natural History of Geographic Atrophy, the Advanced Atrophic Form of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Mol. Vis.* **1999**, *5*, 25.
- (18) Chakravarthy, U.; Augood, C.; Bentham, G. C.; de Jong, P. T. V. M.; Rahu, M.; Seland, J.; Soubrane, G.; Tomazzoli, L.; Topouzis, F.; Vingerling, J. R.; et al.

Cigarette Smoking and Age-Related Macular Degeneration in the EUREYE Study. *Ophthalmology* **2007**, *114* (6), 1157–1163.

- (19) Thornton, J.; Edwards, R.; Mitchell, P.; Harrison, R. A.; Buchan, I.; Kelly, S. P. Smoking and Age-Related Macular Degeneration: A Review of Association. *Eye Lond. Engl.* **2005**, *19* (9), 935–944.
- (20) Kaushik, S.; Wang, J. J.; Flood, V.; Tan, J. S. L.; Barclay, A. W.; Wong, T. Y.; Brand-Miller, J.; Mitchell, P. Dietary Glycemic Index and the Risk of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2008**, *88* (4), 1104–1110.
- (21) Tan, J. S. L.; Wang, J. J.; Flood, V.; Rochtchina, E.; Smith, W.; Mitchell, P. Dietary Antioxidants and the Long-Term Incidence of Age-Related Macular Degeneration: The Blue Mountains Eye Study. *Ophthalmology* **2008**, *115* (2), 334–341.
- (22) Kishan, A. U.; Modjtahedi, B. S.; Martins, E. N.; Modjtahedi, S. P.; Morse, L. S. Lipids and Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Surv. Ophthalmol.* **2011**, *56* (3), 195–213.
- (23) Algvere, P. V.; Marshall, J.; Seregard, S. Age-Related Maculopathy and the Impact of Blue Light Hazard. *Acta Ophthalmol. Scand.* **2006**, *84* (1), 4–15.
- (24) Wenzel, A.; Grimm, C.; Samardzija, M.; Remé, C. E. Molecular Mechanisms of Light-Induced Photoreceptor Apoptosis and Neuroprotection for Retinal Degeneration. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.* **2005**, *24* (2), 275–306.
- (25) Wu, J.; Seregard, S.; Algvere, P. V. Photochemical Damage of the Retina. *Surv. Ophthalmol.* **2006**, *51* (5), 461–481.
- Bergeron-Sawitzke, J.; Gold, B.; Olsh, A.; Schlotterbeck, S.; Lemon, K.; Visvanathan, K.; Allikmets, R.; Dean, M. Multilocus Analysis of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 2009, *17* (9), 1190–1199.
- Hageman, G. S.; Anderson, D. H.; Johnson, L. V.; Hancox, L. S.; Taiber, A. J.; Hardisty, L. I.; Hageman, J. L.; Stockman, H. A.; Borchardt, J. D.; Gehrs, K. M.; et al. A Common Haplotype in the Complement Regulatory Gene Factor H (HF1/CFH) Predisposes Individuals to Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 2005, 102 (20), 7227–7232.
- (28) Haines, J. L.; Hauser, M. A.; Schmidt, S.; Scott, W. K.; Olson, L. M.; Gallins, P.; Spencer, K. L.; Kwan, S. Y.; Noureddine, M.; Gilbert, J. R.; et al. Complement Factor H Variant Increases the Risk of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Science* 2005, 308 (5720), 419–421.
- (29) Klein, R. J. Complement Factor H Polymorphism in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Science* **2005**, *308* (5720), 385–389.
- (30) Leveziel, N.; Tilleul, J.; Puche, N.; Zerbib, J.; Laloum, F.; Querques, G.; Souied, E. H. Genetic Factors Associated with Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Ophthalmologica* **2011**, 226 (3), 87–102.
- (31) Spencer, K. L.; Hauser, M. A.; Olson, L. M.; Schmidt, S.; Scott, W. K.; Gallins, P.; Agarwal, A.; Postel, E. A.; Pericak-Vance, M. A.; Haines, J. L. Protective Effect of Complement Factor B and Complement Component 2 Variants in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **2007**, *16* (16), 1986–1992.
- (32) Tuo, J.; Smith, B. C.; Bojanowski, C. M.; Meleth, A. D.; Gery, I.; Csaky, K. G.; Chew, E. Y.; Chan, C.-C. The Involvement of Sequence Variation and Expression of CX3CR1 in the Pathogenesis of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *FASEB J. Off. Publ. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol.* **2004**, *18* (11), 1297–1299.
- (33) Sui, G.-Y.; Liu, G.-C.; Liu, G.-Y.; Gao, Y.-Y.; Deng, Y.; Wang, W.-Y.; Tong, S.-H.; Wang, L. Is Sunlight Exposure a Risk Factor for Age-Related Macular Degeneration? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2013**, *97* (4), 389–394.
- (34) Holz, F. G.; Pauleikhoff, D.; Klein, R.; Bird, A. C. Pathogenesis of Lesions in Late Age-Related Macular Disease. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* **2004**, *137* (3), 504–510.

- (35) Combadière, C.; Feumi, C.; Raoul, W.; Keller, N.; Rodéro, M.; Pézard, A.; Lavalette, S.; Houssier, M.; Jonet, L.; Picard, E.; et al. CX3CR1-Dependent Subretinal Microglia Cell Accumulation Is Associated with Cardinal Features of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2007**, *117* (10), 2920–2928.
- (36) Rizzolo, L. J. Polarity and the Development of the Outer Blood-Retinal Barrier. *Histol. Histopathol.* **1997**, *12* (4), 1057–1067.
- (37) Hildebrand, G. D.; Fielder, A. R. Anatomy and Physiology of the Retina. In *Pediatric Retina*; Reynolds, J., Olitsky, S., Eds.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011; pp 39–65.
- (38) Ambati, J.; Atkinson, J. P.; Gelfand, B. D. Immunology of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2013**, *13* (6), 438–451.
- (39) Bok, D. The Retinal Pigment Epithelium: A Versatile Partner in Vision. J. Cell Sci. Suppl. **1993**, *17*, 189–195.
- (40) Finnemann, S. C. Focal Adhesion Kinase Signaling Promotes Phagocytosis of Integrin-Bound Photoreceptors. *EMBO J.* **2003**, *22* (16), 4143–4154.
- (41) Gal, A.; Li, Y.; Thompson, D. A.; Weir, J.; Orth, U.; Jacobson, S. G.; Apfelstedt-Sylla, E.; Vollrath, D. Mutations in MERTK, the Human Orthologue of the RCS Rat Retinal Dystrophy Gene, Cause Retinitis Pigmentosa. *Nat. Genet.* 2000, *26* (3), 270–271.
- (42) Strauss, O.; Stumpff, F.; Mergler, S.; Wienrich, M.; Wiederholt, M. The Royal College of Surgeons Rat: An Animal Model for Inherited Retinal Degeneration with a Still Unknown Genetic Defect. *Acta Anat. (Basel)* **1998**, *162* (2–3), 101–111.
- (43) Ambati, J.; Ambati, B. K.; Yoo, S. H.; Ianchulev, S.; Adamis, A. P. Age-Related Macular Degeneration: Etiology, Pathogenesis, and Therapeutic Strategies. *Surv. Ophthalmol.* **2003**, *48* (3), 257–293.
- (44) Das, A.; McGuire, P. G. Retinal and Choroidal Angiogenesis: Pathophysiology and Strategies for Inhibition. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.* **2003**, *22* (6), 721–748.
- (45) Herbig, U.; Ferreira, M.; Condel, L.; Carey, D.; Sedivy, J. M. Cellular Senescence in Aging Primates. *Science* **2006**, *311* (5765), 1257.
- (46) Finnemann, S. C. The Lipofuscin Component A2E Selectively Inhibits Phagolysosomal Degradation of Photoreceptor Phospholipid by the Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2002**, *99* (6), 3842–3847.
- (47) Kopitz, J.; Holz, F. G.; Kaemmerer, E.; Schutt, F. Lipids and Lipid Peroxidation Products in the Pathogenesis of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Biochimie* **2004**, *86* (11), 825–831.
- (48) Holz, F. G.; Bellman, C.; Staudt, S.; Schütt, F.; Völcker, H. E. Fundus Autofluorescence and Development of Geographic Atrophy in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2001**, *42* (5), 1051–1056.
- (49) Winkler, B. S.; Boulton, M. E.; Gottsch, J. D.; Sternberg, P. Oxidative Damage and Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Mol. Vis.* **1999**, *5*, 32.
- (50) Esterbauer, H.; Dieber-Rotheneder, M.; Waeg, G.; Puhl, H.; Tatzber, F. Endogenous Antioxidants and Lipoprotein Oxidation. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **1990**, *18* (6), 1059– 1061.
- (51) Montine, T. J.; Neely, M. D.; Quinn, J. F.; Beal, M. F.; Markesbery, W. R.; Roberts, L. J.; Morrow, J. D. Lipid Peroxidation in Aging Brain and Alzheimer's Disease. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 2002, 33 (5), 620–626.
- (52) van Reyk, D. M.; Gillies, M. C.; Davies, M. J. The Retina: Oxidative Stress and Diabetes. *Redox Rep. Commun. Free Radic. Res.* **2003**, *8* (4), 187–192.
- (53) Grattagliano, I.; Vendemiale, G.; Boscia, F.; Micelli-Ferrari, T.; Cardia, L.; Altomare, E. Oxidative Retinal Products and Ocular Damages in Diabetic Patients. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **1998**, *25* (3), 369–372.

- (54) Spector, A. Oxidative Stress-Induced Cataract: Mechanism of Action. *FASEB J. Off. Publ. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol.* **1995**, 9 (12), 1173–1182.
- (55) Baskol, G.; Karakucuk, S.; Ozturk Oner, A.; Baskol, M.; Kocer, D.; Mirza, E.; Saraymen, R.; İstdal, M. Serum Paraoxonase 1 Activity and Lipid Peroxidation Levels in Patients with Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Ophthalmologica* 2006, 220 (1), 12–16.
- (56) Boveris, A.; Navarro, A. Brain Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Aging. *IUBMB Life* **2008**, *60* (5), 308–314.
- (57) Sies, H. Oxidative Stress: From Basic Research to Clinical Application. *Am. J. Med.* **1991**, *91* (3), S31–S38.
- (58) Vincent, H. K.; Taylor, A. G. Biomarkers and Potential Mechanisms of Obesity-Induced Oxidant Stress in Humans. *Int. J. Obes.* **2006**, *30* (3), 400–418.
- (59) Boveris, A.; Chance, B. The Mitochondrial Generation of Hydrogen Peroxide. General Properties and Effect of Hyperbaric Oxygen. *Biochem. J.* **1973**, *134* (3), 707–716.
- (60) Boulton, M.; Różanowska, M.; Różanowski, B. Retinal Photodamage. *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B* **2001**, *64* (2–3), 144–161.
- (61) Machlin, L. J.; Bendich, A. Free Radical Tissue Damage: Protective Role of Antioxidant Nutrients. *FASEB J.* **1987**, *1* (6), 441–445.
- (62) Vertuani, S.; Angusti, A.; Manfredini, S. The Antioxidants and pro-Antioxidants Network: An Overview. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* **2004**, *10* (14), 1677–1694.
- (63) McCall, M. R.; Frei, B. Can Antioxidant Vitamins Materially Reduce Oxidative Damage in Humans? *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **1999**, *26* (7–8), 1034–1053.
- (64) Beatty, S.; Koh, H.; Phil, M.; Henson, D.; Boulton, M. The Role of Oxidative Stress in the Pathogenesis of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Surv. Ophthalmol.* 2000, 45 (2), 115–134.
- (65) Wisniewska-Becker, A.; Nawrocki, G.; Duda, M.; Subczynski, W. K. Structural Aspects of the Antioxidant Activity of Lutein in a Model of Photoreceptor Membranes. *Acta Biochim. Pol.* **2012**, *59* (1), 119.
- (66) Liles, M. R.; Newsome, D. A.; Oliver, P. D. Antioxidant Enzymes in the Aging Human Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Arch. Ophthalmol. Chic. III 1960* **1991**, *109* (9), 1285–1288.
- (67) Samiec, P. S.; Drews-Botsch, C.; Flagg, E. W.; Kurtz, J. C.; Sternberg, P.; Reed, R. L.; Jones, D. P. Glutathione in Human Plasma: Decline in Association with Aging, Age-Related Macular Degeneration, and Diabetes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **1998**, 24 (5), 699–704.
- (68) Esterbauer, H.; Schaur, R. J.; Zollner, H. Chemistry and Biochemistry of 4-Hydroxynonenal, Malonaldehyde and Related Aldehydes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **1991**, *11* (1), 81–128.
- (69) Uchida, K. 4-Hydroxy-2-Nonenal: A Product and Mediator of Oxidative Stress. *Prog. Lipid Res.* **2003**, *42* (4), 318–343.
- (70) de Jong, P. T. V. M. Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2006, 355 (14), 1474–1485.
- (71) Zarbin MA. CUrrent Concepts in the Pathogenesis of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* **2004**, *122* (4), 598–614.
- (72) Khandhadia, S.; Lotery, A. Oxidation and Age-Related Macular Degeneration: Insights from Molecular Biology. *Expert Rev. Mol. Med.* **2010**, *12*, e34.
- (73) Beckman, K. B.; Ames, B. N. The Free Radical Theory of Aging Matures. *Physiol. Rev.* **1998**, *78* (2), 547–581.
- (74) Halliwell, B.; Gutteridge, J. M. C. *Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine*, 4th ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford ; New York, 2007.

- (75) Stadtman, E. R. Protein Oxidation and Aging. *Science* **1992**, *257* (5074), 1220–1224.
- (76) Southorn, P. A.; Powis, G. Free Radicals in Medicine. II. Involvement in Human Disease. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* **1988**, *63* (4), 390–408.
- Kohen, R.; Nyska, A. Oxidation of Biological Systems: Oxidative Stress Phenomena, Antioxidants, Redox Reactions, and Methods for Their Quantification. *Toxicol. Pathol.* 2002, 30 (6), 620–650.
- (78) Valko, M.; Morris, H.; Cronin, M. T. D. Metals, Toxicity and Oxidative Stress. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **2005**, *12* (10), 1161–1208.
- (79) Fliesler, S. J.; Anderson, R. E. Chemistry and Metabolism of Lipids in the Vertebrate Retina. *Prog. Lipid Res.* **1983**, *22* (2), 79–131.
- (80) Kaemmerer, E.; Schutt, F.; Krohne, T. U.; Holz, F. G.; Kopitz, J. Effects of Lipid Peroxidation-Related Protein Modifications on RPE Lysosomal Functions and POS Phagocytosis. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2007**, *48* (3), 1342–1347.
- (81) Schutt, F. Proteins Modified by Malondialdehyde, 4-Hydroxynonenal, or Advanced Glycation End Products in Lipofuscin of Human Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2003**, *44* (8), 3663–3668.
- (82) Katz, M. L.; Rice, L. M.; Gao, C.-L. Reversible Accumulation of Lipofuscin-like Inclusions in the Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **1999**, 40 (1), 175–181.
- (83) Terman, A.; Dalen, H.; Eaton, J. W.; Neuzil, J.; Brunk, U. T. Aging of Cardiac Myocytes in Culture: Oxidative Stress, Lipofuscin Accumulation, and Mitochondrial Turnover. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **2004**, *1019* (1), 70–77.
- (84) Boulton, M.; Marshall, J.; Mellerio, J. Retinitis Pigmentosa: A Quantitative Study of the Apical Membrane of Normal and Dystrophic Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells in Tissue Culture in Relation to Phagocytosis. *Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. Albrecht Von Graefes Arch. Für Klin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* **1984**, 221 (5), 214–229.
- (85) Holz, F. G.; Schütt, F.; Kopitz, J.; Eldred, G. E.; Kruse, F. E.; Völcker, H. E.; Cantz, M. Inhibition of Lysosomal Degradative Functions in RPE Cells by a Retinoid Component of Lipofuscin. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **1999**, *40* (3), 737–743.
- (86) Mata, N. L.; Weng, J.; Travis, G. H. Biosynthesis of a Major Lipofuscin Fluorophore in Mice and Humans with ABCR-Mediated Retinal and Macular Degeneration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2000**, *97* (13), 7154–7159.
- (87) Wassell, J.; Boulton, M. A Role for Vitamin A in the Formation of Ocular Lipofuscin. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **1997**, *81* (10), 911–918.
- (88) Eldred, G. E. Lipofuscin and Other Lysosomal Storage Deposits in the Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Retin. Pigment Epithelium* **1998**, 651–668.
- (89) Delori, F. C. RPE Lipofuscin in Ageing and Age-Related Macular Degeneration. In *Retinal Pigment Epithelium and Macular Diseases*; Coscas, G., Piccolino, F. C., Eds.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, 1998; Vol. 62, pp 37–45.
- (90) Delori, F. C.; Dorey, C. K.; Staurenghi, G.; Arend, O.; Goger, D. G.; Weiter, J. J. In Vivo Fluorescence of the Ocular Fundus Exhibits Retinal Pigment Epithelium Lipofuscin Characteristics. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **1995**, *36* (3), 718–729.
- (91) Delori, F. C. Spectrophotometer for Noninvasive Measurement of Intrinsic Fluorescence and Reflectance of the Ocular Fundus. *Appl. Opt.* **1994**, *33* (31), 7439– 7452.
- (92) Wing, G. L.; Blanchard, G. C.; Weiter, J. J. The Topography and Age Relationship of Lipofuscin Concentration in the Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **1978**, *17* (7), 601–607.

- (93) Feeney-Burns, L.; Eldred, G. E. The Fate of the Phagosome: Conversion to "Age Pigment" and Impact in Human Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Trans. Ophthalmol. Soc. U. K.* **1983**, *103 (Pt 4)*, 416–421.
- (94) Weiter, J. J.; Delori, F. C.; Wing, G. L.; Fitch, K. A. Retinal Pigment Epithelial Lipofuscin and Melanin and Choroidal Melanin in Human Eyes. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **1986**, *27* (2), 145–152.
- (95) Delori, F. C.; Goger, D. G.; Dorey, C. K. Age-Related Accumulation and Spatial Distribution of Lipofuscin in RPE of Normal Subjects. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2001, *42* (8), 1855–1866.
- Davies, S.; Elliott, M. H.; Floor, E.; Truscott, T. G.; Zareba, M.; Sarna, T.; Shamsi, F. A.; Boulton, M. E. Photocytotoxicity of Lipofuscin in Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 2001, *31* (2), 256–265.
- (97) Schütt, F.; Davies, S.; Kopitz, J.; Holz, F. G.; Boulton, M. E. Photodamage to Human RPE Cells by A2-E, a Retinoid Component of Lipofuscin. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2000**, *41* (8), 2303–2308.
- (98) Wu, L.; Ueda, K.; Nagasaki, T.; Sparrow, J. R. Light Damage in Abca4 and Rpe65rd12 Mice. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2014**, *55* (3), 1910–1918.
- (99) Tomany, S. C.; Cruickshanks, K. J.; Klein, R.; Klein, B. E. K.; Knudtson, M. D. Sunlight and the 10-Year Incidence of Age-Related Maculopathy: The Beaver Dam Eye Study. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* **2004**, *122* (5), 750–757.
- (100) Taylor, H. R.; West, S.; Muñoz, B.; Rosenthal, F. S.; Bressler, S. B.; Bressler, N. M. The Long-Term Effects of Visible Light on the Eye. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* **1992**, *110* (1), 99–104.
- (101) Arnault, E.; Barrau, C.; Nanteau, C.; Gondouin, P.; Bigot, K.; Viénot, F.; Gutman, E.; Fontaine, V.; Villette, T.; Cohen-Tannoudji, D.; et al. Phototoxic Action Spectrum on a Retinal Pigment Epithelium Model of Age-Related Macular Degeneration Exposed to Sunlight Normalized Conditions. *PloS One* **2013**, *8* (8), e71398.
- (102) Roberts, J. E. Ocular Phototoxicity. *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B* **2001**, *64* (2–3), 136–143.
- (103) Foyer, C. H.; Lopez-Delgado, H.; Dat, J. F.; Scott, I. M. Hydrogen Peroxide- and Glutathione-Associated Mechanisms of Acclimatory Stress Tolerance and Signalling. *Physiol. Plant.* **1997**, *100* (2), 241–254.
- (104) Rózanowska, M.; Sarna, T. Light-Induced Damage to the Retina: Role of Rhodopsin Chromophore Revisited. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **2005**, *81* (6), 1305–1330.
- (105) De Duve, C. Lysosomes Revisited. Eur. J. Biochem. FEBS 1983, 137 (3), 391–397.
- (106) Luzio, J. P.; Poupon, V.; Lindsay, M. R.; Mullock, B. M.; Piper, R. C.; Pryor, P. R. Membrane Dynamics and the Biogenesis of Lysosomes (Review). *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 2003, 20 (2), 141–154.
- (107) Lüllmann-Rauch, R. History and Morphology of the Lysosome. In *Lysosomes*; Springer US: Boston, MA, 2005; pp 1–16.
- (108) De Duve, C.; Wattiaux, R. Functions of Lysosomes. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* **1966**, *28*, 435–492.
- (109) Turk, B.; Stoka, V. Protease Signalling in Cell Death: Caspases versus Cysteine Cathepsins. *FEBS Lett.* **2007**, *581* (15), 2761–2767.
- (110) Bagshaw, R. D.; Mahuran, D. J.; Callahan, J. W. Lysosomal Membrane Proteomics and Biogenesis of Lysosomes. *Mol. Neurobiol.* **2005**, *32* (1), 27–41.
- (111) Ciechanover, A. Intracellular Protein Degradation: From a Vague Idea, through the Lysosome and the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System, and onto Human Diseases and Drug Targeting (Nobel Lecture). *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl.* **2005**, *44* (37), 5944–5967.

- (112) Luzio, J. P.; Pryor, P. R.; Bright, N. A. Lysosomes: Fusion and Function. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2007**, *8* (8), 622–632.
- (113) Saftig, P.; Schröder, B.; Blanz, J. Lysosomal Membrane Proteins: Life between Acid and Neutral Conditions. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **2010**, *38* (6), 1420–1423.
- (114) Winchester, B. G. Lysosomal Membrane Proteins. *Eur. J. Paediatr. Neurol.* **2001**, *5*, 11–19.
- (115) Eskelinen, E.-L. Roles of LAMP-1 and LAMP-2 in Lysosome Biogenesis and Autophagy. *Mol. Aspects Med.* **2006**, *27* (5–6), 495–502.
- (116) Ohkuma, S.; Poole, B. Fluorescence Probe Measurement of the Intralysosomal pH in Living Cells and the Perturbation of pH by Various Agents. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1978**, 75 (7), 3327–3331.
- (117) Ohkuma, S.; Moriyama, Y.; Takano, T. Identification and Characterization of a Proton Pump on Lysosomes by Fluorescein-Isothiocyanate-Dextran Fluorescence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1982**, 79 (9), 2758–2762.
- (118) Schneider, D. L. ATP-Dependent Acidification of Intact and Disrupted Lysosomes. Evidence for an ATP-Driven Proton Pump. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1981**, 256 (8), 3858–3864.
- (119) Caruso, J. A.; Mathieu, P. A.; Reiners, J. J. Sphingomyelins Suppress the Targeted Disruption of Lysosomes/endosomes by the Photosensitizer NPe6 during Photodynamic Therapy. *Biochem. J.* **2005**, *392* (2), *325–334*.
- (120) Kessel, D.; Luo, Y.; Mathieu, P.; Reiners, J. J. Determinants of the Apoptotic Response to Lysosomal Photodamage. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **2000**, *71* (2), 196–200.
- (121) Reiners, J. J.; Caruso, J. A.; Mathieu, P.; Chelladurai, B.; Yin, X.-M.; Kessel, D. Release of Cytochrome c and Activation of pro-Caspase-9 Following Lysosomal Photodamage Involves Bid Cleavage. *Cell Death Differ.* **2002**, *9* (9), 934–944.
- (122) Uchimoto, T.; Nohara, H.; Kamehara, R.; Iwamura, M.; Watanabe, N.; Kobayashi, Y. Mechanism of Apoptosis Induced by a Lysosomotropic Agent, L-Leucyl-L-Leucine Methyl Ester. *Apoptosis Int. J. Program. Cell Death* **1999**, *4* (5), 357–362.
- Boya, P.; Andreau, K.; Poncet, D.; Zamzami, N.; Perfettini, J.-L.; Metivier, D.; Ojcius, D. M.; Jäättelä, M.; Kroemer, G. Lysosomal Membrane Permeabilization Induces Cell Death in a Mitochondrion-Dependent Fashion. *J. Exp. Med.* 2003, *197* (10), 1323–1334.
- (124) Sparrow, J. R.; Vollmer-Snarr, H. R.; Zhou, J.; Jang, Y. P.; Jockusch, S.; Itagaki, Y.; Nakanishi, K. A2E-Epoxides Damage DNA in Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. Vitamin E and Other Antioxidants Inhibit A2E-Epoxide Formation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2003, *278* (20), 18207–18213.
- (125) Zdolsek, J.; Zhang, H.; Roberg, K.; Brunk, U.; Sies, H. H2O2-Mediated Damage to Lysosomal Membranes of J-774 Cells. *Free Radic. Res.* **1993**, *18* (2), 71–85.
- Hornung, V.; Bauernfeind, F.; Halle, A.; Samstad, E.; Kono, H.; Rock, K. L.;
 Fitzgerald, K. A.; Latz, E. Silica Crystals and Aluminium Salts Mediate Nalp-3
 Inflammasome Activation Via Phagosomal Destabilization. *Nat Immunol* 2008, *9* (8), 847–856.
- (127) Bivik, C. A.; Larsson, P. K.; Kågedal, K. M.; Rosdahl, I. K.; Ollinger, K. M. UVA/B-Induced Apoptosis in Human Melanocytes Involves Translocation of Cathepsins and Bcl-2 Family Members. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **2006**, *126* (5), 1119–1127.
- (128) Schestkowa, O.; Geisel, D.; Jacob, R.; Hasilik, A. The Catalytically Inactive Precursor of Cathepsin D Induces Apoptosis in Human Fibroblasts and HeLa Cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 2007, 101 (6), 1558–1566.
- (129) Roberg, K.; Kågedal, K.; Öllinger, K. Microinjection of Cathepsin D Induces Caspase-Dependent Apoptosis in Fibroblasts. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2002**, *161* (1), 89–96.

- (130) Kurz, T.; Terman, A.; Gustafsson, B.; Brunk, U. T. Lysosomes in Iron Metabolism, Ageing and Apoptosis. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* **2008**, *129* (4), 389–406.
- (131) Gasque, P. Complement: A Unique Innate Immune Sensor for Danger Signals. *Mol. Immunol.* **2004**, *41* (11), 1089–1098.
- (132) Murphy, K. M.; Travers, P.; Walport, M.; Janeway, C. A.; Ehrenstein, M.; Seidler, L. *Janeway Immunologie*, 7., Aufl., korrigierter Nachdr. 2014.; Springer Spektrum: Berlin, 2014.
- (133) Lachmann, P. J.; Hughes-Jones, N. C. Initiation of Complement Activation. *Springer Semin. Immunopathol.* **1984**, 7 (2–3), 143–162.
- (134) Muller-Eberhard, H. J. Molecular Organization and Function of the Complement System. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **1988**, *57* (1), 321–347.
- (135) Kemper, C.; Atkinson, J. P.; Hourcade, D. E. Properdin: Emerging Roles of a Pattern-Recognition Molecule. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2010**, *28*, 131–155.
- (136) Atkinson, J. P.; Farries, T. Separation of Self from Non-Self in the Complement System. *Immunol. Today* **1987**, *8* (7–8), 212–215.
- (137) Kawa, M. P.; Machalinska, A.; Roginska, D.; Machalinski, B. Complement System in Pathogenesis of AMD: Dual Player in Degeneration and Protection of Retinal Tissue. *J. Immunol. Res.* **2014**, *Article ID* 483960, 12 pages.
- (138) Zipfel, P. F.; Skerka, C. Complement Regulators and Inhibitory Proteins. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2009**, 9 (10), 729–740.
- (139) Clark, S. J.; Higman, V. A.; Mulloy, B.; Perkins, S. J.; Lea, S. M.; Sim, R. B.; Day, A. J. His-384 Allotypic Variant of Factor H Associated with Age-Related Macular Degeneration Has Different Heparin Binding Properties from the Non-Disease-Associated Form. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2006**, *281* (34), 24713–24720.
- (140) Clark, S. J.; Perveen, R.; Hakobyan, S.; Morgan, B. P.; Sim, R. B.; Bishop, P. N.; Day, A. J. Impaired Binding of the Age-Related Macular Degeneration-Associated Complement Factor H 402H Allotype to Bruch's Membrane in Human Retina. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2010**, *285* (39), 30192–30202.
- (141) Hollyfield, J. G.; Bonilha, V. L.; Rayborn, M. E.; Yang, X.; Shadrach, K. G.; Lu, L.; Ufret, R. L.; Salomon, R. G.; Perez, V. L. Oxidative Damage-Induced Inflammation Initiates Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Nat. Med.* **2008**, *14* (2), 194–198.
- (142) Johnson, P.; Betts, K.; Radeke, M.; Hageman, G.; Anderson, D.; Johnson, L. Individuals Homozygous for the Age-Related Macular Degeneration Risk-Conferring Variant of Complement Factor H Have Elevated Levels of CRP in the Choroid. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2006**, *103* (46), 17456–17461.
- (143) Laine, M.; Jarva, H.; Seitsonen, S.; Haapasalo, K.; Lehtinen, M. J.; Lindeman, N.; Anderson, D. H.; Johnson, P. T.; Järvelä, I.; Jokiranta, T. S. Y402H Polymorphism of Complement Factor H Affects Binding Affinity to C-Reactive Protein. *J. Immunol.* 2007, *178* (6), 3831–3836.
- (144) Lauer, N.; Mihlan, M.; Hartmann, A.; Schlötzer-Schrehardt, U.; Keilhauer, C.; Scholl, H. P.; Issa, P. C.; Holz, F.; Weber, B. H.; Skerka, C. Complement Regulation at Necrotic Cell Lesions Is Impaired by the Age-Related Macular Degeneration-Associated Factor-H His402 Risk Variant. *J. Immunol.* 2011, *187* (8), 4374–4383.
- (145) Montes, T.; Tortajada, A.; Morgan, B. P.; Rodriguez de Cordoba, S.; Harris, C. L. Functional Basis of Protection against Age-Related Macular Degeneration Conferred by a Common Polymorphism in Complement Factor B. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2009, 106 (11), 4366–4371.
- (146) Ormsby, R. J.; Ranganathan, S.; Tong, J. C.; Griggs, K. M.; Dimasi, D. P.; Hewitt, A. W.; Burdon, K. P.; Craig, J. E.; Hoh, J.; Gordon, D. L. Functional and Structural Implications of the Complement Factor H Y402H Polymorphism Associated with Age-

Related Macular Degeneration. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2008**, 49 (5), 1763–1770.

- (147) Sjöberg, A. P.; Trouw, L. A.; Clark, S. J.; Sjölander, J.; Heinegård, D.; Sim, R. B.; Day, A. J.; Blom, A. M. The Factor H Variant Associated with Age-Related Macular Degeneration (H384) and the Non-Disease Associated Form Bind Differentially to C-Reactive Protein, Fibromodulin, DNA and Necrotic Cells. *Mol. Immunol.* 2007, 16 (44), 3988.
- (148) Skerka, C.; Lauer, N.; Weinberger, A. A. W. A.; Keilhauer, C. N.; Sühnel, J.; Smith, R.; Schlötzer-Schrehardt, U.; Fritsche, L.; Heinen, S.; Hartmann, A.; et al. Defective Complement Control of Factor H (Y402H) and FHL-1 in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Mol. Immunol.* **2007**, *44* (13), 3398–3406.
- (149) Anderson, D. H.; Mullins, R. F.; Hageman, G. S.; Johnson, L. V. A Role for Local Inflammation in the Formation of Drusen in the Aging Eye. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* **2002**, *134* (3), 411–431.
- (150) Johnson, L. V.; Leitner, W. P.; Staples, M. K.; Anderson, D. H. Complement Activation and Inflammatory Processes in Drusen Formation and Age Related Macular Degeneration. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2001**, *73* (6), 887–896.
- (151) Daffern, P. J.; Pfeifer, P. H.; Ember, J. A.; Hugli, T. E. C3a Is a Chemotaxin for Human Eosinophils but Not for Neutrophils. I. C3a Stimulation of Neutrophils Is Secondary to Eosinophil Activation. *J. Exp. Med.* **1995**, *181* (6), 2119–2127.
- (152) Ember, J. A.; Hugli, T. E. Complement Factors and Their Receptors. *Immunopharmacology* **1997**, *38* (1–2), 3–15.
- (153) Dunkelberger, J. R.; Song, W.-C. Complement and Its Role in Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses. *Cell Res.* **2009**, *20* (1), 34–50.
- (154) Molina, H.; Holers, V. M.; Li, B.; Fung, Y.; Mariathasan, S.; Goellner, J.; Strauss-Schoenberger, J.; Karr, R. W.; Chaplin, D. D. Markedly Impaired Humoral Immune Response in Mice Deficient in Complement Receptors 1 and 2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1996**, *93* (8), 3357–3361.
- (155) Cao, S.; Wang, J. C. C.; Gao, J.; Wong, M.; To, E.; White, V. A.; Cui, J. Z.; Matsubara, J. A. CFH Y402H Polymorphism and the Complement Activation Product C5a: Effects on NF-κB Activation and Inflammasome Gene Regulation. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2016**, *100* (5), 713–718.
- (156) Chai, J.; Shi, Y. Apoptosome and Inflammasome: Conserved Machineries for Caspase Activation. *Natl. Sci. Rev.* **2014**, *1* (1), 101–118.
- (157) Martinon, F.; Mayor, A.; Tschopp, J. The Inflammasomes: Guardians of the Body. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2009**, *27*, 229–265.
- (158) Martinon, F.; Pétrilli, V.; Mayor, A.; Tardivel, A.; Tschopp, J. Gout-Associated Uric Acid Crystals Activate the NALP3 Inflammasome. *Nature* **2006**, *440* (7081), 237–241.
- (159) Yamasaki, K.; Muto, J.; Taylor, K. R.; Cogen, A. L.; Audish, D.; Bertin, J.; Grant, E. P.; Coyle, A. J.; Misaghi, A.; Hoffman, H. M.; et al. NLRP3/cryopyrin Is Necessary for Interleukin-1beta (IL-1beta) Release in Response to Hyaluronan, an Endogenous Trigger of Inflammation in Response to Injury. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2009**, *284* (19), 12762–12771.
- (160) Bakele, M.; Joos, M.; Burdi, S.; Allgaier, N.; Poschel, S.; Fehrenbacher, B.; Schaller, M.; Marcos, V.; Kummerle-Deschner, J.; Rieber, N.; et al. Localization and Functionality of the Inflammasome in Neutrophils. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2014**, *289* (8), 5320–5329.
- (161) Sharp, F. A.; Ruane, D.; Claass, B.; Creagh, E.; Harris, J.; Malyala, P.; Singh, M.; O'Hagan, D. T.; Petrilli, V.; Tschopp, J.; et al. Uptake of Particulate Vaccine Adjuvants by Dendritic Cells Activates the NALP3 Inflammasome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2009, *106* (3), 870–875.

- (162) Feldmeyer, L.; Keller, M.; Niklaus, G.; Hohl, D.; Werner, S.; Beer, H.-D. The Inflammasome Mediates UVB-Induced Activation and Secretion of Interleukin-1beta by Keratinocytes. *Curr. Biol. CB* **2007**, *17* (13), 1140–1145.
- (163) Davis, B. K.; Wen, H.; Ting, J. P.-Y. The Inflammasome NLRs in Immunity, Inflammation, and Associated Diseases. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2011**, *29*, 707–735.
- (164) Dupaul-Chicoine, J.; Yeretssian, G.; Doiron, K.; Bergstrom, K. S. B.; McIntire, C. R.; LeBlanc, P. M.; Meunier, C.; Turbide, C.; Gros, P.; Beauchemin, N.; et al. Control of Intestinal Homeostasis, Colitis, and Colitis-Associated Colorectal Cancer by the Inflammatory Caspases. *Immunity* **2010**, *32* (3), 367–378.
- (165) Franchi, L.; Muñoz-Planillo, R.; Reimer, T.; Eigenbrod, T.; Núñez, G. Inflammasomes as Microbial Sensors. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **2010**, *40* (3), 611–615.
- (166) Thomas, P. G.; Dash, P.; Aldridge, J. R.; Ellebedy, A. H.; Reynolds, C.; Funk, A. J.; Martin, W. J.; Lamkanfi, M.; Webby, R. J.; Boyd, K. L.; et al. The Intracellular Sensor NLRP3 Mediates Key Innate and Healing Responses to Influenza A Virus via the Regulation of Caspase-1. *Immunity* **2009**, *30* (4), 566–575.
- (167) Feldmann, J.; Prieur, A.-M.; Quartier, P.; Berquin, P.; Certain, S.; Cortis, E.; Teillac-Hamel, D.; Fischer, A.; Basile, G. de S. Chronic Infantile Neurological Cutaneous and Articular Syndrome Is Caused by Mutations in CIAS1, a Gene Highly Expressed in Polymorphonuclear Cells and Chondrocytes. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **2002**, *71* (1), 198– 203.
- (168) Hoffman, H. M.; Mueller, J. L.; Broide, D. H.; Wanderer, A. A.; Kolodner, R. D. Mutation of a New Gene Encoding a Putative Pyrin-like Protein Causes Familial Cold Autoinflammatory Syndrome and Muckle-Wells Syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* 2001, *29* (3), 301–305.
- (169) Robbins, G. R.; Wen, H.; Ting, J. P.-Y. Inflammasomes and Metabolic Disorders: Old Genes in Modern Diseases. *Mol. Cell* **2014**, *54* (2), 297–308.
- (170) Duewell, P.; Kono, H.; Rayner, K. J.; Sirois, C. M.; Vladimer, G.; Bauernfeind, F. G.; Abela, G. S.; Franchi, L.; Nunez, G.; Schnurr, M.; et al. NLRP3 Inflammasomes Are Required for Atherogenesis and Activated by Cholesterol Crystals. *Nature* **2010**, *464* (7293), 1357–1361.
- (171) Rajamäki, K.; Lappalainen, J.; Öörni, K.; Välimäki, E.; Matikainen, S.; Kovanen, P. T.; Eklund, K. K. Cholesterol Crystals Activate the NLRP3 Inflammasome in Human Macrophages: A Novel Link between Cholesterol Metabolism and Inflammation. *PLoS ONE* **2010**, *5* (7).
- (172) Masters, S. L.; Dunne, A.; Subramanian, S. L.; Hull, R. L.; Tannahill, G. M.; Sharp, F. A.; Becker, C.; Franchi, L.; Yoshihara, E.; Chen, Z.; et al. Activation of the NLRP3 Inflammasome by Islet Amyloid Polypeptide Provides a Mechanism for Enhanced IL-1β in Type 2 Diabetes. *Nat. Immunol.* **2010**, *11* (10), 897–904.
- (173) Alnemri, E. S.; Livingston, D. J.; Nicholson, D. W.; Salvesen, G.; Thornberry, N. A.;
 Wong, W. W.; Yuan, J. Human ICE/CED-3 Protease Nomenclature. *Cell* 1996, *87* (2), 171.
- Brydges, S. D.; Broderick, L.; McGeough, M. D.; Pena, C. A.; Mueller, J. L.; Hoffman, H. M. Divergence of IL-1, IL-18, and Cell Death in NLRP3 Inflammasomopathies. *J. Clin. Invest.* 2013, *123* (11), 4695–4705.
- (175) Lamkanfi, M.; Dixit, V. M. Inflammasomes and Their Roles in Health and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* **2012**, *28*, 137–161.
- (176) Riedl, S. J.; Salvesen, G. S. The Apoptosome: Signalling Platform of Cell Death. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2007**, *8* (5), 405–413.
- (177) Martinon, F.; Burns, K.; Tschopp, J. The Inflammasome: A Molecular Platform Triggering Activation of Inflammatory Caspases and Processing of proIL-Beta. *Mol. Cell* **2002**, *10* (2), 417–426.

- (178) Walsh, J. G.; Muruve, D. A.; Power, C. Inflammasomes in the CNS. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **2014**, *15* (2), 84–97.
- (179) Kayagaki, N.; Warming, S.; Lamkanfi, M.; Vande Walle, L.; Louie, S.; Dong, J.; Newton, K.; Qu, Y.; Liu, J.; Heldens, S.; et al. Non-Canonical Inflammasome Activation Targets Caspase-11. *Nature* **2011**, *479* (7371), 117–121.
- (180) Ting, J. P.-Y.; Davis, B. K. CATERPILLER: A Novel Gene Family Important in Immunity, Cell Death, and Diseases. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2005**, 23, 387–414.
- (181) Cridland, J. A.; Curley, E. Z.; Wykes, M. N.; Schroder, K.; Sweet, M. J.; Roberts, T. L.; Ragan, M. A.; Kassahn, K. S.; Stacey, K. J. The Mammalian PYHIN Gene Family: Phylogeny, Evolution and Expression. *BMC Evol. Biol.* **2012**, *12*, 140.
- (182) Eisenbarth, S. C.; Colegio, O. R.; O'Connor, W.; Sutterwala, F. S.; Flavell, R. A. Crucial Role for the Nalp3 Inflammasome in the Immunostimulatory Properties of Aluminium Adjuvants. *Nature* **2008**, *453* (7198), 1122–1126.
- (183) Franchi, L.; Eigenbrod, T.; Núñez, G. Cutting Edge: TNF-Alpha Mediates Sensitization to ATP and Silica via the NLRP3 Inflammasome in the Absence of Microbial Stimulation. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 **2009**, *183* (2), 792–796.
- (184) Hiscott, J.; Maroise, J.; Garoufalis, J.; D'Addario, M.; Roulston, A.; Kwan, I.; Pepin, N.; Lacoste, J.; Ngujen, H.; Bensi, G. Characterization of a Functional NF-Kappa B Site in the Human Interleukin 1 Beta Promoter: Evidence for a Positive Autoregulatory Loop. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **1993**, *13* (10), 6231–6240.
- (185) Tseng, W. A.; Thein, T.; Kinnunen, K.; Lashkari, K.; Gregory, M. S.; D'Amore, P. A.; Ksander, B. R. NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation in Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells by Lysosomal Destabilization: Implications for Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* **2013**, *54* (1), 110–120.
- (186) Stutz, A.; Golenbock, D. T.; Latz, E. Inflammasomes: Too Big to Miss. *J Clin Invest* **2009**, *119* (12), 3502–3511.
- (187) Dinarello, C. A. Immunological and Inflammatory Functions of the Interleukin-1 Family. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2009**, *27* (1), 519–550.
- (188) Bauernfeind, F. G.; Horvath, G.; Stutz, A.; Alnemri, E. S.; MacDonald, K.; Speert, D.; Fernandes-Alnemri, T.; Wu, J.; Monks, B. G.; Fitzgerald, K. A.; et al. Cutting Edge: NF-κB Activating Pattern Recognition and Cytokine Receptors License NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation by Regulating NLRP3 Expression. *J. Immunol.* 2009, 183 (2), 787–791.
- (189) Netea, M. G.; Nold-Petry, C. A.; Nold, M. F.; Joosten, L. A. B.; Opitz, B.; Meer, J. H. M. van der; Veerdonk, F. L. van de; Ferwerda, G.; Heinhuis, B.; Devesa, I.; et al. Differential Requirement for the Activation of the Inflammasome for Processing and Release of IL-1β in Monocytes and Macrophages. *Blood* **2009**, *113* (10), 2324–2335.
- (190) Dowling, J. K.; O'Neill, L. A. J. Biochemical Regulation of the Inflammasome. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2012**, *47* (5), 424–443.
- (191) Faustin, B.; Lartigue, L.; Bruey, J.-M.; Luciano, F.; Sergienko, E.; Bailly-Maitre, B.; Volkmann, N.; Hanein, D.; Rouiller, I.; Reed, J. C. Reconstituted NALP1 Inflammasome Reveals Two-Step Mechanism of Caspase-1 Activation. *Mol. Cell* **2007**, *25* (5), 713–724.
- (192) Bürckstümmer, T.; Baumann, C.; Blüml, S.; Dixit, E.; Dürnberger, G.; Jahn, H.; Planyavsky, M.; Bilban, M.; Colinge, J.; Bennett, K. L.; et al. An Orthogonal Proteomic-Genomic Screen Identifies AIM2 as a Cytoplasmic DNA Sensor for the Inflammasome. *Nat. Immunol.* **2009**, *10* (3), 266–272.
- (193) Fernandes-Alnemri, T.; Yu, J.-W.; Datta, P.; Wu, J.; Alnemri, E. S. AIM2 Activates the Inflammasome and Cell Death in Response to Cytoplasmic DNA. *Nature* **2009**, *458* (7237), 509–513.

- (194) Roberts, T. L.; Idris, A.; Dunn, J. A.; Kelly, G. M.; Burnton, C. M.; Hodgson, S.; Hardy, L. L.; Garceau, V.; Sweet, M. J.; Ross, I. L.; et al. HIN-200 Proteins Regulate Caspase Activation in Response to Foreign Cytoplasmic DNA. *Science* 2009, *323* (5917), 1057–1060.
- (195) Zhao, Y.; Yang, J.; Shi, J.; Gong, Y.-N.; Lu, Q.; Xu, H.; Liu, L.; Shao, F. The NLRC4 Inflammasome Receptors for Bacterial Flagellin and Type III Secretion Apparatus. *Nature* **2011**, *477* (7366), 596–600.
- (196) Bauernfeind, F.; Ablasser, A.; Bartok, E.; Kim, S.; Schmid-Burgk, J.; Cavlar, T.; Hornung, V. Inflammasomes: Current Understanding and Open Questions. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci. CMLS* **2011**, *68* (5), 765–783.
- (197) Cassel, S. L.; Eisenbarth, S. C.; Iyer, S. S.; Sadler, J. J.; Colegio, O. R.; Tephly, L. A.; Carter, A. B.; Rothman, P. B.; Flavell, R. A.; Sutterwala, F. S. The Nalp3 Inflammasome Is Essential for the Development of Silicosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2008, *105* (26), 9035–9040.
- (198) Cruz, C. M.; Rinna, A.; Forman, H. J.; Ventura, A. L. M.; Persechini, P. M.; Ojcius, D. M. ATP Activates a Reactive Oxygen Species-Dependent Oxidative Stress Response and Secretion of Proinflammatory Cytokines in Macrophages. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2007, 282 (5), 2871–2879.
- (199) Dostert, C.; Petrilli, V.; Van Bruggen, R.; Steele, C.; Mossman, B. T.; Tschopp, J. Innate Immune Activation Through Nalp3 Inflammasome Sensing of Asbestos and Silica. *Science* **2008**, *320* (5876), 674–677.
- (200) Pétrilli, V.; Papin, S.; Dostert, C.; Mayor, A.; Martinon, F.; Tschopp, J. Activation of the NALP3 Inflammasome Is Triggered by Low Intracellular Potassium Concentration. *Cell Death Differ.* **2007**, *14* (9), 1583–1589.
- (201) Halle, A.; Hornung, V.; Petzold, G. C.; Stewart, C. R.; Monks, B. G.; Reinheckel, T.; Fitzgerald, K. A.; Latz, E.; Moore, K. J.; Golenbock, D. T. The NALP3 Inflammasome Is Involved in the Innate Immune Response to Amyloid-β. *Nat. Immunol.* **2008**, *9* (8), 857–865.
- (202) Inohara, N.; Koseki, T.; del Peso, L.; Hu, Y.; Yee, C.; Chen, S.; Carrio, R.; Merino, J.; Liu, D.; Ni, J.; et al. Nod1, an Apaf-1-like Activator of Caspase-9 and Nuclear FactorkappaB. J. Biol. Chem. **1999**, 274 (21), 14560–14567.
- (203) Saïd-Sadier, N.; Ojcius, D. M. Alarmins, Inflammasomes and Immunity. *Biomed. J.* **2012**, *35* (6), 437–449.
- (204) Latz, E.; Xiao, T. S.; Stutz, A. Activation and Regulation of the Inflammasomes. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2013**, *13* (6), 397–411.
- (205) Schroder, K.; Tschopp, J. The Inflammasomes. Cell 2010, 140 (6), 821–832.
- (206) Case, C. L.; Roy, C. R. Asc Modulates the Function of NLRC4 in Response to Infection of Macrophages by Legionella Pneumophila. *mBio* 2011, 2 (4), pii: e00117-11.
- (207) Lu, A.; Magupalli, V. G.; Ruan, J.; Yin, Q.; Atianand, M. K.; Vos, M. R.; Schröder, G. F.; Fitzgerald, K. A.; Wu, H.; Egelman, E. H. Unified Polymerization Mechanism for the Assembly of ASC-Dependent Inflammasomes. *Cell* **2014**, *156* (6), 1193–1206.
- (208) von Moltke, J.; Ayres, J. S.; Kofoed, E. M.; Chavarría-Smith, J.; Vance, R. E. Recognition of Bacteria by Inflammasomes. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2013**, *31*, 73–106.
- (209) Boatright, K. M.; Renatus, M.; Scott, F. L.; Sperandio, S.; Shin, H.; Pedersen, I. M.; Ricci, J. E.; Edris, W. A.; Sutherlin, D. P.; Green, D. R.; et al. A Unified Model for Apical Caspase Activation. *Mol. Cell* **2003**, *11* (2), 529–541.
- (210) Ayala, J. M.; Yamin, T. T.; Egger, L. A.; Chin, J.; Kostura, M. J.; Miller, D. K. IL-1 Beta-Converting Enzyme Is Present in Monocytic Cells as an Inactive 45-kDa Precursor. J. Immunol. **1994**, *153* (6), 2592–2599.

- (211) Thornberry, N. A.; Bull, H. G.; Calaycay, J. R.; Chapman, K. T.; Howard, A. D.; Kostura, M. J.; Miller, D. K.; Molineaux, S. M.; Weidner, J. R.; Aunins, J. A Novel Heterodimeric Cysteine Protease Is Required for Interleukin-1 Beta Processing in Monocytes. *Nature* **1992**, *356* (6372), 768–774.
- (212) Eder, C. Mechanisms of Interleukin-1beta Release. *Immunobiology* **2009**, *214* (7), 543–553.
- (213) Kerr, J. F.; Wyllie, A. H.; Currie, A. R. Apoptosis: A Basic Biological Phenomenon with Wide-Ranging Implications in Tissue Kinetics. *Br. J. Cancer* **1972**, *26* (4), 239–257.
- (214) Fink, S. L.; Cookson, B. T. Caspase-1-Dependent Pore Formation during Pyroptosis Leads to Osmotic Lysis of Infected Host Macrophages. *Cell. Microbiol.* **2006**, *8* (11), 1812–1825.
- Moreira, M. E. C.; Barcinski, M. A. Apoptotic Cell and Phagocyte Interplay: Recognition and Consequences in Different Cell Systems. *An. Acad. Bras. Ciênc.* 2004, 76 (1), 93–115.
- (216) Van den Eijnde, S. M.; Boshart, L.; Reutelingsperger, C. P.; De Zeeuw, C. I.; Vermeij-Keers, C. Phosphatidylserine Plasma Membrane Asymmetry in Vivo: A Pancellular Phenomenon Which Alters during Apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ.* **1997**, *4* (4), 311–316.
- (217) Fadok, V. A.; Voelker, D. R.; Campbell, P. A.; Cohen, J. J.; Bratton, D. L.; Henson, P. M. Exposure of Phosphatidylserine on the Surface of Apoptotic Lymphocytes Triggers Specific Recognition and Removal by Macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 1992, 148 (7), 2207–2216.
- (218) Miao, E. A.; Rajan, J. V.; Aderem, A. Caspase-1-Induced Pyroptotic Cell Death. *Immunol. Rev.* **2011**, *243* (1), 206–214.
- (219) Labbé, K.; Saleh, M. Pyroptosis: A Caspase-1-Dependent Programmed Cell Death and a Barrier to Infection. In *The Inflammasomes*; Couillin, I., Pétrilli, V., Martinon, F., Eds.; Springer Basel: Basel, 2011; pp 17–36.
- (220) Brennan, M. A.; Cookson, B. T. Salmonella Induces Macrophage Death by Caspase-1-Dependent Necrosis. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2000**, *38* (1), 31–40.
- (221) Bergsbaken, T.; Fink, S. L.; Cookson, B. T. Pyroptosis: Host Cell Death and Inflammation. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **2009**, *7* (2), 99–109.
- (222) Cookson, B. T.; Brennan, M. A. Pro-Inflammatory Programmed Cell Death. *Trends Microbiol.* **2001**, 9 (3), 113–114.
- (223) Inohara, N.; Nuñez, G. NODs: Intracellular Proteins Involved in Inflammation and Apoptosis. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2003**, *3* (5), 371–382.
- (224) Fink, S. L.; Cookson, B. T. Apoptosis, Pyroptosis, and Necrosis: Mechanistic Description of Dead and Dying Eukaryotic Cells. *Infect. Immun.* **2005**, *73* (4), 1907– 1916.
- (225) Bergsbaken, T.; Cookson, B. T. Macrophage Activation Redirects Yersinia-Infected Host Cell Death from Apoptosis to Caspase-1-Dependent Pyroptosis. *PLoS Pathog.* **2007**, *3* (11), e161.
- (226) Hilbi, H.; Chen, Y.; Thirumalai, K.; Zychlinsky, A. The Interleukin 1beta-Converting Enzyme, Caspase 1, Is Activated during Shigella Flexneri-Induced Apoptosis in Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. *Infect. Immun.* **1997**, *65* (12), 5165–5170.
- (227) Mariathasan, S. Innate Immunity against Francisella Tularensis Is Dependent on the ASC/caspase-1 Axis. *J. Exp. Med.* **2005**, *202* (8), 1043–1049.
- (228) Monack, D. M.; Raupach, B.; Hromockyj, A. E.; Falkow, S. Salmonella Typhimurium Invasion Induces Apoptosis in Infected Macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1996**, 93 (18), 9833–9838.

- (229) Watson, P. R.; Gautier, A. V.; Paulin, S. M.; Bland, A. P.; Jones, P. W.; Wallis, T. S. Salmonella Enterica Serovars Typhimurium and Dublin Can Lyse Macrophages by a Mechanism Distinct from Apoptosis. *Infect. Immun.* **2000**, *68* (6), 3744–3747.
- Resnikoff, S.; Pascolini, D.; Etya'ale, D.; Kocur, I.; Pararajasegaram, R.; Pokharel, G. P.; Mariotti, S. P. Global Data on Visual Impairment in the Year 2002. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 2004, *82* (11), 844–851.
- (231) Scholl, H. P. N.; Charbel Issa, P.; Walier, M.; Janzer, S.; Pollok-Kopp, B.; Börncke, F.; Fritsche, L. G.; Chong, N. V.; Fimmers, R.; Wienker, T.; et al. Systemic Complement Activation in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *PloS One* 2008, *3* (7), e2593.
- (232) Tarallo, V.; Hirano, Y.; Gelfand, B. D.; Dridi, S.; Kerur, N.; Kim, Y.; Cho, W. G.; Kaneko, H.; Fowler, B. J.; Bogdanovich, S.; et al. DICER1 Loss and Alu RNA Induce Age-Related Macular Degeneration via the NLRP3 Inflammasome and MyD88. *Cell* 2012, 149 (4), 847–859.
- (233) Doyle, S. L.; Campbell, M.; Ozaki, E.; Salomon, R. G.; Mori, A.; Kenna, P. F.; Farrar, G. J.; Kiang, A. S.; Humphries, M. M.; Lavelle, E. C.; et al. NLRP3 Has a Protective Role in Age-Related Macular Degeneration through the Induction of IL-18 by Drusen Components. *Nat Med* **2012**, *18* (5), 791–798.
- (234) Liu, R. T.; Wang, A.; To, E.; Gao, J.; Cao, S.; Cui, J. Z.; Matsubara, J. A. Vinpocetine Inhibits Amyloid-Beta Induced Activation of NF-κB, NLRP3 Inflammasome and Cytokine Production in Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2014**, *127*, 49–58.
- (235) Anderson, O. A.; Finkelstein, A.; Shima, D. T. A2E Induces IL-1ß Production in Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells via the NLRP3 Inflammasome. *PloS One* 2013, 8 (6), e67263.
- (236) Kauppinen, A.; Niskanen, H.; Suuronen, T.; Kinnunen, K.; Salminen, A.; Kaarniranta, K. Oxidative Stress Activates NLRP3 Inflammasomes in ARPE-19 Cells–implications for Age-Related Macular Degeneration (AMD). *Immunol Lett* **2012**, *147* (1–2), 29–33.
- (237) Krohne, T. U.; Stratmann, N. K.; Kopitz, J.; Holz, F. G. Effects of Lipid Peroxidation Products on Lipofuscinogenesis and Autophagy in Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2010**, *90* (3), 465–471.
- (238) Krohne, T. U.; Shankara, S.; Geissler, M.; Roberts, B. L.; Wands, J. R.; Blum, H. E.; Mohr, L. Mechanisms of Cell Death Induced by Suicide Genes Encoding Purine Nucleoside Phosphorylase and Thymidine Kinase in Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cells in Vitro. *Hepatology* **2001**, *34* (3), 511–518.
- (239) Appelqvist, H.; Nilsson, C.; Garner, B.; Brown, A. J.; Kågedal, K.; Ollinger, K. Attenuation of the Lysosomal Death Pathway by Lysosomal Cholesterol Accumulation. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2011**, *178* (2), 629–639.
- (240) Piippo, N.; Korkmaz, A.; Hytti, M.; Kinnunen, K.; Salminen, A.; Atalay, M.; Kaarniranta, K.; Kauppinen, A. Decline in Cellular Clearance Systems Induces Inflammasome Signaling in Human ARPE-19 Cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 2014, 1843 (12), 3038–3046.
- (241) Krohne, T. U.; Kaemmerer, E.; Holz, F. G.; Kopitz, J. Lipid Peroxidation Products Reduce Lysosomal Protease Activities in Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells via Two Different Mechanisms of Action. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2010**, *90* (2), 261–266.
- (242) Lei, L.; Tzekov, R.; Tang, S.; Kaushal, S. Accumulation and Autofluorescence of Phagocytized Rod Outer Segment Material in Macrophages and Microglial Cells. *Mol. Vis.* **2012**, *18*, 103–113.
- (243) Bergmann, M. Inhibition of the ATP-Driven Proton Pump in RPE Lysosomes by the Major Lipofuscin Fluorophore A2-E May Contribute to the Pathogenesis of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *FASEB J.* **2004**.

- (244) Liu, J.; Lu, W.; Reigada, D.; Nguyen, J.; Laties, A. M.; Mitchell, C. H. Restoration of Lysosomal pH in RPE Cells from Cultured Human and ABCA4(-/-) Mice: Pharmacologic Approaches and Functional Recovery. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2008, 49 (2), 772–780.
- (245) Fletcher, A. E.; Bentham, G. C.; Agnew, M.; Young, I. S.; Augood, C.; Chakravarthy, U.; de Jong, P. T. V. M.; Rahu, M.; Seland, J.; Soubrane, G.; et al. Sunlight Exposure, Antioxidants, and Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* 2008, *126* (10), 1396–1403.
- (246) Boulton, M. E. Studying Melanin and Lipofuscin in RPE Cell Culture Models. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2014**, *126*, 61–67.
- (247) Ablonczy, Z.; Higbee, D.; Anderson, D. M.; Dahrouj, M.; Grey, A. C.; Gutierrez, D.; Koutalos, Y.; Schey, K. L.; Hanneken, A.; Crouch, R. K. Lack of Correlation between the Spatial Distribution of A2E and Lipofuscin Fluorescence in the Human Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2013**, *54* (8), 5535.
- (248) Oliver, C. N.; Ahn, B. W.; Moerman, E. J.; Goldstein, S.; Stadtman, E. R. Age-Related Changes in Oxidized Proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1987**, *262* (12), 5488–5491.
- (249) Wong, T. Y.; Wong, T.; Chakravarthy, U.; Klein, R.; Mitchell, P.; Zlateva, G.; Buggage, R.; Fahrbach, K.; Probst, C.; Sledge, I. The Natural History and Prognosis of Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration: A Systematic Review of the Literature and Meta-Analysis. *Ophthalmology* **2008**, *115* (1), 116–126.
- (250) Sparrow, J. R.; Boulton, M. RPE Lipofuscin and Its Role in Retinal Pathobiology. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2005**, *80* (5), 595–606.
- (251) Abdelsalam, A.; Del Priore, L.; Zarbin, M. A. Drusen in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Surv. Ophthalmol.* **1999**, *44* (1), 1–29.
- (252) Zhao, M.; Bai, Y.; Xie, W.; Shi, X.; Li, F.; Yang, F.; Sun, Y.; Huang, L.; Li, X. Interleukin-1β Level Is Increased in Vitreous of Patients with Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration (nAMD) and Polypoidal Choroidal Vasculopathy (PCV). *PloS One* **2015**, *10* (5), e0125150.
- (253) Ijima, R.; Kaneko, H.; Ye, F.; Nagasaka, Y.; Takayama, K.; Kataoka, K.; Kachi, S.; Iwase, T.; Terasaki, H. Interleukin-18 Induces Retinal Pigment Epithelium Degeneration in Mice. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2014**, *55* (10), 6673–6678.
- (254) Brandstetter, C.; Mohr, L. K. M.; Latz, E.; Holz, F. G.; Krohne, T. U. Light Induces NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation in Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells via Lipofuscin-Mediated Photooxidative Damage. *J. Mol. Med. Berl. Ger.* **2015**, *93* (8), 905–916.
- (255) Lavalette, S.; Raoul, W.; Houssier, M.; Camelo, S.; Levy, O.; Calippe, B.; Jonet, L.; Behar-Cohen, F.; Chemtob, S.; Guillonneau, X.; et al. Interleukin-1beta Inhibition Prevents Choroidal Neovascularization and Does Not Exacerbate Photoreceptor Degeneration. *Am J Pathol* **2011**, *178* (5), 2416–2423.
- (256) Beutner, C.; Roy, K.; Linnartz, B.; Napoli, I.; Neumann, H. Generation of Microglial Cells from Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells. *Nat. Protoc.* **2010**, *5* (9), 1481–1494.
- (257) Krohne, T. U.; Holz, F. G.; Kopitz, J. Apical-to-Basolateral Transcytosis of Photoreceptor Outer Segments Induced by Lipid Peroxidation Products in Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2010**, *51* (1), 553–560.
- (258) Liang, C.-C.; Park, A. Y.; Guan, J.-L. In Vitro Scratch Assay: A Convenient and Inexpensive Method for Analysis of Cell Migration in Vitro. *Nat. Protoc.* 2007, 2 (2), 329–333.
- (259) Nagineni, C. N.; Kommineni, V. K.; William, A.; Detrick, B.; Hooks, J. J. Regulation of VEGF Expression in Human Retinal Cells by Cytokines: Implications for the Role of Inflammation in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *J Cell Physiol* **2012**, 227 (1), 116–126.

- (260) Carmi, Y.; Voronov, E.; Dotan, S.; Lahat, N.; Rahat, M. A.; Fogel, M.; Huszar, M.; White, M. R.; Dinarello, C. A.; Apte, R. N. The Role of Macrophage-Derived IL-1 in Induction and Maintenance of Angiogenesis. *J. Immunol.* **2009**, *183* (7), 4705–4714.
- (261) Cao, S.; Ko, A.; Partanen, M.; Pakzad-Vaezi, K.; Merkur, A. B.; Albiani, D. A.; Kirker, A. W.; Wang, A.; Cui, J. Z.; Forooghian, F.; et al. Relationship between Systemic Cytokines and Complement Factor H Y402H Polymorphism in Patients with Dry Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Am J Ophthalmol* **2013**, *156* (6), 1176–1183.
- (262) Benson, M. T.; Shepherd, L.; Rees, R. C.; Rennie, I. G. Production of Interleukin-6 by Human Retinal Pigment Epithelium in Vitro and Its Regulation by Other Cytokines. *Curr. Eye Res.* **1992**, *11 Suppl*, 173–179.
- (263) Crane, I. J.; Kuppner, M. C.; McKillop-Smith, S.; Wallace, C. A.; Forrester, J. V. Cytokine Regulation of Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor (GM-CSF) Production by Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **1999**, *115* (2), 288–293.
- (264) Elner, V. M.; Elner, S. G.; Bian, Z.-M.; Kindezelskii, A. L.; Yoshida, A.; Petty, H. R. RPE CD14 Immunohistochemical, Genetic, and Functional Expression. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2003**, *76* (3), 321–331.
- (265) Jaffe, G. J.; Richmond, A.; Van Le, L.; Shattuck, R. L.; Cheng, Q. C.; Wong, F.; Roberts, W. Expression of Three Forms of Melanoma Growth Stimulating Activity (MGSA)/gro in Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* **1993**, *34* (9), 2776–2785.
- (266) Sonoda, S.; Sreekumar, P. G.; Kase, S.; Spee, C.; Ryan, S. J.; Kannan, R.; Hinton, D. R. Attainment of Polarity Promotes Growth Factor Secretion by Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells: Relevance to Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Aging* **2010**, *2* (1), 28–42.
- (267) Doyle, S. L.; Ozaki, E.; Brennan, K.; Humphries, M. M.; Mulfaul, K.; Keaney, J.; Kenna, P. F.; Maminishkis, A.; Kiang, A.-S.; Saunders, S. P.; et al. IL-18 Attenuates Experimental Choroidal Neovascularization as a Potential Therapy for Wet Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **2014**, *6* (230), 230ra44.
- (268) Leung, K. W.; Barnstable, C. J.; Tombran-Tink, J. Bacterial Endotoxin Activates Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells and Induces Their Degeneration through IL-6 and IL-8 Autocrine Signaling. *Mol. Immunol.* **2009**, *46* (7), 1374–1386.
- Holtkamp, G. M.; Van Rossem, M.; de Vos, A. F.; Willekens, B.; Peek, R.; Kijlstra, A. Polarized Secretion of IL-6 and IL-8 by Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **1998**, *112* (1), 34–43.
- (270) Juel, H. B.; Faber, C.; Udsen, M. S.; Folkersen, L.; Nissen, M. H. Chemokine Expression in Retinal Pigment Epithelial ARPE-19 Cells in Response to Coculture with Activated T Cells. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2012**, *53* (13), 8472–8480.
- (271) Shi, G.; Maminishkis, A.; Banzon, T.; Jalickee, S.; Li, R.; Hammer, J.; Miller, S. S. Control of Chemokine Gradients by the Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2008**, *49* (10), 4620–4630.
- (272) Sennlaub, F.; Auvynet, C.; Calippe, B.; Lavalette, S.; Poupel, L.; Hu, S. J.; Dominguez, E.; Camelo, S.; Levy, O.; Guyon, E.; et al. CCR2 ⁺ Monocytes Infiltrate Atrophic Lesions in Age-Related Macular Disease and Mediate Photoreceptor Degeneration in Experimental Subretinal Inflammation in *Cx3cr1* Deficient Mice: CCR2 ⁺ Monocytes in Subretinal Inflammation. *EMBO Mol. Med.* **2013**, 5 (11), 1775– 1793.
- (273) Gupta. Molecular Signaling in Death Receptor and Mitochondrial Pathways of Apoptosis (Review). *Int. J. Oncol.* **2003**, *22* (1), 15–20.
- (274) Hirano, Y.; Yasuma, T.; Mizutani, T.; Fowler, B. J.; Tarallo, V.; Yasuma, R.; Kim, Y.; Bastos-Carvalho, A.; Kerur, N.; Gelfand, B. D.; et al. IL-18 Is Not Therapeutic for

Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Nat. Med.* **2014**, *20* (12), 1372–1375.

- (275) Iriyama, A.; Fujiki, R.; Inoue, Y.; Takahashi, H.; Tamaki, Y.; Takezawa, S.; Takeyama, K.; Jang, W.-D.; Kato, S.; Yanagi, Y. A2E, a Pigment of the Lipofuscin of Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells, Is an Endogenous Ligand for Retinoic Acid Receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2008**, *283* (18), 11947–11953.
- (276) Zhou, J.; Cai, B.; Jang, Y. P.; Pachydaki, S.; Schmidt, A. M.; Sparrow, J. R. Mechanisms for the Induction of HNE- MDA- and AGE-Adducts, RAGE and VEGF in Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2005**, *80* (4), 567–580.
- (277) Rózanowska, M.; Jarvis-Evans, J.; Korytowski, W.; Boulton, M. E.; Burke, J. M.; Sarna, T. Blue Light-Induced Reactivity of Retinal Age Pigment. In Vitro Generation of Oxygen-Reactive Species. J. Biol. Chem. **1995**, 270 (32), 18825–18830.
- (278) Sparrow, J. R.; Nakanishi, K.; Parish, C. A. The Lipofuscin Fluorophore A2E Mediates Blue Light-Induced Damage to Retinal Pigmented Epithelial Cells. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2000**, *41* (7), 1981–1989.
- (279) Lim, L. S.; Mitchell, P.; Seddon, J. M.; Holz, F. G.; Wong, T. Y. Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *The Lancet* **2012**, *379* (9827), 1728–1738.
- (280) Mohr, L. K. M.; Hoffmann, A. V.; Brandstetter, C.; Holz, F. G.; Krohne, T. U. Effects of Inflammasome Activation on Secretion of Inflammatory Cytokines and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor by Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2015**, *56* (11), 6404–6413.
- (281) An, L.-L.; Mehta, P.; Xu, L.; Turman, S.; Reimer, T.; Naiman, B.; Connor, J.; Sanjuan, M.; Kolbeck, R.; Fung, M. Complement C5a Potentiates Uric Acid Crystal-Induced IL-1β Production. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **2014**, *44* (12), 3669–3679.
- (282) Samstad, E. O.; Niyonzima, N.; Nymo, S.; Aune, M. H.; Ryan, L.; Bakke, S. S.; Lappegard, K. T.; Brekke, O.-L.; Lambris, J. D.; Damas, J. K.; et al. Cholesterol Crystals Induce Complement-Dependent Inflammasome Activation and Cytokine Release. *J. Immunol.* **2014**, *192* (6), 2837–2845.
- (283) Hu, M.; Liu, B.; Jawad, S.; Ling, D.; Casady, M.; Wei, L.; Nussenblatt, R. B. C5a Contributes to Intraocular Inflammation by Affecting Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells and Immune Cells. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2011**, *95* (12), 1738–1744.
- (284) Nozaki, M.; Raisler, B. J.; Sakurai, E.; Sarma, J. V.; Barnum, S. R.; Lambris, J. D.; Chen, Y.; Zhang, K.; Ambati, B. K.; Baffi, J. Z.; et al. Drusen Complement Components C3a and C5a Promote Choroidal Neovascularization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2006**, *103* (7), 2328–2333.
- (285) Cortright, D. N.; Meade, R.; Waters, S. M.; Chenard, B. L.; Krause, J. E. C5a, But Not C3a, Increases VEGF Secretion in ARPE-19 Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Curr. Eye Res.* **2009**, *34* (1), 57–61.
- (286) Skeie, J. M.; Fingert, J. H.; Russell, S. R.; Stone, E. M.; Mullins, R. F. Complement Component C5a Activates ICAM-1 Expression on Human Choroidal Endothelial Cells. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2010**, *51* (10), 5336–5342.
- (287) Mollnes, T. E.; Garred, P.; Bergseth, G. Effect of Time, Temperature and Anticoagulants on in Vitro Complement Activation: Consequences for Collection and Preservation of Samples to Be Examined for Complement Activation. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **1988**, *73* (3), 484–488.
- (288) Hornung, V.; Latz, E. Critical Functions of Priming and Lysosomal Damage for NIrp3 Activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **2010**, *40* (3), 620–623.
- (289) Warner, S. J.; Auger, K. R.; Libby, P. Interleukin 1 Induces Interleukin 1. II. Recombinant Human Interleukin 1 Induces Interleukin 1 Production by Adult Human Vascular Endothelial Cells. *J. Immunol.* **1987**, *139* (6), 1911–1917.

- (290) Laudisi, F.; Spreafico, R.; Evrard, M.; Hughes, T. R.; Mandriani, B.; Kandasamy, M.; Morgan, B. P.; Sivasankar, B.; Mortellaro, A. Cutting Edge: The NLRP3 Inflammasome Links Complement-Mediated Inflammation and IL-1β Release. *J. Immunol.* **2013**, *191* (3), 1006–1010.
- (291) Saeed, A. M.; Duffort, S.; Ivanov, D.; Wang, H.; Laird, J. M.; Salomon, R. G.; Cruz-Guilloty, F.; Perez, V. L. The Oxidative Stress Product Carboxyethylpyrrole Potentiates TLR2/TLR1 Inflammatory Signaling in Macrophages. *PloS One* 2014, 9 (9), e106421.
- (292) Campbell, M.; Doyle, S.; Humphries, P. IL-18: A New Player in Immunotherapy for Age-Related Macular Degeneration? *Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol.* **2014**, *10* (10), 1273–1275.
- (293) Kim, B. J. Constitutive and Cytokine-Induced GITR Ligand Expression on Human Retinal Pigment Epithelium and Photoreceptors. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2004**, *45* (9), 3170–3176.
- (294) Coll, R. C.; Robertson, A. A. B.; Chae, J. J.; Higgins, S. C.; Muñoz-Planillo, R.; Inserra, M. C.; Vetter, I.; Dungan, L. S.; Monks, B. G.; Stutz, A.; et al. A Small-Molecule Inhibitor of the NLRP3 Inflammasome for the Treatment of Inflammatory Diseases. *Nat. Med.* **2015**, *21* (3), 248–255.
- (295) Holz, F. G.; Strauss, E. C.; Schmitz-Valckenberg, S.; van Lookeren Campagne, M. Geographic Atrophy: Clinical Features and Potential Therapeutic Approaches. *Ophthalmology* **2014**, *121* (5), 1079–1091.
- (296) Gelfand, B. D.; Wright, C. B.; Kim, Y.; Yasuma, T.; Yasuma, R.; Li, S.; Fowler, B. J.; Bastos-Carvalho, A.; Kerur, N.; Uittenbogaard, A.; et al. Iron Toxicity in the Retina Requires Alu RNA and the NLRP3 Inflammasome. *Cell Rep.* **2015**, *11* (11), 1686– 1693.
- (297) Brandstetter, C.; Holz, F. G.; Krohne, T. U. Complement Component C5a Primes Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells for Inflammasome Activation by Lipofuscin-Mediated Photooxidative Damage. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2015**, *290* (52), 31189–31198.
- (298) Lamkanfi, M. Emerging Inflammasome Effector Mechanisms. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2011**, *11* (3), 213–220.
- (299) Kaemmerer, E.; Schutt, F.; Krohne, T. U.; Holz, F. G.; Kopitz, J. Effects of Lipid Peroxidation-Related Protein Modifications on RPE Lysosomal Functions and POS Phagocytosis. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2007**, *48* (3), 1342–1347.
- (300) Oliver, C. N.; Ahn, B. W.; Moerman, E. J.; Goldstein, S.; Stadtman, E. R. Age-Related Changes in Oxidized Proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1987**, *262* (12), 5488–5491.
- (301) Brandstetter, C.; Holz, F. G.; Krohne, T. U. Complement Component C5a Primes Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells for Inflammasome Activation by Lipofuscin-Mediated Photooxidative Damage. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2015**, *290* (52), 31189–31198.
- (302) Krohne, T. U.; Stratmann, N. K.; Kopitz, J.; Holz, F. G. Effects of Lipid Peroxidation Products on Lipofuscinogenesis and Autophagy in Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2010**, *90* (3), 465–471.
- (303) Miao, E. A.; Leaf, I. A.; Treuting, P. M.; Mao, D. P.; Dors, M.; Sarkar, A.; Warren, S. E.; Wewers, M. D.; Aderem, A. Caspase-1-Induced Pyroptosis Is an Innate Immune Effector Mechanism against Intracellular Bacteria. *Nat. Immunol.* **2010**, *11* (12), 1136–1142.
- (304) Lopez-Castejon, G.; Brough, D. Understanding the Mechanism of IL-1β Secretion. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2011, 22 (4), 189–195.
- (305) Piccioli, P.; Rubartelli, A. The Secretion of IL-1β and Options for Release. *Semin. Immunol.* **2013**, *25* (6), 425–429.

- (306) Wihlmark, U.; Wrigstad, A.; Roberg, K.; Nilsson, S. E. G.; Brunk, U. T. Lipofuscin Accumulation in Cultured Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells Causes Enhanced Sensitivity to Blue Light Irradiation. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **1997**, *22* (7), 1229–1234.
- (307) Brunk, U. T.; Svensson, I. Oxidative Stress, Growth Factor Starvation and Fas Activation May All Cause Apoptosis through Lysosomal Leak. *Redox Rep. Commun. Free Radic. Res.* **1999**, *4* (1–2), 3–11.
- (308) Brunk, U. T.; Dalen, H.; Roberg, K.; Hellquist, H. B. Photo-Oxidative Disruption of Lysosomal Membranes Causes Apoptosis of Cultured Human Fibroblasts. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **1997**, 23 (4), 616–626.
- (309) Schroder, K.; Zhou, R.; Tschopp, J. The NLRP3 Inflammasome: A Sensor for Metabolic Danger? *Science* **2010**, *327* (5963), 296–300.
- (310) Jin, C.; Frayssinet, P.; Pelker, R.; Cwirka, D.; Hu, B.; Vignery, A.; Eisenbarth, S. C.; Flavell, R. A. NLRP3 Inflammasome Plays a Critical Role in the Pathogenesis of Hydroxyapatite-Associated Arthropathy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2011**, *108* (36), 14867–14872.
- (311) Dunn, K. C.; Aotaki-Keen, A. E.; Putkey, F. R.; Hjelmeland, L. M. ARPE-19, a Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cell Line with Differentiated Properties. *Exp. Eye Res.* **1996**, *62* (2), 155–169.
- (312) Bosch, E.; Horwitz, J.; Bok, D. Phagocytosis of Outer Segments by Retinal Pigment Epithelium: Phagosome-Lysosome Interaction. *J. Histochem. Cytochem. Off. J. Histochem. Soc.* **1993**, *41* (2), 253–263.
- (313) Hall, M. O.; Abrams, T. A.; Mittag, T. W. The Phagocytosis of Rod Outer Segments Is Inhibited by Drugs Linked to Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate Production. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **1993**, *34* (8), 2392–2401.
- (314) Kapphahn, R. J.; Giwa, B. M.; Berg, K. M.; Roehrich, H.; Feng, X.; Olsen, T. W.; Ferrington, D. A. Retinal Proteins Modified by 4-Hydroxynonenal: Identification of Molecular Targets. *Exp. Eye Res.* **2006**, *83* (1), 165–175.
- (315) Tanito, M.; Elliott, M. H.; Kotake, Y.; Anderson, R. E. Protein Modifications by 4-Hydroxynonenal and 4-Hydroxyhexenal in Light-Exposed Rat Retina. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2005**, *46* (10), 3859–3868.
- (316) Fukuoka, Y.; Strainic, M.; Medof, M. E. Differential Cytokine Expression of Human Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells in Response to Stimulation by C5a. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **2003**, *131* (2), 248–253.
- (317) Killingsworth, M. C.; Sarks, J. P.; Sarks, S. H. Macrophages Related to Bruch's Membrane in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Eye Lond. Engl.* **1990**, *4 (Pt 4)*, 613–621.
- (318) Lopez, P. F.; Grossniklaus, H. E.; Lambert, H. M.; Aaberg, T. M.; Capone, A.; Sternberg, P.; L'Hernault, N. Pathologic Features of Surgically Excised Subretinal Neovascular Membranes in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* **1991**, *112* (6), 647–656.
- (319) Seregard, S.; Algvere, P. V.; Berglin, L. Immunohistochemical Characterization of Surgically Removed Subfoveal Fibrovascular Membranes. *Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. Albrecht Von Graefes Arch. Für Klin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* **1994**, 232 (6), 325–329.
- (320) Espinosa-Heidmann, D. G.; Suner, I. J.; Hernandez, E. P.; Monroy, D.; Csaky, K. G.; Cousins, S. W. Macrophage Depletion Diminishes Lesion Size and Severity in Experimental Choroidal Neovascularization. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2003, 44 (8), 3586–3592.
- (321) Sakurai, E.; Anand, A.; Ambati, B. K.; van Rooijen, N.; Ambati, J. Macrophage Depletion Inhibits Experimental Choroidal Neovascularization. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2003**, *44* (8), 3578–3585.

- (322) Tsutsumi-Miyahara, C.; Sonoda, K.-H.; Egashira, K.; Ishibashi, M.; Qiao, H.; Oshima, T.; Murata, T.; Miyazaki, M.; Charo, I. F.; Hamano, S.; et al. The Relative Contributions of Each Subset of Ocular Infiltrated Cells in Experimental Choroidal Neovascularisation. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2004**, *88* (9), 1217–1222.
- (323) Cherepanoff, S.; McMenamin, P.; Gillies, M. C.; Kettle, E.; Sarks, S. H. Bruch's Membrane and Choroidal Macrophages in Early and Advanced Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2010**, *94* (7), 918–925.
- (324) Klein R; Myers CE; Cruickshanks KJ; et al. Markers of Inflammation, Oxidative Stress, and Endothelial Dysfunction and the 20-Year Cumulative Incidence of Early Age-Related Macular Degeneration: The Beaver Dam Eye Study. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* 2014, 132 (4), 446–455.
- (325) Shen, J.; Choy, D. F.; Yoshida, T.; Iwase, T.; Hafiz, G.; Xie, B.; Hackett, S. F.; Arron, J. R.; Campochiaro, P. A. Interleukin-18 Has Antipermeability and Antiangiogenic Activities in the Eye: Reciprocal Suppression with VEGF. *J. Cell. Physiol.* **2014**, 229 (8), 974–983.
- (326) Lachmann, P. J. The Amplification Loop of the Complement Pathways. *Adv. Immunol.* **2009**, *104*, 115–149.
- (327) Mitroulis, I.; Skendros, P.; Ritis, K. Targeting IL-1beta in Disease; the Expanding Role of NLRP3 Inflammasome. *Eur. J. Intern. Med.* **2010**, *21* (3), 157–163.
- (328) Poloschek, C. M.; Bach, M.; Lagrèze, W. A.; Glaus, E.; Lemke, J. R.; Berger, W.; Neidhardt, J. ABCA4 and ROM1: Implications for Modification of the PRPH2-Associated Macular Dystrophy Phenotype. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2010, *51* (8), 4253–4265.
- (329) Allikmets, R.; Shroyer, N. F.; Singh, N.; Seddon, J. M.; Lewis, R. A.; Bernstein, P. S.; Peiffer, A.; Zabriskie, N. A.; Li, Y.; Hutchinson, A.; et al. Mutation of the Stargardt Disease Gene (ABCR) in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Science* **1997**, *277* (5333), 1805–1807.
- (330) Klevering, B. J.; Deutman, A. F.; Maugeri, A.; Cremers, F. P. M.; Hoyng, C. B. The Spectrum of Retinal Phenotypes Caused by Mutations in the ABCA4 Gene. *Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. Albrecht Von Graefes Arch. Für Klin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* 2005, 243 (2), 90–100.

List of Figures and Table

- III.1: Funduscopic images from AMD patients demonstrating hallmarks of disease.
- III.2: Structure of the human eye and organization of the retina
- III.3: Complement system activation.
- III.4: Domain structure of inflammasome proteins.
- III.5: Generic model of inflammasome activation.
- IV.1: Blue light irradiation of lipofuscin-loaded RPE cells induces photooxidative damage.
- IV.2: Blue light irradiation of lipofuscin-loaded RPE cells causes phototoxic cell death.
- IV.3: Lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage results in lysosomal membrane permeabilization with cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes.
- IV.4: Lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage results in lysosomal membrane permeabilization with cytosolic leakage of lysosomal enzymes.
- IV.5: Lysosomal membrane permeabilization by lipofuscin phototoxicity results in inflammasome activation with secretion of IL-1β and IL-18.
- IV.6: Inflammasome activation by lipofuscin phototoxicity is dependent on inflammasome priming and activity of caspase-1, cathepsin B, and cathepsin L.
- IV.7: Leu-Leu-OMe induces LMP and inflammasome activation in RPE cells.
- V.1: Profile of secreted cytokines following LMP-induced inflammasome activation in RPE cells.
- V.2: Polarization of inflammasome-related cytokine secretion in RPE cells and chemotactic effects on microglia cells.
- V.3: Effect of inflammasome activation on RPE cell VEGF secretion and vascular endothelial cell proliferation and migration.
- V.4: Anaphylatoxin receptors C5aR, C3aR, and C5L2 are constitutively expressed by human RPE cells.
- VI.1: C5aR, but not C3aR, is up-regulated following incubation with activated complement.
- VI.2: NHS primes RPE cells for inflammasome activation by lipofuscin-mediated photooxidative damage.
- VI.3: Complement component C5a is the active priming agent in NHS.
- VI.4: Priming by C5a induces expression of pro-IL-1 β protein.
- VI.5: Priming by C5a induces expression of pro-IL-1 β protein.
- VI.6: Inflammasome priming in RPE cells is enhanced by a paracrine amplification loop
- VII.1: Inflammasome priming increases cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity.
- VII.2: Inflammasome priming changes the mechanism of lipofuscin phototoxicity-induced cell death from apoptosis to pyroptosis.
- VII.3: Interleukin-1β release secondary to LMP is closely associated with pyroptotic cell lysis.
- VII.4: Priming by conditioned media of inflammasome-activated RPE cells increases cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity.
- VII.5: Inhibition of inflammasome activation reduces cell death by lipofuscin phototoxicity.

Table III.I: Differences between pyroptosis and apoptosis.

List of Abbreviations

A2E	N-retinylidene-N-retinyl-ethanolamine
AIM2	Absent in melanoma 2
ALR	AIM2 like receptor family
AMD	Age-related macular degeneration
AO	Acridine Orange
AP	Alternative pathway of the complement system
AREDS	Age-related eye disease study
AREDS 2	Age-related eye disease study 2
ARPE-19	Humane Zelllinie des retinalen Pigmentepithliums
ASC	Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BRB	Blood-retinal barrier
C3	Complement component 3
C3a	Complement component 3a
C3aR	Complement component 3a receptor
C5	Complement component 5
C5a	Complement component 5a
C5aR	Complement component 5a receptor
CA-074	Cathepsin B inhibitor
CAD	Caspase-activated DNase
CAPS	Cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes
CARD	Caspase activation and recruitment domain
CEP	Carboxyethylpyrrole
CFD	Complement factor D
CFH	Complement factor H
CFI	Complement factor I
CNV	Choroidal neovascularization
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide
CRP	C-reactive protein
DABCO	1,4-Diazabicyclooctane
DAMP	Danger-associated molecular structures
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dsRNA	Double stranded ribonucleic acid
e.g.	exempli gratia
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting

FAM-YVAD-FMK	Carboxyfluorescein-Tyr-Val-Ala-Aspfluoromethylketone
FBS	Fetal-bovine-serum
FIIND	Function-to-find domain
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
FLICA	Fluorochrome-labeled inhibitor of caspases
fMLP	N-formyl-methionine-leucine-phenylalanine
GA	Geographic atrophy
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
HIN	Hematopoietic interferon-inducible nuclear protein domain 200
HI-NHS	Heat-inactivated normal human serum
HNE	4-hydroxy-2-nonenal
H-RPE	Human retinal pigment epithelial cells
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
i.e.	id est
ICAD	Inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase
IL-18	Interleukin-18
IL-1R	Interleukin-1 receptor
IL-1Ra	Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
IL-1α	Interleukin-1a
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β
K+	Potassium Kation
kDa	Kilodalton
LAMPs	Lysosome-associated membrane proteins
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase;
LED	light-emitting diode
Leu-Leu-OMe	L-Leucyl-L-leucine methyl ester
LIMPs	Lysosomal integral membrane proteins
LMP	Lysosomal membrane permeabilisation
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRR	Leucine-rich repeat domain
MDA	Malondialdehyde
mM	Millimolar
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NF-KB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NH₄CI	Ammonium chloride
NHS	Normal human serum

NLR	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (Nod)-like receptors
NLRC	NLR family, CARD domain containing
NLRC4	NOD-, LRR- and CARD-containing 4
NLRP	NLR family, pyrin domain containing
NLRP3	NLR family, pyrin domain containing 3
Nm	Nanometer
NOD	Nucleotide-binding and oligomerization domain
Р	Properdin
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PEDF	Pigment epithelial-derived factor
рН	Potential hydrogen
PI	Propidium iodide
POS	Photoreceptor outer segments
pRPE	Human fetal primary RPE cells
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
PS	Phosphatidylserine
PTX	Pertussis toxin
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
PYD	Pyrin domain
PYHIN	Pyrin and HIN domain-containing protein
qPCR	Quantitative real-time PCR
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPE	Retinal pigment epithelium
sec	Second
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
TdT	Terminal desoxynucleotidyl transferase
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor α
TUNEL	TdT-mediated dUTP-biotin nick end labeling
UV	Ultraviolet radiation
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
Z-FF-FMK	Z-Phe-Phe-fluoromethylketone
Z-YVAD-FMK	Z-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-fluoromethylketone

Danksagung

Mein aufrichtiger Dank geht an Herrn PD Dr. med. T. Krohne, zum einen für die Möglichkeit an diesem spannenden Thema arbeiten zu dürfen, zum anderen für die kritische und gleichzeitig offene Art der Betreuung, die mir Raum für meine wissenschaftliche Verwirklichung gegeben hat, wie auch für seine unentwegte Motivation und Unterstützung. Besonders danke ich Herrn Prof. S. Burgdorf für die Übernahme der Zweitbegutachtung, wie auch seine gezielte Hilfestellung, die großen Einfluss auf den Erfolg dieser Arbeit hatte.

Ein besonderer Dank gilt Herrn Prof. F. Holz, der mit Enthusiasmus Forschungsarbeiten an der Universitäts-Augenklinik Bonn unterstützt und stets motivierend die Möglichkeit bot eigene Forschungsarbeiten sowohl im Haus wie auch auf nationalen und internationalen Kongressen zu präsentieren.

Des Weiteren möchte ich unseren Kooperationspartnern aus anderen Instituten und Kliniken danken, die uns mit Fachkompetenz unterstützt und beraten haben: Prof. E. Latz (Institut für angeborene Immunität, Universität Bonn), Prof. J. Kopitz (Institut für Pathologie, Universität Heidelberg), Prof. Neumann (Institute of Reconstructive Neurobiology, Universität Bonn), Prof. Langmann (Lehrstuhl für Experimentelle Immunologie des Auges, Universität Köln). Besonderer Dank gilt nicht minder den Wissenschaftlern, technischen Angestellten und Mitarbeitern der genannten Institute, die mir stets helfend und beratend zur Seite standen, insbesondere Andreas Dolf, Peter Wurst, Anne Alfter sowie Mathieu Gentile (HISKP, Universität Bonn).

Ein herzlicher Dank geht an Frau C. Strack für ihre geduldigen Einweisungen, konstruktiven Ratschläge sowie den kleinen und größeren Hilfen in der Not.

Ein ganz besonderer Dank geht allgemein an das gesamte Laborteam der Augenklinik Bonn. Neben den wertvollen Anregungen und wissenschaftlichen Diskussionen werden mir vor allem unser schönes Arbeitsklima und unsere gemeinsame Zeit im und außerhalb des Labors in Erinnerung bleiben.

Herzlichen Dank Alfred Wegener, Karin Löffler, Tim Krohne, Martina Herwig, Parand Widmar, Heike Laser-Junga, Claudine Strack, Johanna Meyer, Marta Stei, Wolf Harmening, Michael Linden, Niklas Domdei, Janine Groß, Jenny Reiniger, Franziska Lörch, Lena Mohr, Joshua Patt.